
Application The project would consist of

replacing excessively leaking pipes within the

City’s Old Town area.  The water lines would be

replaced with a minimum 6” water main, which is

the City’s current minimum pipe size for

residential areas and an 8” water main, the

minimum pipe size for commercial areas.

 

The Old Town portion of Justin is located in the

center of town, and the City’s primary water

source, surface water from Upper Trinity

Regional Water District, is delivered directly to an

elevated tank in Old Town.  As this elevated tank

supplies the other parts of the City, it is a critical

portion of the Justin’s water infrastructure.  This

critical part of the system is significantly hindered

from working properly due to the leaking water

mains surrounding the elevated tank.



Additionally, many times when leaks occur in Old

Town the elevated tank has to be valved off in

order to work on the water mains as sufficient

valves are not present either.  This project is

proposed to replace these mains with modern

and appropriate water pipe to help the City of

Justin conserve water and operate a more

efficient water system.
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Fax: (940) 648-0091

Website: www.cityofjustin.com

   

System Contact Mailing Address

Address 1: 415 N College

Address 2: 

City: Justin                   

State: TX

Zip: 76247-9429

Description
   

Brief description of the project: The project would consist of replacing excessively leaking pipes

within the City’s Old Town area.  The water lines would be replaced with a minimum 6” water

main, which is the City’s current minimum pipe size for residential areas and an 8” water main, the

minimum pipe size for commercial areas.

 

The Old Town portion of Justin is located in the center of town, and the City’s primary water

source, surface water from Upper Trinity Regional Water District, is delivered directly to an

elevated tank in Old Town.  As this elevated tank supplies the other parts of the City, it is a critical

portion of the Justin’s water infrastructure.  This critical part of the system is significantly hindered

from working properly due to the leaking water mains surrounding the elevated tank.  Additionally,

many times when leaks occur in Old Town the elevated tank has to be valved off in order to work

on the water mains as sufficient valves are not present either.  This project is proposed to replace

these mains with modern and appropriate water pipe to help the City of Justin conserve water and



operate a more efficient water system.
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AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 
 

This Agreement is made between Pacheco Koch, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, 
(hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT”) whose mailing address is 6100 Western Place, Suite 
1001, Fort Worth, Texas 76107, and City of Justin (hereinafter referred to as “CITY”), whose 
mailing address is 415 N. College Avenue, PO Box 129, Justin, Texas 76247 and is subject to the 
following terms and conditions to which the parties mutually agree: 
 
Recitals: 
 

 WHEREAS, the CITY desires to engage the services of CONSULTANT as an independent 
contractor and not as an employee in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT desires to render Professional Consulting services for the 
CITY in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement in connection with 
SWIFT Water Improvements  (the “Project”);  
 

 NOW THEREFORE, in exchange for the mutual covenants set forth herein and other 
valuable consideration, the sufficiency and receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties 
agree as follows: 

 
   

Article 1 
Scope of Services 

 
1.1 In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, CONSULTANT shall perform 

the Professional Consultant services for the Project as set forth in Exhibit “A”, which is 
attached and made a part hereof, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

1.2 CONSULTANT will commence the services upon receipt of an executed copy of this 
Agreement signed by an authorized representative of the CITY and by an authorized 
representative of CONSULTANT. 

1.3 CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for a CITY’s directive or substitution made 
without CONSULTANT’s agreement and which agreement shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.    

1.4 CITY, without invalidating this Agreement, may request changes within the general scope 
of the Service required by this Agreement by altering or adding to the Services to be 
performed, and any such changes in the Services shall be performed subject to this 
Agreement.  Upon receiving the CITY’s request, CONSULTANT shall return to CITY a 
written change proposal setting forth an adjustment to the services, schedule and/or cost 
estimated by CONSULTANT to represent the value of the requested changes. Following 
CITY’s review of CONSULTANT’s change proposal, CITY shall execute said written 
Supplemental Agreement authorizing CONSULTANT to perform the changes in the 
Services. 

1.5 The parties acknowledge and agree that any and all opinions and cost estimates provided by 
the CONSULTANT represent a professional opinion consistent with the normal and 
customary standard of care. 
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1.6 All designs, drawings, specifications, documents, and other work products of the 
CONSULTANT, whether in hard copy or in electronic form, are instruments of service for 
this Project, whether the Project is completed or not.  Reuse, change, or alteration by the 
CITY or by others acting through or on behalf of the CITY of any such instruments of 
service without the written permission of the CONSULTANT will be at the CITY's sole 
risk.  The CONSULTANT shall own the final designs, drawings, specifications and 
documents. 

   
 Article 2 

Compensation and Method of Payment 
 
2.1 CONSULTANT shall be compensated by payment of fees as set forth in Exhibit “B” and 

any subsequent executed Supplemental Agreement(s) to said proposal. 
2.2 Unless otherwise provided herein, payment to the CONSULTANT shall be monthly based 

on the CONSULTANT’s monthly invoice that shows the total amount of fees earned to date 
and the amount due and payable as of the current statement, in a form reasonably acceptable 
to the CITY.   

2.3 CONSULTANT will submit an invoice to CITY at the end of each month, on a basis as 
stipulated in Exhibit “B”. 

2.4 Payment shall be made by CITY within 30 days after receipt of the invoice. 
2.5 CITY shall provide written notification to CONSULTANT within 15 days of receipt of the 

invoice should CITY object to all or any part of charges appearing on the invoice.  The 
portion of the invoice that is not in dispute shall be paid by CITY within 30 days of receipt 
of said invoice. 

 
Article 3 

Schedule, Personnel, and Equipment 
 

3.1 The CONSULTANT agrees to commence services upon receipt of an executed copy of the 
Agreement from CITY.  The CONSULTANT will not be held responsible for delays 
beyond the CONSULTANT’s control. 

3.2 The CONSULTANT shall devote such time as reasonably necessary for the satisfactory 
performance of the work under this Agreement.  Should the CITY require additional 
services not included under this Agreement, the CONSULTANT shall make reasonable 
effort to provide such additional services at mutually agreed charges or rates, and within the 
agreed upon revised time schedule and without decreasing the effectiveness of the 
performance of services required under this Agreement. 

3.3 To the extent reasonably necessary for the CONSULTANT to perform the services under 
this Agreement, the CONSULTANT shall be authorized to engage the services of any 
subcontractors, agents, assistants, persons, or corporations that the CONSULTANT may 
deem proper to aid or assist in the performance of the services under this Agreement with 
the prior written approval of the CITY.  The cost of such personnel and assistance shall be 
borne exclusively by the CONSULTANT. 

3.4 The CONSULTANT shall furnish the facilities, equipment, and personnel necessary to 
perform the services required under this Agreement unless otherwise provided herein. 
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3.5 Upon request of the CITY, CONSULTANT shall submit progress reports and attend 
progress meetings as may be required from time to time based upon Project demands.  Each 
progress report shall detail the work accomplished and special problems or delays 
experienced on the Project during the previous report period, and the planned work 
activities and special problems or delays anticipated for the next report period. 

3.6 The CONSULTANT shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or disability.   

 

 
Article 4 

Delays and Termination 
 
4.1 CITY or CONSULTANT may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days written 

notice to the other party.  In the event of such termination, the CONSULTANT shall be 
entitled to compensation for any services completed to the reasonable satisfaction of the 
CITY in accordance with this Agreement prior to such termination.  

4.2 If the CITY suspends the Project, CONSULTANT shall be compensated for services 
performed prior to notice of such suspension. When the Project is resumed, 
CONSULTANT shall be compensated for expenses incurred in the interruption and 
resumption of CONSULTANT’s services.  CONSULTANT’s fees for the remaining 
services and the time schedules shall be equitably adjusted. 

4.3 CITY’s failure to make payment to CONSULTANT in accordance with the payment terms 
herein shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and shall be cause for 
termination by CONSULTANT. 

 
Article 5 

Right of Entry 
 
5.1 CITY shall provide for CONSULTANT’s right to enter from time to time, property owned 

by CITY and/or others, in order for CONSULTANT to fulfill the scope of services included 
hereunder.  

5.2 Should the project property not be owned by CITY, CITY shall provide written right of 
entry from the property CITY(s) unless otherwise stated in Exhibit “A”. 

 
Article 6 

Information Provided by Others 
 
6.1 CONSULTANT shall indicate to CITY the information needed for rendering of services 

hereunder, and CITY shall provide to CONSULTANT such information as is available to 
CITY.  CITY recognizes that it is impossible for CONSULTANT to assure the sufficiency 
of such information, either because it is impossible to do so, or because of errors or 
omissions, which may have occurred in assembling the information.  CITY shall be 
responsible for, and CONSULTANT may rely upon, the accuracy and completeness of all 
requirements, programs, instructions, reports, data, and other information furnished by 
CITY to CONSULTANT pursuant to this Agreement.  CONSULTANT may use such 
requirements, programs, instructions, reports, data, and information in performing or 
furnishing services under this Agreement.   
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6.2 Subject to the standard of care set forth here within, CONSULTANT and its subconsultants 
may use or rely upon design elements and information ordinarily or customarily furnished 
by others, including, but not limited to, specialty contractors, manufacturers, suppliers, and 
the publishers of technical standards. 

 
 

Article 7 
Construction Activities 

 
7.1 CITY agrees that the General Contractor is solely responsible for job site safety and for 

construction means, methods, sequence, techniques and procedures necessary for 
performing, superintending and/or coordination all construction activities and warrants that 
this intent shall be made evident in CITY’s agreement with the General Contractor. 

7.2 CONSULTANT shall have no responsibility for discovery, presence, handling, removal or 
disposal of, or exposure of persons to, hazardous materials or toxic substances in any form 
at the Project site. 

 
 

Article 8 
Jurisdiction 

 
8.1 This Agreement is to be governed by the laws of the State of Texas.   
8.2 In compliance with Sec. 29 of the Professional Land Surveying Act, as enacted by the 

Legislature of the State of Texas, CONSULTANT is required to inform CITY that land 
surveying services in the State of Texas are under the jurisdiction of the Texas Board of 
Professional Land Surveying, 12100 Park 35 Circle, Bldg. A, Suite 156, MC-230, Austin, 
Texas 78753, (512) 239-5263.  Complaints regarding surveying services rendered may be 
addressed to that agency.  The firm registration number is TBPLS No. 10008000. 

 
Article 9 

Indemnification 
 
9.1 CONSULTANT shall indemnify and hold harmless CITY from and damages and expenses, 

including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses, by whomever 
asserted, including, but not limited to, any government agency or branch or any third party 
to the extent the same arise from negligent errors or omissions of CONSULTANT or its 
employees or subconsultants in the performance of the Services. 

 
Article 10 

Conflicts of Interest 
 
10.1 The CONSULTANT represents that no official or employee of the CITY has any direct or 

indirect pecuniary interest in this Agreement.  
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Article 11 
Insurance  

 
11.1 CONSULTANT shall during the term hereof maintain in full force and effect the following 

insurance: (1) a policy of insurance for bodily injury, death and property damage insuring 
against all claims, demands or actions relating to the CONSULTANT’s performance of 
services pursuant to this Agreement with a minimum combined single limit of not less than 
$1,000,000 Dollars per occurrence for injury to persons (including death), and for property 
damage; (2) policy of automobile liability insurance covering any vehicles owned and/or 
operated by CONSULTANT, its officers and employees, and used in the performance of 
this Agreement; (3) statutory Worker’s Compensation Insurance covering all of 
CONSULTANT’s employees involved in the provision of services under this Agreement; 
and (4) Professional Liability Insurance covering damages arising out of the negligent acts, 
errors or omissions. 

11.2 All insurance and certificate(s) of insurance shall contain the following provisions: (1) 
name the CITY, its officers and employees as additional insureds as to all applicable 
coverage with the exception of Workers Compensation Insurance and Professional Liability 
Insurance; (2) provide for at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to the CITY for 
cancellation or non-renewal of the insurance; (3) provide for a waiver of subrogation 
against the CITY for injuries, including death, property damage, or any other loss to the 
extent the same is covered by the proceeds of insurance. 

11.3 All insurance companies providing the required insurance shall be authorized to transact 
business in Texas and be rated at least “A” by AM Best or other equivalent rating service.  

11.4 A certificate of insurance evidencing the required insurance shall be submitted to the CITY 
prior to commencement of services. 

 
Article 12 

Assignment 
 
12.1 Unless otherwise noted, neither CONSULTANT nor CITY shall assign this Agreement in 

whole or in part without the prior written consent of both parties. CONSULTANT shall not 
subcontract any portion of the work to be performed hereunder, except that 
CONSULTANT may use the services of persons and entities not in the employ of 
CONSULTANT when it is appropriate and customary to do so.  Such persons and entities 
include, but are not necessarily limited to, surveyors, specialized consultants, and testing 
laboratories.  CONSULTANT’s use of others for additional services shall not be 
unreasonably restricted by CITY provided CONSULTANT notifies CITY in advance. 

12.2 CONSULTANT may, at their discretion, assign this contract to a subsidiary of 
CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT shall notify CITY of their assignment at such time it 
takes place. 

12.3 Subject to the provisions regarding assignment, this Agreement shall be binding on and 
inure to the benefit of the parties to it and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, 
legal representatives, successors and assigns. 
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Article 13 
Notices 

 
13.1 Any notice given hereunder shall be deemed served when hand-delivered in writing to an 

officer or other duly appointed representative of the party to whom the notice is directed, 
or if sent by registered or certified mail or by a commercial courier service to the business 
address identified at the end of the Agreement.  All notices shall be effective upon the date 
of receipt.  
 
If intended for CITY - Representative:  
 

Cori Reaume   
City Manager       
City of Justin   
415 N. College Avenue   
Justin, Texas 76247    
Telephone: 940-648-2541    
Email: citymanager@cityofjustin.com  
 

 
If intended for CONSULTANT - Representative: 
 

Brian D. O’Neill, PE, CFM    
Principal      
6100 Western Place Suite 1001   
Fort Worth, TX 76107    
Telephone: 817-412-7155    
Email: boneill@pkce.com    

 
 

Article 14 
Standard of Care 

 
14.1 The standard of care for all professional consulting services performed or furnished by 

CONSULTANT under this Agreement will be the care and skill ordinarily used by 
members of the subject profession practicing under similar circumstances at the same time 
and in the same locality.  CONSULTANT makes no warranties, express or implied, under 
this Agreement or otherwise, in connection with CONSULTANT’s services. 

 
Article 15 

Entire Agreement 
 
15.1 The Agreement (including attached schedules) constitutes the sole and entire agreement 

between CONSULTANT and CITY. This Agreement replaces and supersedes all prior 
discussions and agreements between the CITY and CONSULTANT with respect to the 
matters contained herein.  This Agreement may only be amended, supplemented, modified, 
or canceled by a duly executed written instrument signed by both CITY and 
CONSULTANT. 
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Article 16 
Independent Contractor 

 
16.1 It is understood and agreed by and between the parties that the CONSULTANT in 

satisfying the conditions of this Agreement, is acting independently, and that the CITY 
assumes no responsibility or liabilities to any third party in connection with these actions.  
All services to be performed by CONSULTANT pursuant to this Agreement shall be in the 
capacity of an independent contractor, and not as an agent or employee of the CITY.  
CONSULTANT shall supervise the performance of its services and shall be entitled to 
control the manner and means by which its services are to be performed, subject to the 
terms of this Agreement.  There is no intended third party beneficiary to this agreement. 

 
Article 17 

Audits and Records 
 
17.1 The CONSULTANT agrees that during the term hereof the CITY and its representatives 

may, during normal business hours and as often as deemed necessary, inspect, audit, 
examine and reproduce any and all of the CONSULTANT’s records relating to the services 
provided pursuant to this Agreement for a period of one (1) year following the date of 
completion of services as determined by the CITY or date of termination if sooner. 

 
Article 18 

Miscellaneous Provisions 
 
18.1 All waivers, indemnifications, and limitations of liability included in this Agreement will 

survive its completion or termination for any reason. 
18.2 Any provision or part of the Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any Laws 

or Regulations shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be 
valid and binding upon CITY and CONSULTANT, which agree that the Agreement shall 
be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable 
provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken 
provision. 

18.3 CITY shall not rely in any way on any Document unless it is issued in final form, signed or 
sealed by CONSULTANT or one of its subconsultants. 

18.4 A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, 
nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this 
Agreement.  

18.5 To the fullest extent permitted by law, all causes of action arising under this Agreement 
shall be deemed to have accrued, and all statutory periods of limitation shall commence, no 
later than the date of Substantial Completion. 
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EXHIBIT ‘A’ – SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
CITY OF JUSTIN – SWIFT WATER IMPROVEMENTS 

 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 
 
The project consists of survey and design for the City of Justin’s water system.  The 
design will be for the replacement of water mains in and around Old Town Justin.  This 
will include necessary survey and construction administration.  Finally, there will be 
coordination of plans and contract documents with the Texas Water Development Board 
as the project is funded by SWIFT.  (PROJECT) 
 
BASIC SERVICES: 
 

A. Project Management, Coordination & Permitting  
 
1. Manage the Team: 

 Lead, manage and direct design team activities 
 Ensure quality control is practiced in performance of the work 
 Communicate internally among team members 
 Allocate team resources 

 
2. Communications and Reporting: 

 Attend a pre-design project kickoff meeting with CITY staff to 
confirm and clarify scope, understand CITY objectives, and 
ensure economical and functional designs that meet CITY 
requirements. 

 Conduct review meetings with the CITY at the end of each design 
phase. 

 Prepare and submit monthly invoices in the format acceptable to 
the CITY. 

 Prepare and submit monthly progress reports. 
 Prepare and submit baseline Project Schedule initially and Project 

Schedule updates.  
 Coordinate with other agencies and entities as necessary for the 

design of the proposed infrastructure and provide and obtain 
information needed to prepare the design. 

 With respect to coordination with permitting authorities, 
CONSULTANT shall communicate with permitting authorities such 
that their regulatory requirements are appropriately reflected in the 
designs.  CONSULTANT shall work with regulatory authorities to 
obtain approval of the designs, and make changes necessary to 
meet their requirements. 
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3. Permit Coordination: 
CONSULTANT will provide coordination with the railroad, USCOE and/or 
TxDOT or other required agency for Permitting of the proposed 
infrastructure construction.  Included in this item are: 

 Coordination of submittal of Application for Permit. 
 Research and provide appropriate design specifications. 
 Coordination for final plan approval. 
 Up to three (3) coordination meetings, if required. 
 Application and Permitting fees and special insurance premiums 

are not included. 
 

4. Constructability Review: 
 Prior to the 60 percent review meeting with the CITY, the 

CONSULTANT shall schedule and attend a project site visit with 
the CITY Project Manager and Construction personnel to walk the 
project.  The CONSULTANT shall summarize the CITY’s 
comments from the field visit and submit this information to the 
CITY in writing. 

 

5. Utility Clearance: 
 The CONSULTANT will consult with the CITY, public utilities, 

private utilities and government agencies to determine the 
approximate location of above and underground utilities, and other 
facilities (current and future) that have an impact or influence on 
the project.  CONSULTANT will design CITY facilities to avoid or 
minimize conflicts with existing utilities, and where known and 
possible consider potential future utilities in designs. 

 CONSULTANT will provide plans to and coordinate with utility 
CITY related to the relocation efforts of franchise utilities that 
remain in conflict with the proposed construction.  

 

 
6. Data Collection 

 In addition to data obtained from the CITY, CONSULTANT will 
research proposed improvements in conjunction with any other 
planned future improvements known by the CITY that may influence 
the project.  

 The CONSULTANT will also identify and seek to obtain data for 
existing conditions that may impact the project including but not 
limited to; utilities, agencies (TxDOT and USCOE), CITY Master 
Plans, and property ownership as available from the Tax Assessor's 
office. 

 The data collection efforts will also include conducting special 
coordination meetings with affected property owners and businesses as 
necessary to develop the design. 
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B. Preliminary Design (60% Submittal)   
 
1. Prepare preliminary construction plans.  Prepare the following sheets at 

the engineering scale indicated: 
 Cover Sheet 
 General Notes 
 Quantity Sheet 
 Project Layout & Control Sheet 
 Water (12” diameter or larger) plan and profile sheets.   

Scale 1” = 20’ Horizontal; 1” = 2’ Vertical 
 Water (smaller than 12” diameter) plan sheets.   

Scale 1” = 20’ Horizontal; 
 Traffic Control Plan 
 Erosion Control Plans 
 Tree Protection and Mitigation Plans 
 Detail sheets 

Information required can be combined on sheets if the information can be 
clearly shown and is approved by CITY’s project manager. 
 

2. Assemble CITY’s standard construction contract documents and modify 
special technical specifications, if needed, for the project (if any). 
 

3. Prepare an estimate of construction quantities and develop the 
preliminary opinion of probable construction costs. 
 

4. Submit two (2) full sized 22”x34” sets of preliminary 60% plans, one (1) 
set of preliminary construction contract documents, special conditions and 
preliminary opinion of probable construction costs to the CITY for review.  
One (1) set of half size (11”x17”) plans will be submitted with the 60% 
plan submittal.  
  

C. Final Design (90% & 100% Submittals)  
 
1. Revise preliminary plans incorporating comments from the CITY. 

 
2. Submit two (2) full sized 22”x34” sets of 90% plans, one (1) set of 90% 

construction contract documents and 90% opinion of probable 
construction costs for CITY review. One (1) set of half size (11”x17”) 
plans will be submitted with the 90% plan submittal. 

 
3. Incorporate final CITY review comments into the plans and construction 

contract documents to finalize construction plans for proposed 
improvements. 

 
4. Finalize construction contract documents including CITY standard 

specifications, special technical specifications and special conditions (if 
any). 
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5. Estimate of final construction quantities and final opinions of construction 
cost. 

 
 

6. Submit (1) sealed (100%) set of final plans and construction documents. 
 

D. Bid Phase Services   
CONSULTANT will support the bid phase of the project as follows. 
 
1. Bid Advertisement: 

 CONSULTANT shall prepare and submit to CITY a draft Bid 
Advertisement for publishing by the CITY. 

 
 
2. Bid Document Distribution:  

 The CONSULTANT shall sell construction plans and contract bid 
documents.  The CONSULTANT shall also maintain a plan holders list 
of documents sold. 
 

3. Bidder Assistance: 
 The CONSULTANT will develop and implement procedures for 

receiving and answering bidders’ questions and requests for 
additional information. The procedures shall include a log of all 
significant bidders’ questions and requests, and the response thereto.  
The CONSULTANT will provide technical interpretation of the contract 
bid documents and will prepare proposed responses to all bidders’ 
questions and requests, in the form of addenda.  

 Attend the prebid conference in support of the CITY. 
 Attend the bid opening in support of the CITY. 

 
4. Bid Analysis and Recommendation of Award: 

 The CONSULTANT will tabulate and review all bids received for the 
construction project, assist the CITY in evaluating bids, and 
recommend award of the contract.  

 The CONSULTANT will assist the CITY in determining the 
qualifications and acceptability of prospective contractors, 
subcontractors, and suppliers. 

 The CONSULTANT shall make a recommendation of award to the 
CITY. 
 

5. Conformed Construction Documents: 
 Upon award of a contract by the CITY, the CONSULTANT shall assist 

with the execution, assembly and distribution of the construction 
contract documents for the Project.  
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E. Construction Administration  
 
1. Preconstruction Conference: 

 The CONSULTANT shall attend the preconstruction conference. 
 

2. Public Meeting: 
 After the pre-construction conference, the CONSULTANT shall 

provide project exhibits and attend a public meeting, if any, to help 
explain the proposed project to interested parties. The CITY shall 
select a suitable location and extend the invitation to the affected 
parties and the public as deemed appropriate. 
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3. Site Visits: 
 The CONSULTANT shall visit the project site at appropriate intervals 

as construction proceeds to observe and report on progress.  It is 
estimated that one (1) visit per month will be made by the 
CONSULTANT. 

 
4. Shop Drawing and Lab Report Review 

 The CONSULTANT shall review shop and erection drawings 
submitted by the contractor for compliance with design concepts.  The 
CONSULTANT shall review laboratory, shop, and mill test reports on 
materials and equipment. 

 
5. Instructions to Contractor 

 The Engineer shall provide necessary interpretations and clarifications 
of contract documents, review change orders and make 
recommendations as to the acceptability of the work, at the request of 
the CITY. 

 
6. Contractor’s Payment Estimates 

 The Engineer shall review monthly and final estimates for payments to 
contractors.  The payment estimates shall include appropriate 
certifications. 

 
7. Final Inspection 

 The Engineer shall attend final inspection of the Project with 
representatives of the CITY and the construction contractor. 

 
8. Record Drawings: 

 Prepare construction “Record Drawings” based upon mark-ups and 
information provided by the construction contractor(s).  Submit one (1) 
set of the record drawings (with “record drawing stamp” bearing the 
signature of the Engineer and the date) to the CITY on a CD-ROM 
disk or flash drive containing scanned 22”x34” black and white PDF 
images. 

 
F. Direct Expenses 
 

1. Included in this item are usual and customary expenses normally incurred 
during performance of the services described.  These expenses could 
include courier delivery charges, copies of existing engineering plans 
and/or maps, printing and reproduction (either in-house or by 
reproduction company) and mileage. 

  



EXHIBIT A to Agreement between the 
City of Justin, (CITY) and Pacheco 
Koch LLC, (CONSULTANT) for 
Consulting Services 

 

5/25/2017  Page 7 

SPECIAL SERVICES: 
 

A. Field Survey 
 
1. Establish Survey Control 

 
Establish survey control along each street or intersecting streets as 
necessary.  These control points will be established based on and tied to 
established City horizontal and vertical control points.  The horizontal 
control for each street in the PROJECT will be established on the State 
Plane Coordinate System (NAD'83 Surface Coordinates) from CITY 
monumentation.  Control points will be established using 5/8" iron rods, 
18" long. These control points will be established using GPS and 
conventional surveying methods. 

 
2. Benchmark Loop 

 
A benchmark circuit will be established, based on the vertical control 
points provided.  These benchmarks will be located outside of the 
construction limits and put in such a place so that they may be easily 
found for future use.  Benchmarks will be located at about 1,000' intervals 
and will be referenced.  Benchmarks shall be looped in accordance with 
good surveying practice prior to field surveys.  All control leveling work 
will be performed using appropriate modified second order procedures 
with closed loops into the PROJECT vertical control. 

 
3. Existing Streets, Driveways and Right-of-Way 

 
Existing streets, driveways and right-of-way will be profiled and 
cross-sectioned at 50' intervals and to a point at least 20' outside of the 
Right-of-Way line.  Low points, high points and other unique features will 
be noted.  Pavement surfacing will be determined by visual inspection 
only.  Intersecting streets will be profiled and cross-sectioned to a point at 
least 50' beyond the roadway being replaced. 
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4. Existing Drainage Channels and Drainage Area Verification 
 

Existing drainage channels and swales will be profiled and cross 
sectioned within the immediate vicinity of the PROJECT, 100' upstream 
and downstream.  Low points, high points and any other unique features 
will be noted.  Additional surveying may be necessary to verify the limits 
of drainage areas. 

 
5. Existing Underground and/or Overhead Utilities 

 
Utility CITY's will be contacted, on an as-needed basis, and requested to 
assist in locating existing utilities identified for the PROJECT.  Above 
ground features of existing utilities within the proposed Right-of-Way for 
the limits of the PROJECT will be field located, including elevations of 
sanitary and storm sewer manhole flowlines and water/gas valve stems.  
The location of utilities between above ground features will be determined 
from visual inspection, utility records, and/or from locations determined by 
the respective utility companies.  The utilities will be tied to the PROJECT 
control points and depths determined in sufficient detail to identify 
potential conflicts with proposed construction.  The excavation and other 
costs required to expose or probe the underground utilities will be the 
responsibility of others. 

 
6. Right-of-Way 

 
Right-of-Way lines along the PROJECT will be located.  This information 
will be included on the PROJECT’s plan sheets. 

 
7. Existing Storm Sewers and Culverts 

 
The size of existing culverts will be measured and tied along with existing 
headwalls, channels and aprons.  The size, length, and flowline elevation 
of existing storm sewers will be surveyed.  Drainage areas contributing to 
the PROJECT or conveying water from the PROJECT will be determined 
through field investigations and available topographic mapping. 

 
8. Temporary Signs, Traffic Control, Flags, Safety Equipment, Etc. 

 
The Surveyor will exercise care in completing this surveying assignment 
by using traffic control devices, flags and safety equipment when 
necessary. 
 

B. Geotechnical Investigation: 
 

1. Through a qualified subcontractor, CONSULTANT shall: 
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 Perform soil investigations, including field and laboratory tests, borings, 
related engineering analysis and recommendations for determining soil 
conditions will be made.   

 Field and laboratory analysis will be made at reasonable intervals along 
the project alignment.   

 A pavement section design will be prepared based on the results. 
 Recommendations regarding design of trench safety and below ground 

structure, and suitability of pipe materials and construction technologies 
will be prepared based on the results. 
 

 
C. Subsurface Utility Engineering: 

 
CONSULTANT will provide Subsurface Utility Engineering (S.U.E.) Services 
through the use of a qualified sub-consultant. The S.U.E. will be performed to 
ASCE standard guidelines (ASCE 38-02). The deliverables for this project will 
be electronic files only in AutoCAD format. All Right-of-Entry Coordination is 
to be provided by CITY. Non-Routing Traffic Control Measures are not 
included in the scope of services. As described in the publication, four levels 
have been established to describe the quality of utility location and attribute 
information used on plans. The four quality levels are as follows: 

 
 Quality Level D (QL”D”) – Information derived from existing utility records; 
 Quality Level C (QL”C”) – QL”D” information supplemented with 

information obtained by surveying visible above-ground utility features 
such as valves, hydrants, meters, manhole covers, etc. 

 Quality Level B (QL”B”) – Two-dimensional (x, y) information obtained 
through the application and interpretation of non-destructive surface 
geophysical methods. Also known as “designating” this quality level 
provides the horizontal position of subsurface utilities within 
approximately one foot. 

 Quality Level A (QL”A”) – Three dimensional (x, y, z) utility information 
obtained utilizing non-destructive vacuum excavation equipment to 
expose utilities at critical points which are then tied down by surveying. 
Also known as “locating”, this quality level provides precise horizontal and 
vertical positioning of utilities within approximately 0.05 feet. 

 
 
Services not included in this contract: 
 

 Construction inspection services 
 As-built surveys of constructed improvements 
 Public hearings or City Council/Commission meetings  
 Utility coordination meeting(s) to start relocation process with affected franchise 

utilities.   
 Reset property corner monumentation disturbed or removed during or after 

construction  
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 Required application and permitting fees (LOMR) or special insurance premiums 
are not included 

 Phase II Environmental Site Assessments 
 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plans (SWPPP) 

 
 

END OF EXHIBIT ‘A’ 
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EXHIBIT ‘B’ – COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT  
 

CITY OF JUSTIN – SWIFT WATER IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 
COMPENSATION: 
 
For all professional services included in EXHIBIT ‘A’, Scope of Services, the 
CONSULTANT shall be compensated a lump sum fee of $1,350,000 as summarized 
below.  The total lump sum fee shall be considered full compensation for the services 
described in EXHIBIT A, including all labor materials, supplies, and equipment 
necessary to deliver the services. 

 
Basic & Special Services 
 A. Project Management, Coordination & Permitting $ 180,000 
 B. Preliminary Design (60% Submittal)  500,000 
 C. Final Design (90% & 100% Submittals) 220,000  
 D.  Bid Phase Services 35,000 
 E. Construction Administration 90,000 
 F. Direct Expense (Not to Exceed) 7,000 
 G. Field Survey 180,000 
 H. Geotechnical Investigation 28,000 
 I. Subsurface Utility Engineering 110,000 
 
TOTAL  $ 1,350,000  

 
METHOD OF PAYMENT: 
    
The CONSULTANT shall be paid monthly payments as described in Article 3 of the 
AGREEMENT.  The cumulative sum of such monthly partial fee payments shall not 
exceed the total current project budget including all approved Amendments.  Each 
invoice shall be verified as to its accuracy and compliance with the terms of this 
Agreement by an officer of the CONSULTANT. 
 
Monthly statements for reimbursable services performed by sub consultants will be 
based upon the actual cost to the CONSULTANT plus ten percent (10%).  Direct 
expenses for services such as printing, express mail, fees, mileage and other direct 
expenses that are incurred during the progress of the project will be billed at 1.1 times 
the CONSULTANT’S cost. 
 

END OF EXHIBIT ‘B’ 



 



















 







 









 











 



A6 & A7
   

Counties

   

Denton

   

Identify the Applicant's total service area population:: 3,640

Funding Program(s)
   

Funding Programs

   

SWIFT: $12,000,000

Other Funding Sources
   

Other Funding Sources

   

   

Other Funding Comments: The City's general fund will contribute $100,000.

Funding Source Type of Funds
(Loan, Grant, etc.)

Amount ($) Date Applied for
Funding

Anticipated or
Funding Secured

Date
City Funds $100,000



Funding_1 N/A



Funding & Project Type
   

Has this project received TWDB funding for any other project phases?: N

Requesting Funding for Planning: N

Requesting Funding for Acquisition: N

Requesting Funding for Design: Y

Requesting Funding for Construction: Y

   

Is the project a water project?: Y

   

Is the project a wastewater project?: N

   

Is Applicant requesting funding to refinance existing debt?: N

   

DUNS: 

   

Federal Awards information:

1. Did applicant receive over 80% of their revenue from Federal Awards last year?: 

2. Did applicant receive over $25 million in Federal Awards last year?: 

3. Does the public have access to executive compensation information via SEC or IRS reports?: 

   

Describe procedures for collecting monthly customer bills (include procedures for collection of

delinquent accounts): 



TWDB-0215 N/A



Contractors & Loan/Grant Participation Summary
   

Have you already solicited contractors?: 

Have contracts already been awarded?: 

Legal Information
   

Cite the legal authority under which the Applicant can issue the proposed debt including the

authority to make a proposed pledge of revenues.: The Constitution and laws of the State of

Texas, including Texas Local Government Code, Subchapter C of Chapter 271, as amended, and

Texas Government Code, Sections 1502.056 and 1502.058.

   

What type of pledge will be used to repay the proposed debt?: COMBO

   

Provide the full legal name of the security for the proposed debt issue(s).: TWDB to fill in based on

email from bond coun

   

Describe the pledge being offered and any existing rate covenants.: Pledge:  Ad valorem taxes

and a lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues of the City’s combined Waterworks and Sewer

System, such lien and pledge, however, being junior and subordinate to the lien on and pledge of

such Net Revenues securing the payment of the certain obligations hereafter issued by the City

   



 



 



 



Bonds, CCN, Enforcement Action
   

Does the applicant possess a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity (CCN)?: Y

   

Has the applicant been the subject of any enforcement action by the Texas Commission on

Environmental Quality (TCEQ), the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), or any other entity

within the past three years?: Y



 



 



Municipality
   

Is the area to be served by the project within the service area of a municipality or other public

utility?: Y

If yes, has the applicant obtained an affidavit stating that the utility does not object to the

construction and operation of the services and facilities in its service area?: N

If no, provide an explanation as to why not.: The City of Justin provides the water services.



NoObjectionAffidavit N/A



Board Approved WCP
   

If the assistance requested is more than $500,000 a Water Conservation Plan (WCP) is required.

The WCP cannot be more than FIVE years old and must have been adopted by the applicant. Has

the applicant adopted a Board-approved WCP?  (Check one and attach requested information, if

any.): Y

Enter date of Applicant's WCP adoption: 2008-09-08 00:00:00.0



 





























































































Retail Water Services
   

Does the applicant provide retail water services?: Y

If yes, has the applicant already submitted to the TWDB the annual water use survey of

groundwater and surface water for the last THREE years?: Y

Potable Water Services
   

Is the applicant a retail public utility that provides potable water?: Y

If yes, has the applicant already submitted a most recently required water loss audit to the

TWDB?: Y

Provide Wastewater Services
   

Does the applicant provide wastewater services?: Y

Provide Regional or Wholesale Water Services
   

Does the applicant provide regional or wholesale water services?: N

Top Ten Customers of Water System
   

Top Ten Water Customers

   

   

Top Ten Water System Customers Comments: 

   

Current average Residential Usage and Rate Information

Customer Name Annual Usage (gal) Percent of Total Water
Revenue

Bankruptcy (Y/N)

  Longmeadow Health
Care

3,579,867 2.30% N

Lonesome Spur 1,470,471 1.10% N
Rabbit Hole Brewery 223,230 0.20% N
Canam Car Wash 2,517,315 1.50% N
Finish Line Oil & Lube 433,197 0.30% N
First Baptist Church 1,515,931 0.10% N
Justin Elementary 171,922 0.30% N
Justin Place
Apartments

729,706 0.60% N

Leuty Ave Apartments 658,537 0.50% N
Texas Environmental 389,235 0.40% N



   

   

Top Ten Customers of Wastewater System
   

Top Ten Wastewater Customers

   

   

Top Ten Wastewater System Customers Comments: 

   

Current average Residential Usage and Rate Information

   

   

Number of Customers in Past 5 Years
   

Customers in Past 5 Years

   

2017: 1,354

Service Date of Last
Rate

Increase

Avg. Monthly
Usage

(gallons)

Avg. Monthly
Bill ($)

Avg. Monthly
Increase Per
Customer ($)

Projected
Monthly
Increase

Necessary
($)

Anticipated
Date of

Projected
Rate

Increase
(Date)

Water 10-01-2010 5,000 $51.5 $4.68 $0

Customer Name Annual Usage (gal) Percent of Total Water
Revenue

Bankruptcy (Y/N)

Longmeadow Health
Care

3,224,046 2.30% N

Lonesome Spur 1,470,471 1.10% N
Rabbit Hole Brewert 223,230 0.20% N
Canam Car Wash 2,517,315 1.90% N
Finish Line Oil & Lube 433,197 0.30% N
First Baptist Church 138,771 0.10% N
Justin Elementary 171,922 0.20% N
Leuty Ave Apartments 658,537 0.50% N
Texas Environmental 99,532 0.10% N
Justin Place
Apartments

729,706 0.60% N

Service Date of Last
Rate

Increase

Avg. Monthly
Usage

(gallons)

Avg. Monthly
Bill ($)

Avg. Monthly
Increase Per
Customer ($)

Projected
Monthly
Increase

Necessary
($)

Anticipated
Date of

Projected
Rate

Increase
(Date)

Wastewater 06-01-2009 5,000 $33 $3 $0



2016: 1,354

2015: 1,282

2014: 1,254

2013: 1,239

Debt
   

Disclose all issues that may affect the project or the applicant's ability to issue and/or repay debt

(such as anticipated lawsuits, judgments, bankruptcies, major customer closings, etc).: None

   

Has the applicant ever defaulted on any debt?: N

Taxing Authority
   

Does the applicant have taxing authority?: Y

Tax Assessed Valuations

   

   

Tax Assessed Values Comments: Fiscal Year End 2017 taxes are still in process of collection

Fiscal Year
Ending

Net
Taxable

Assessed
Value ($)

Tax Rate
($)

General
Fund ($)

Interest &
Sinking
Fund ($)

Tax Levy
($)

Percentage
Current

Collections
(%)

Percentage
Total

Collections
(%)

2017 $281,069,5
16

$0.66 $0.57 $0.08 $1,858,595 0.00% 0.00%

2016 $235,839,6
96

$0.66 $0.57 $0.08 $1,693,171 100.00% 100.00%

2015 $216,685,9
04

$0.66 $0.57 $0.08 $1,561,207 100.00% 100.00%

2014 $207,422,8
80

$0.66 $0.55 $0.1 $1,490,799 100.00% 100.00%

2013 $198,555,4
58

$0.66 $0.55 $0.1 $1,383,840 100.00% 100.00%



Overlapping Debt
City of Justin, Texas

2016/17 City's Authorized
Taxable 2016/17 Total Estimated Overlapping But Unissued
Assessed Tax Funded % Funded Debt Debt As of

Taxing Jurisdiction Value Rate Debt Applicable as of 5/1/17 5/1/2017
City of Justin 281,609,516$      $0.66000 8,765,000$     100.00% 8,765,000$     -$              
Denton County 78,259,024,841 0.24840 608,895,000   0.33% 2,009,354 118,408,296
Northwest Independent School District 12,620,107,909   1.45250 716,987,028   1.69% 12,117,081 100,000,000    

Total Direct and Overlapping Funded Debt 22,891,434$   

Ratio of Direct and Overlapping Funded Debt to Taxable Assessed Valuation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.13%

Per Capita Overlapping Funded Debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,792.71$    

Source:  Municipal Advsory Council of Texas

First Southwest Company
Public Finance Department
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 Taxable Appraised Value for Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2017 2016 2015

% of % of % of

Category Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total

Real, Residential, Single-Family 195,920,768$ 66.47% 172,379,651$ 62.80% 155,147,295$ 61.74%

Real, Residential, Multi-Family 4,388,241       1.49% 2,647,173       0.96% 2,409,563       0.96%

Real, Vacant Lots Tracts 7,298,802       2.48% 6,402,853       2.33% 4,591,380       1.83%

Real, Acreage (Land Only) 4,808,243       1.63% 5,123,703       1.87% 5,635,551       2.24%

Real, Farm and Ranch Improvements 3,764,805       1.28% 4,084,109       1.49% 2,794,106       1.11%

Real, Commercial and Industrial 27,045,895     9.18% 27,711,685     10.10% 26,679,506     10.62%
Real, Oil, Gas and Mineral Reserve 7,921,264       2.69% 5,835,043       2.13% 4,237,578       1.69%

Real and Intangible Personal, Utilities 6,677,741       2.27% 6,975,450       2.54% 5,175,413       2.06%

Tangible Personal, Business 36,775,126     12.48% 42,982,621     15.66% 43,709,088     17.39%

Real Property, Inventory 150,558          0.05% 313,680          0.11% 889,705          0.35%

Special Inventory 1,117              0.00% 12,280            0.00% 10,750            0.00%

Total Appraised Value Before Exemptions 294,752,560$ 100.00% 274,468,248$ 100.00% 251,279,935$ 100.00%

Less:  Total Exemption/Reductions (13,143,044)    (10,691,651)    (9,052,395)      
Taxable Assessed Value 281,609,516$ 263,776,597$ 242,227,540$ 

Taxable Appraised Value for 

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 

2014 2013

% of % of

Category Amount Total Amount Total

Real, Residential, Single-Family 147,961,370$ 61.89% 147,425,713$ 64.55%

Real, Residential, Multi-Family 2,042,560       0.85% 2,021,798       0.89%

Real, Vacant Lots Tracts 4,928,623       2.06% 4,717,015       2.07%

Real, Acreage (Land Only) 5,821,797       2.44% 7,124,173       3.12%

Real, Farm and Ranch Improvements 2,694,332       1.13% 1,408,896       0.62%

Real, Commercial and Industrial 23,472,229     9.82% 23,844,927     10.44%

Real, Oil, Gas and Mineral Reserve 4,036,198       1.69% 2,354,916       1.03%

Real and Tangible Personal, Utilities 7,459,423       3.12% 6,609,902       2.89%  

Tangible Personal, Business 39,811,024     16.65% 31,855,095     13.95%

Real Property, Inventory 824,912          0.35% 1,022,426       0.45%  

Special Inventory 8,823              0.00% -                 0.00%

Total Appraised Value Before Exemptions 239,061,291$ 100.00% 228,384,861$ 100.00%

Less:  Total Exemption/Reductions (7,891,377)      (7,754,290)      
Taxable Assessed Value 231,169,914$ 220,630,571$ 

Page 1
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 Taxable Appraised Value for Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2017 2016 2015

% of % of % of

Category Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total

Real, Residential, Single-Family 195,920,768$ 66.47% 172,379,651$ 62.80% 155,147,295$ 61.74%
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Tangible Personal, Business 36,775,126     12.48% 42,982,621     15.66% 43,709,088     17.39%

Real Property, Inventory 150,558          0.05% 313,680          0.11% 889,705          0.35%

Special Inventory 1,117              0.00% 12,280            0.00% 10,750            0.00%

Total Appraised Value Before Exemptions 294,752,560$ 100.00% 274,468,248$ 100.00% 251,279,935$ 100.00%

Less:  Total Exemption/Reductions (13,143,044)    (10,691,651)    (9,052,395)      
Taxable Assessed Value 281,609,516$ 263,776,597$ 242,227,540$ 

Taxable Appraised Value for 

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 

2014 2013

% of % of

Category Amount Total Amount Total

Real, Residential, Single-Family 147,961,370$ 61.89% 147,425,713$ 64.55%

Real, Residential, Multi-Family 2,042,560       0.85% 2,021,798       0.89%

Real, Vacant Lots Tracts 4,928,623       2.06% 4,717,015       2.07%

Real, Acreage (Land Only) 5,821,797       2.44% 7,124,173       3.12%

Real, Farm and Ranch Improvements 2,694,332       1.13% 1,408,896       0.62%

Real, Commercial and Industrial 23,472,229     9.82% 23,844,927     10.44%

Real, Oil, Gas and Mineral Reserve 4,036,198       1.69% 2,354,916       1.03%

Real and Tangible Personal, Utilities 7,459,423       3.12% 6,609,902       2.89%  

Tangible Personal, Business 39,811,024     16.65% 31,855,095     13.95%

Real Property, Inventory 824,912          0.35% 1,022,426       0.45%  

Special Inventory 8,823              0.00% -                 0.00%

Total Appraised Value Before Exemptions 239,061,291$ 100.00% 228,384,861$ 100.00%

Less:  Total Exemption/Reductions (7,891,377)      (7,754,290)      
Taxable Assessed Value 231,169,914$ 220,630,571$ 
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 Taxable Appraised Value for Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2017 2016 2015

% of % of % of

Category Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total
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Real, Commercial and Industrial 27,045,895     9.18% 27,711,685     10.10% 26,679,506     10.62%
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Total Appraised Value Before Exemptions 294,752,560$ 100.00% 274,468,248$ 100.00% 251,279,935$ 100.00%

Less:  Total Exemption/Reductions (13,143,044)    (10,691,651)    (9,052,395)      
Taxable Assessed Value 281,609,516$ 263,776,597$ 242,227,540$ 

Taxable Appraised Value for 

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 

2014 2013

% of % of

Category Amount Total Amount Total
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Top Ten Taxpayers
   

   

   

Top Ten Taxpayer Comments: 

Tax Rate and Sales Tax
   

   

Provide the maximum tax rate permitted by law per $100 of property value.: $1.5

   

Does the applicant collect sales tax?: Y

   

2017: $0

2016: $1,164,071

2015: $1,137,279

2014: $1,022,616

2013: $883,448

   

Sales Tax History Comments: Fiscal Year End for 2017 has not occurred.

   

Is the proposed loan tax-exempt?: Y

Taxpayer Name Assessed Value Percent of Total Bankruptcy (Y/N)
Enterprise Texas
Pipeline LP

$21,092,190 8.57% N

Enervest Operating
LLC

$333,730 1.35% N

Justin Center LLC $2,400,000 0.98% N
Devon Energy
Production Co LP

$2,247,833 0.91% N

Bishop Gardens
Apartment LP

$1,994,886 0.81% N

Oncor Electric Delivery
Co

$1,924,240 0.81% N

Harwell, Sam &
Kimmey, Kelley

$1,920,240 0.78% N

Cam-Longmeadow $1,900,000 0.77% N
Dallas MTA LP $1,682,780 0.68% N
Reatta Ridge 56 LTD $1,641,220 0.67% N



45‐A 2 years io

Response ‐ Question 45‐A
Existing Total Debt

Projected Projected Net Available Debt Paid by Paid by Projected

FYE Gross Revenues Expenses(1) for Debt Service Utility Sys Revs Principal Int. @ 1.65% Principal Int. @ 2.00% Principal Int. @ 2.50% Utility Sys Revs Coverage
2017 $ 1,732,200 $ 1,335,612 396,588$                  483,715$               483,715$               0.82x
2018 1,775,505 1,365,663 409,842                     485,506                 ‐$                   33,984$            519,490                 0.79x
2019 1,819,893 1,396,391 423,502                     482,818                 ‐                    35,565              518,383                 0.82x
2020 1,865,390 1,427,809 437,581                     483,222                 120,000           35,565              ‐$                    45,867$            684,654                 0.64x
2021 1,912,025 1,459,935 452,090                     483,253                 120,000           34,689              ‐                     48,000               685,942                 0.66x
2022 1,959,825 1,492,784 467,041                     484,418                 120,000           33,693              110,000           48,000               ‐                    172,000           968,111                 0.48x
2023 2,008,821 1,526,371 482,450                     483,347                 125,000           32,565              115,000           45,800               ‐                    180,000           981,712                 0.49x
2024 2,059,041 1,560,715 498,326                     483,405                 125,000           31,278              115,000           43,500               320,000           180,000           1,298,182             0.38x
2025 2,110,517 1,595,831 514,686                     487,312                 125,000           29,890              120,000           41,200               330,000           172,000           1,305,402             0.39x
2026 2,163,280 1,631,737 531,543                     490,511                 125,000           28,415              120,000           38,800               340,000           163,750           1,306,476             0.41x
2027 2,217,362 1,668,451 548,911                     490,794                 130,000           26,853              125,000           36,400               345,000           155,250           1,309,296             0.42x
2028 2,272,797 1,705,991 566,806                     494,358                 130,000           25,176              125,000           33,900               355,000           146,625           1,310,059             0.43x
2029 2,306,888 1,731,581 575,307                     492,482                 135,000           23,317              130,000           31,400               365,000           137,750           1,314,949             0.44x
2030 2,341,492 1,757,555 583,937                     135,000           21,211              130,000           28,800               375,000           128,625           818,636                 0.71x
2031 2,376,614 1,783,918 592,696                     135,000           18,997              135,000           26,200               380,000           119,250           814,447                 0.73x
2032 2,412,263 1,810,677 601,586                     140,000           16,675              135,000           23,500               390,000           109,750           814,925                 0.74x
2033 2,448,447 1,837,837 610,610                     140,000           14,169              140,000           20,800               400,000           100,000           814,969                 0.75x
2034 2,472,932 1,847,026 625,906                     145,000           11,579              145,000           18,000               410,000           90,000              819,579                 0.76x
2035 2,497,661 1,856,261 641,400                     145,000           8,838                145,000           15,100               420,000           79,750              813,688                 0.79x
2036 2,522,638 1,865,543 657,095                     150,000           6,040                150,000           12,200               435,000           69,250              822,490                 0.80x
2037 2,547,864 1,874,870 672,994                     155,000           3,085                150,000           9,200                 445,000           58,375              820,660                 0.82x
2038 2,573,343 1,884,245 689,098                     155,000           6,200                 455,000           47,250              663,450                 1.04x
2039 2,599,076 1,893,666 705,410                     155,000           3,100                 465,000           35,875              658,975                 1.07x
2040 2,625,067 1,903,134 721,933                     480,000           24,250              504,250                 1.43x
2041 2,651,318 1,912,650 738,668                     490,000           12,250              502,250                 1.47x
Totals 6,325,141$            2,400,000$       471,579$          2,400,000$       575,967$          7,200,000$       2,182,000$       21,554,686$         

(1)  Does not include depreciation or any other 'noncash' items.

$2,400,000
2017 SWIFT

$2,400,000
2019 SWIFT

$7,200,000
2021 SWIFT

45‐A 2 years io

 



46

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
Revenues 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
Charges for Services 1,790,824$ 1,729,842$ 1,675,033$ 1,696,806$ 1,610,496$ 

Expenses
Cost of Water 439,818$    402,140$    374,004$    388,035$    404,553$    
Cost of Labor 445,725      447,058      386,470      296,116      338,928      
Repair and Maintenance 30,656        61,434        75,633        26,515        67,855        
Utilities 97,396        86,545        97,062        97,523        92,312        
Vehicle Expenses 12,457        15,204        16,305        10,239        18,822        
Insurance 6,641          7,292          6,674          6,536          7,314          
Contractual Services 372,624      160,791      178,555      37,265        30,209        
Depreciation 279,448      270,624      266,633      306,173      
Other 47,344        155,148      208,804      247,994      24,418        
Total Expense 1,452,661$ 1,615,060$ 1,614,131$ 1,376,856$ 1,290,584$ 

Operating Income (Loss) 338,163$    114,782$    60,902$      319,950$    319,912$    

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment Income 2,358$        1,113$        2,585$        3,291$        
Developer Contributions 800,000      -              -              -              
Gain on Sale of Assets 3,229          -              -              -              
Interest Expense and Amoratizataion (211,563)     (226,421)     (159,044)     (208,385)     
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) -$            594,024$    (225,308)$   (156,459)$   (205,094)$   

Income Before Transers 338,163$    708,806$    (164,406)$   163,491$    114,818$    

Transfers (Out) -              -              (98,679)       
338,163$    708,806$    (164,406)$   163,491$    16,139$      

Beginning Net Assets 3,560,000   3,563,581   3,727,987   3,573,136   3,556,997   
Prior Period Adjustment (11,664)       -              (8,640)         
Ending Net Assets 3,898,163$ 4,260,723$ 3,563,581$ 3,727,987$ 3,573,136$ 

Page 1

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS 
 
 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
 FISCAL YEAR ENDED 
 
 SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

 



 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page
FINANCIAL SECTION

Independent Auditor’s Report…………………………………………………………… 3
Management's Discussion and Analysis………………………………………………… 6

Basic Financial Statements
Government-wide Financial Statements:

Statement of Net Position............................................................................................ 13
Statement of Activities................................................................................................. 14

Fund Financial Statements:
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds.......................................................................... 15
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position..................................................... 16
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in

Fund Balances - Governmental Funds................................................................... 17
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities.................. 18
Statement of Net Position- Proprietary Fund............................................................... 19
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in

Fund Net Position - Proprietary Fund.................................................................... 20
Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund............................................................... 21

Notes to the Financial Statements .................................................................................... 23

Required Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedules:

   General Fund.......................................................................................................... 45
Schedule of Change in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios…………………… 46
Schedule of Contributions…………………………………………………………… 47
Notes to Required Supplementary Information……………………………………… 48

CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
TABLE OF CONTENTS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015



 

3 

  
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and members  
   of the City Council 
City of Justin, Texas 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, and each major fund of City of Justin, Texas (the City) as of and for the year ended September 
30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 
 

    3020 Northwest Loop, Stephenville, TX 76401  T:254-965-7321 F:254-965-4245 www.bmy-cpa.com
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each major 
fund of the City as of September 30, 2015, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matters 
 
Management adopted the provisions of the following Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statements, which became effective during the year ended September 30, 2015 and required the 
restatement of net position as discussed in Note XI to the financial statements:  
 

 Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an amendment of GASB 
Statement No. 27. 
 

 Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement 
Date—an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 
 

The emphasis of these matters does not constitute a modification to our opinions. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, schedule of change in Net Position Liability 
and Related Ratios, Schedule of Contributions, and Notes to Required Supplementary Information on 
pages 3 through 9 and 44 through 48 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
 
 
 
Stephenville, Texas 
June 20, 2016 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
As management of the City of Justin, we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this narrative 
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015.   
 
Management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) has been designed to [1] assist readers and interested 
parties in focusing on significant financial issues [2] provide an overview of the City’s financial activity, 
[3] identify changes in the City’s financial position, including its ability to address the next and subsequent 
years challenges, [4] identify material deviations from the approved budgets adopted by the City Council 
(those charged with governance), and [5]  identify individual fund issues or concerns.   
 
Because MD&A focuses on the current year’s activity, resulting changes and currently known facts, you 
are encouraged to read it in conjunction with the basic financial statements including notes thereto, 
required supplemental information, and other supplementary data provided below. 
 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 The City’s assets exceeded its liabilities at September 30, 2015 by $10,346,945, an increase of $993,028 
from the prior year. 
 

 At September 30, 2015 the City’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $2,284,445, an 
increase of $386,300 from the prior year. 
 

 The City’s capital assets, reported at cost less accumulated depreciation, total $15,586,566 at September 
30, 2015 while the City’s long-term debt totaled $9,933,540 at September 30, 2015. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. 
The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.   

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector 
business. There are two government-wide statements: the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities.  

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets and deferred outflows of 
resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources with the difference between them presented as 
net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether 
the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and 
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal 
periods (e.g., arbitrage rebate owed but not due until a future year and earned but unused vacation leave).
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Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, physical 
environment, and transportation. The business-type activities of the City include water, wastewater and 
solid waste and emergency transportation services.  

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City of Justin (the primary government) but 
also the legally separate Justin Economic Development Corporation (JEDC) and Justin Community 
Development Corporation (JCDC) (the component units). Financial information for JEDC and JCDC are 
reported separately from the financial information reported for the City of Justin. The government-wide 
financial statements can be found on pages 13-14 of this report. 

 
Fund financial statements.   The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the most 
significant funds -not the City as a whole.  Some funds are required to be established by State law and by 
bond covenants.  However, the City Council may establish other funds to help it control and manage 
money for particular purposes.  The City’s kinds of funds - governmental and proprietary - use different 
accounting approaches. 
 
 Governmental funds - Most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which 

focus on how money flows into and out of the funds and the balances left at the end of the year that are 
available for spending.  These funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual 
accounting, which measures cash and all other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash.  
The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City’s general government 
operations and the basic services it provides.  Governmental fund information helps you determine 
whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the 
City’s programs.  We describe the relationship (or differences) between governmental activities 
(reported in the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds in 
reconciliation at the bottom of the fund financial statements.  The governmental fund statements can be 
found on pages 18-20 of this report. 

 
 Proprietary funds - When the City charges customers for the services it provides, these services are 

generally reported in proprietary funds.  Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all 
activities are reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities.  In fact, the 
City’s water and sewer fund are the same as the business-type activities we report in the government-
wide statements but we provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows, for 
proprietary funds.  The proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 19-21 of this 
report. 

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the 
financial statements can be found on pages 23-39 of this report. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
The Statement of Net Position: 
 
The following table reflects the condensed statement of net position: 
 

 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Current and Other Assets $ 2,607,538      $ 2,209,494      $ 3,111,586      $ 2,506,541      $ 5,719,124      $ 4,716,035      
Capital and Non-Current Assets 8,066,403      8,318,193      7,502,163      7,069,856      15,568,566    15,388,049    
Total Assets 10,673,941    10,527,687    10,613,749    9,576,397      21,287,690    20,104,084    

Total Deferred Outflows 27,370           3,678             9,108             9,638             36,478           13,316           

Current Liabilities 309,153         312,753         678,688         373,061         987,841         685,814         
Long Term Liabilities 4,260,916      4,381,564      5,668,463      5,649,393      9,929,379      10,030,957    
Total Liabilities 4,570,069      4,694,317      6,347,151      6,022,454      10,917,220    10,716,771    

Total Deferred Inflows 45,020           -                 14,983           -                 60,003           -                 

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 3,948,419      4,078,416      1,861,319      1,452,406      5,809,738      5,530,822      
Restricted 1,305,397      1,547,553      -                 -                 1,305,397      1,547,553      
Unrestricted 832,406         211,079         2,399,404      2,111,175      3,231,810      2,322,254      
Total Net Position $ 6,086,222      $ 5,837,048     $ 4,260,723    $ 3,563,581    $ 10,346,945    $ 9,400,629    

Statement of Net Position

Activities
Governmental Business-type

Activities Totals

 
 
The City’s capital assets (land, building, equipment and infrastructure) represent 73% of the City’s total 
assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to the City’s citizens; consequently, these 
assets are not available for future spending.   
 
The City’s net position increased $993,028 (10.6%) during the fiscal year to a balance of $10,346,945.  
Restricted net position is $1,305,397, and represents net resources that are subject to external restrictions 
on how they may be used.  Unrestricted net position totals $3,231,810 or 31% of total net position and may 
be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to its citizens and creditors. 
 
The largest portion of the City’s net position is its net investment in capital assets of $5,809,738.  This 
amount represents the City’s total capital assets less the related debt used to acquire the capital assets.  
Although the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the 
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the assets themselves 
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
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Statement of Activities:  
 
The following table provides a summary of the City’s changes in net position. 
 
 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Revenues $ $ $ $ $ $

Program Revenues:
Charges for Services 435,229         226,598         1,729,842      1,675,033      2,165,071      1,901,631      
Operating Grants 

and Contributions 144,072         43,363           -                 -                 144,072         43,363           
Capital Grants 

and Contributions -                 12,675           800,000         -                 800,000         12,675           
General Revenues:
Property taxes 1,636,391      1,586,165      -                 -                 1,636,391      1,586,165      
Sales taxes 1,203,536      1,150,062      -                 -                 1,203,536      1,150,062      
Franchise and local taxes 207,900         205,773         -                 -                 207,900         205,773         
Investment earnings 5,224             2,237             2,358             1,113             7,582             3,350             
Miscellaneous 150,631         5,786             -                 -                 150,631         5,786             
Gain on sale of assets 14,538           -                 3,229             17,767           
Total Revenues 3,797,521      3,232,659      2,535,429      1,676,146      6,332,950      4,908,805      

Expenses
General government 865,522         636,268         -                 -                 865,522         636,268         
Police department 617,184         570,464         -                 -                 617,184         570,464         
Fire services 321,620         301,200         -                 -                 321,620         301,200         
Municipal court 124,760         122,796         -                 -                 124,760         122,796         
Public works 803,357         813,453         -                 -                 803,357         813,453         
Parks and recretation 364,160         326,541         -                 -                 364,160         326,541         
Library 47,273           56,211           -                 -                 47,273           56,211           
Inspection 191,115         87,356           -                 -                 191,115         87,356           
Interest and amortization 178,308         194,466         211,563         226,421         389,871         420,887         
Water and sewer -                 -                 1,615,060      1,614,131      1,615,060      1,614,131      
Total Expenses 3,513,299      3,108,755      1,826,623      1,840,552      5,339,922      4,949,307      

Change in net position 284,222         123,904         708,806         (164,406)        993,028         (40,502)          

Net position-Beginning,
as previously stated 5,837,048      5,713,144      3,563,581      3,727,987      9,400,629      9,441,131      

Prior period adjustment (35,048)          -                 (11,664)          -                 (46,712)          -                 
Net position-Beginning,

as restated 5,802,000      5,713,144      3,551,917      3,727,987      9,353,917      9,441,131      

Net Position, Ending $ 6,086,222      $ 5,837,048      $ 4,260,723    $ 3,563,581    $ 10,346,945    $ 9,400,629     

Governmental 
Activities

Business-type
Activities

Statement of Changes in Net Position

Total

 
 
The government’s net position increased by $993,028 during the fiscal year, compared to the prior year 
decrease of $40,502.  Governmental activities had an increase in net position of $284,222 compared to the 
prior year increase of $123,904.  Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $708,806 
compared to a decrease in the prior year of $164,406.   
 
Governmental activities revenues increased $564,862 (17%) primarily due to increases in property tax and 
permit fee collections during 2015 compared to 2014.  Total governmental activities expenses increased 
$404,544 (13%) from the prior fiscal year.  Governmental activities expenses include depreciation expense 
of $683,390 and interest expense of $178,308.  The depreciation expense is allocated to the 
function/program that primarily used the related capital asset.
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Business-type activities revenues increased $859,283 (51.27%) primarily due to an $800,000 developer 
contribution to be used for system improvements.  Business-type expenses decreased $13,929 from 2014. 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 
 
The focus of the City’s governmental fund is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and 
balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing 
requirements; in particular, unreserved fund balance may serve a measure of a government’s net resources 
available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
The City’s governmental funds include the general fund and special revenue fund.  The special revenue 
fund is used to account for the activities of the City’s blended component units; the Justin Economic 
Development Corporation (EDC) and the Justin Community Development Corporation (CDC.)  These 
entities are controlled by the City Council of the City of Justin and their revenues are restricted for 
economic and community development as described in their by-laws.   
 
The City’s governmental fund balance at September 30, 2015 totaled $2,284,445.  The fund balance 
includes funds restricted for economic development ($553,305) and community development ($752,092.)  
The unassigned fund balance at September 30, 2015 is $979,048. 
 
 
 GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS   
 
Actual general fund revenues exceeded budgeted revenues by $605,945 (24%) primarily due to an increase 
in sales tax and license and permit revenues over their respective budgeted revenues.  Actual general fund 
expenditures exceeded budgeted expenditures by $459,397 (18%) primarily due to police department 
($138,648) and public works ($143,394) expenditures exceeding budgeted expenditures.  Other financing 
sources and uses revenues and expenditures included proceeds from capital leases of $157,241 and 
transfers in from JEDC and JCDC of $184,145.  Neither of these items was included in budgeted revenues 
or expenditures. 
 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
At September 30, 2015 the City’s governmental activities had invested $8,066,403 in capital assets 
including land, building, vehicles, equipment and infrastructure.  Depreciation is included with the 
governmental capital assets as required by GASB Statement #34.  The City’s business-type activities had 
invested $7,502,163 in capital assets including land, building, vehicles, equipment and infrastructure. 
 
Capital asset purchases during the 2015 fiscal year include IT improvements of $29,190, park 
improvements of $57,278, building improvements of $6,245, police vehicle and equipment purchases of 
$161,841, municipal maintenance equipment purchases of $73,146, community center/council chambers 
improvements of $49,550, drainage improvement of $20,750 and water and sewer improvements and 
equipment purchases of $706,299.  More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is presented 
in Note IV to the financial statements. 
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LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
At the end of the current year, the City had total bonds outstanding of $9,310,000.  The City did not issue 
any new bonds during the fiscal year and all bond payments were made as scheduled during the fiscal year. 
More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note V to the financial 
statements. 
 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS 
 
Fiscal year 2016 general fund budgeted revenues are $2,646,350 and budgeted expenditures are 
$2,645,331 leaving a budgeted surplus of $1,019.  Water and sewer fund 2016 budgeted revenues total 
$1,853,850 and budgeted expenses total $1,830,158 leaving a budgeted surplus of $23,692. 
 
Total budgeted capital outlays are $157,359 for the general fund and $60,514 for the water and sewer 
fund.  Budgeted capital outlay includes police vehicles and equipment ($72,000), park improvements and 
equipment ($32,000), municipal maintenance equipment ($50,359), office computer equipment ($3,000) 
and water and sewer equipment ($60,514.) 
 
 
CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the City of Justin.  If you have questions about this report or need any additional information, 
contact the City Secretary at 415 N. College Street, Justin, TX  76247 or at 940-648-2541. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Primary Government
Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
ASSETS:
Cash and equivalents 1,994,135$       2,755,454$     4,749,589$     
Certificates of deposit 308,770            -                 308,770          
Receivables, net of allowance of $21,451 in
       business-type activities 304,633            232,137          536,770          
Restricted cash and equivalents -                    33,995            33,995            
Restricted certificates of deposit -                    90,000            90,000            
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):

Land 1,954,896         628,307          2,583,203       
Infrastructure 4,546,190         6,818,725       11,364,915     
Buildings and improvements 484,615            -                     484,615          
Equipment and vehicles 1,080,702         55,131            1,135,833       

          Total Assets 10,673,941       10,613,749     21,287,690     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS:
Deferred retirement contributions 17,910              5,960              23,870            
Deferred investment experience 9,460                3,148              12,608            

Total Deferred Outflows 27,370              9,108              36,478            

          Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 10,701,311       10,622,857     21,324,168     

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 272,429            524,877          797,306          
Accrued interest payable 21,076              29,816            50,892            
Customer deposits -                        123,995          123,995          
Unearned revenues 15,648              -                     15,648            
Noncurrent liabilities-
     Due within one year 301,870            343,717          645,587          
     Due in more than one year 3,962,168         5,325,785       9,287,953       
     Net pension liability (asset) (3,122)              (1,039)            (4,161)             
          Total Liabilities 4,570,069         6,347,151       10,917,220     

DEFERRED INFLOWS:
Deferred Actual vs. Assumption 45,020              14,983            60,003            

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 3,948,419         1,861,319       5,809,738       
Restricted For:
   Community development 752,092            -                     752,092          
   Economic development 553,305            -                     553,305          
Unrestricted 832,406            2,399,404       3,231,810       
Total Net Position 6,086,222$       4,260,723$     10,346,945$   

 
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Fines, Fees, and Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT:

Governmental Activities:
   General government $ 865,522 $ 15,060               $ -                     $ -                    $ (850,462) $ -                $ (850,462)
   Police department 617,184 7,766                 10,208               -                    (599,210) -                (599,210)
   Fire services 321,620 -                     -                     -                    (321,620) -                (321,620)
   Municipal court 124,760 106,572             -                     -                    (18,188) -                (18,188)
   Public works 803,357 -                     -                     -                    (803,357) -                (803,357)
   Parks and recreation 364,160 26,755               6,015                 -                    (331,390) -                (331,390)
   Library 47,273 3,579                 13,509               -                    (30,185) -                (30,185)
   Inspection 191,115 275,497             114,340             -                    198,722 -                198,722
   Interest and Amortization 178,308 -                     -                     -                    (178,308) -                (178,308)
     Total Governmental Activities 3,513,299 435,229 144,072 0 (2,933,998) -                (2,933,998)

Business-type Activities:
Water and Sewer 1,826,623 1,729,842 -                     800,000            -                     703,219 703,219

Total Business-type Activities 1,826,623 1,729,842 -                     800,000            -                     703,219 703,219
Total Primary Government $ 5,339,922 $ 2,165,071 $ 144,072           $ 800,000 (2,933,998) 703,219 (2,230,779)

Taxes:
   Property 1,636,391 -                1,636,391
   Sales 1,203,536 -                1,203,536
   Franchise 207,900 -                207,900
Investment earnings 5,224 2,358 7,582
Miscellaneous revenues 150,631 -                150,631
Gain on sale of assets 14,538 3,229            17,767
     Total general revenues 3,218,220 5,587 3,223,807

     Change in net position 284,222 708,806 993,028

Net position - Beginning, as previously stated 5,837,048 3,563,581 9,400,629
Prior Period Adjustment - cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (35,048) (11,664) (46,712)

Net position - Beginning, as restated 5,802,000 3,551,917 9,353,917

Net position - Ending $ 6,086,222 $ 4,260,723 $ 10,346,945

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Total
General Justin Justin Governmental

Fund EDC CDC Funds

ASSETS:
Assets:
Cash and equivalents 1,085,365$            518,935$               389,835$               1,994,135$            
Certificates of deposit 2,490                     -                        306,280                 308,770                 
Receivables, net 192,897                 55,868                   55,868                   304,633                 
Due from other funds 21,389                   -                        109                        21,498                   
      Total Assets 1,302,141$            574,803$               752,092$               2,629,036$            

LIABILITIES:
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 272,429$               -$                          -                        272,429$               
Due to other funds -                        21,498                   -                        21,498                   
Unearned revenue 15,648                   -                        -                        15,648                   
     Total Liabilities 288,077 21,498 -                        309,575

DEFERRED INFLOWS:
Deferred property taxes 35,016                   -                        -                        35,016                   

Total liabilities and deferred inflows 323,093$               21,498$                 -$                      344,591$               

FUND BALANCE:
Restricted Fund Balances:
   Community Development -                        -                        752,092                 752,092                 
   Economic Development -                        553,305                 -                        553,305                 
Unassigned 979,048 -                        -                        979,048                 
           Total Fund Balance 979,048 553,305 752,092                 2,284,445

           Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows,
                and Fund Balance 1,302,141$            574,803$               752,092$               2,629,036$            

 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Total fund balances - governmental funds balance sheet 2,284,445$   

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because:

8,066,403     

35,016 

Net pension liability       3,122 
Deferred retirement contributions     17,910 
Deferred investment experience       9,460 
Deferred actual vs. assumption   (45,020) (14,528)        

(4,285,114)   

Net position of governmental activities 6,086,222$   

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and 
therefore are not reported in the governmental funds balance sheet.

Long-term liabilities, including capital leases and the related interest payable, and 
compensated absences are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are 
not reported in the fund financial statements

Revenues earned but not available within sixty days of the year end are not recognized 
as revenue on the fund financial statements.

The statement of net position includes the City's proportionate share of the TMRS net 
pension liability as well as certain pension related transactions accounted for as 
Deferred Inflows and Outflows of resources.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Total
General Justin Justin Governmental

Fund EDC CDC Funds

REVENUE
Taxes:
   Property 1,621,243$    -$                      -$                      1,621,243$    
   Sales and beverage 615,432         294,052             294,052             1,203,536
   Franchise and local 207,900         -                    -                    207,900
License and permits 406,408         -                    -                    406,408
Fines and forfeitures 114,953         -                    -                    114,953
Charges for services 28,216           -                    -                    28,216
Intergovernmental 12,500           -                    -                    12,500
Contributions and donations 17,224           -                    -                    17,224
Investment income 742                1,138                 3,344                 5,224
Other revenue 150,631         -                    -                    150,631
     Total revenues 3,175,249 295,190 297,396 3,767,835

EXPENDITURES
Current:
   General government 523,777         257,460             131,881             913,118
   Police department 753,862         -                    -                    753,862
   Fire services 321,620         -                    -                    321,620
   Municipal court 127,434         -                    -                    127,434
   Public works 367,298         -                    -                    367,298
   Parks and recreation 373,754         -                    -                    373,754
   Library 37,853           -                    -                    37,853
   Inspection 189,424         -                    -                    189,424
Debt Service:
   Principal 179,125         50,000               65,000               294,125
   Interest and fiscal charges 79,617           40,820               54,389               174,826
     Total Expenditures 2,953,764 348,280 251,270 3,553,314
        Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
        Over (Under) Expenditures 221,485 (53,090) 46,126 214,521

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
   Transfers in 184,145         80,796               -                    264,941
   Transfers out -                (95,750)             (169,191)           (264,941)
   Proceeds from capital leases 157,241         -                    -                    157,241
   Proceeds from sale of assets 14,538           -                    -                    14,538
     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 355,924         (14,954)             (169,191)           171,779         

        Net Change in Fund Balances 577,409 (68,044) (123,065) 386,300

Fund Balances - Beginning 401,639 621,349 875,157 1,898,145

Fund Balances - Ending 979,048$       553,305$           752,092$           2,284,445$    
 

 
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 386,300$           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

(683,390)

431,600

15,148

20,520

196

(19,358)

(3,678)

136,884

Change in net position of governmental activities 284,222$           

Depreciation expense on capital assets is reported in the statement of activities and does not require the 
use of current financial resources.  Therefore, depreciation expense is not reported as expenditures in 
the governmental funds.

Certain revenues in the government-wide statement of activities that do not provide current financial 
resources are not reported as revenue in the governmental funds.

Net pension assets as well as the related deferred inflows and outflows of resources generated from 
those assets are not payable from current resources and therefore, are not reported in the governmental 
funds.  These balances increased (decreased) by this amount.

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to 
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current 
financial resources of governmental funds. 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of activities the 
cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives.

Current year changes in accrued interest payable do not require the use of current financial resources 
and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds

Current year changes in compensated absences do not require the use of current financial resources and 
therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds

Governmental funds report the effect of deferred gains and losses from the issuance of refunding bonds 
when the debt is first issued, whereas the amounts are capitalized and amortized in the statement of 
activities.  

 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND
SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Enterprise Fund
ASSETS: Water and Sewer Fund
Current Assets:
Cash and equivalents 2,755,454$                       
Receivables, net of allowance of $22,817 232,137                            
Restricted cash and equivalents 33,995                              
Restricted certificates of deposit 90,000                              
          Total Current Assets 3,111,586

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital Assets:
   Land 628,307                            
   Infrastructure 10,412,119                       
   Equipment and vehicles 365,896                            
   Less Accumulated Depreciation (3,904,159)                       
          Total Noncurrent Assets 7,502,163                         
          Total Assets 10,613,749                       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS:
Deferred retirement contributions 5,960                                
Deferred investment experience 3,148                                

Total Deferred Outflows 9,108                                

          Total Assets and Deferred Inflows 10,622,857

LIABILITIES:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable 186,834                            
Accrued expenses 338,043                            
Accrued interest 29,816                              
Customer deposits 123,995                            
Current portion of long-term liabilities 343,717                            
          Total Current Liabilities 1,022,405
Noncurrent Liabilities:
   Net pension liability (asset) (1,039)
   Bonds payable 5,008,067                         
   Capital lease 306,444                            
   Compensated absences 11,274                              
          Total Noncurrent Liabilities 5,324,746
          Total Liabilities 6,347,151

DEFERRED INFLOWS:
Deferred Actual vs. Assumption 14,983$                        

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 1,861,319
Unrestricted 2,399,404
          Total net position 4,260,723$                       

 
 
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer

Fund
OPERATING REVENUES:
   Charges for services 1,729,842$                     
      Total Operating Revenues 1,729,842

OPERATING EXPENSES:
   Cost of water 402,140                          
   Cost of labor 447,058                          
   Repair and maintenance 61,434                            
   Utilities 86,545                            
   Vehicle expense 15,204                            
   Insurance 7,292                              
   Contractual services 160,791                          
   Depreciation 279,448                          
   Other operating expense 155,148                          
      Total Operating Expenses 1,615,060

      Operating Income (loss) 114,782

Non-operating Revenues (Expenses)
   Interest revenue 2,358                              
   Developer contributions 800,000                          
   Gain on sale of assets 3,229                              
   Interest and amortization expense (211,563)                         
      Total Non-operating Revenues (Expenses) 594,024

Change in Net Position 708,806

Net position - Beginning, as previously stated 3,563,581
Prior Period Adjustment - cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (11,664)

Net position - Beginning, as restated 3,551,917

Net Position - Ending 4,260,723$                     
 

  
 

 
 
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer

Fund
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash received from customers 1,729,882$                 
Cash paid to employees (340,364)
Cash paid to suppliers (705,413)                     

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 684,105

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Principal repayment on debt (283,050)
Interest and fees paid on debt issuance (194,902)
Purchase of capital assets (405,311)
Proceeds received for capital improvement 800,000
Proceeds on sale of capital assets 3,229

Net Cash Used in Capital & Related Financing Activities (80,034)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest on investments 2,358

Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities 2,358

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 606,429

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 2,183,020

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 2,789,449$                 

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided By Operating Activities:

Operating Income 114,782$                    
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash
  Provided by Operating Activities

Depreciation and amortization 279,448                      
Water sales given in-kind to decrease long-term debt (6,914)                         

Change in Assets and Liabilities:
Decrease in receivables 1,384                          
Increase in deferred outflows (4,402)                         
Increase in net pension asset (17,409)                       
Increase in accounts payable 293,034                      
Increase in compensated absences 3,629                          
Increase in customer deposits 5,570                          
Increase in deferred inflows 14,983                        
    Total Adjustments 569,323

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 684,105$                   
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

The City of Justin, Texas (the City) was incorporated in 1947 and operates under a Council-City 
Manager form of government.  The City provides:  police; code enforcement; public works; street 
repair and maintenance; parks; general administrative services; water; wastewater; and sanitation.  
The City is an independent political subdivision of the State of Texas governed by an elected 
council and a mayor and is considered a primary government.   

 
The accounting policies of the City conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP) applicable to state and local governments.  General accepted 
accounting principles for local governments include those principles prescribed by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants in the publication entitled Audits of State and Local Governmental Units.  The 
more significant accounting policies of the City are described below: 

 
A.  The Reporting Entity 

 
As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, these 
financial statements include the primary government and organizations for which the primary 
government is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and 
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would 
cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 
 
The definition of the reporting entity is based primarily on the notion of financial 
accountability.  A primary government is financially accountable for the organizations that 
make up its legal entity.  It is also financially accountable for legally separate organizations if 
its officials appoint a voting majority of an organization’s government body and either it is 
able to impose its will on that organization or there is a potential for the organization to 
provide specific financial benefits to, or to impose specific financial burdens on, the primary 
government.  A primary government may also be financially accountable for governmental 
organizations that are fiscally dependent on it. 
 
A primary government has the ability to impose its will on an organization if it can 
significantly influence the programs, projects, or activities of, or the level of services 
performed or provided by, the organization.  A financial benefit or burden relationship exists if 
the primary government (a) is entitled to the organization’s resources; (b) is legally obligated 
or has otherwise assumed the obligation to finance the deficits of, or provide financial support 
to, the organization; or (c) is obligated in some manner for the debt of the organization.   
 
Some organizations are included as component units because of the fiscal dependency on the 
primary government.  An organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government if it is 
unable to adopt its budget, levy taxes, set rates or charges, or issue bonded debt without 
approval by the primary government. 
 
The following entities were found to be component units of the City and are included in the 
accompanying financial statements: 
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

A.  The Reporting Entity (continued) 
 
Justin Economic Development Corporation - The Justin Economic Development Corporation 
(JEDC) is governed by a board of five directors, all of whom are appointed by the City 
Council of the City of Justin and any of whom can be removed from office by the City Council 
at its will.  The JEDC was incorporated in the state of Texas as a non-profit industrial 
development corporation under Section 4A of the Development Corporation Act of 1979.  The 
Corporation was organized for the purpose of the promotion and development of new and 
expanded business enterprises and to provide and encourage employment in the furtherance of 
the public welfare. 
 
 
Justin Community Development Corporation – The Justin Community Development 
Corporation (JCDC) is governed by a board of seven directors, all of whom are appointed by 
the City Council of the City of Justin and any of whom can be removed from office by the 
City’s Council at its’ will.  The JCDC was incorporated in the state of Texas as a non-profit 
industrial development corporation under Section 4B of the Development Corporation Act of 
1979.  The purpose of the JCDC is to promote economic and community development within 
the City of Justin.   
 
Separate financial statement of theses component units have not been prepared. 
 
 

B.  Basis of Presentation 
 

Government-wide Statements:  
 
The statement of net position and the statement of activities include the financial activities of 
the overall government. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-
type activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, 
intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are 
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.  
 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program 
revenues for the business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City's 
governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a 
program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. The City 
does not allocate indirect expenses in the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) 
fees, fines, and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and 
(b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, 
including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.  
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

B.  Basis of Presentation (continued) 
 
Fund Financial Statements: 
 
The fund financial statements provide information about the City's funds, with separate 
statements presented for each fund category. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on 
major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column.  There were no 
other funds to be aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. 

 
Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange 
transactions associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those 
in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, 
such as subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary 
activities. 
 
The City reports the following major Governmental funds: 

 
The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. This fund is used to account for 
all financial resources not reported in other funds.  All general tax revenues and other 
receipts that are not restricted by law or contractual agreement to some other fund are 
accounted for in this fund.   General operating expenditures, fixed charges and capital 
improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General Fund. 
 
The Justin EDC fund collects sales tax for the purpose of the promotion and development 
of new and expanded business enterprises and to provide and encourage employment in 
the furtherance of the public welfare.  All EDC activity is accounted for in this fund. 
 
The Justin CDC fund collects sales tax for the purpose of promoting economic and 
community development within the City of Justin.  All CDC activity is accounting for in 
this fund.   

 
The City reports the following major Enterprise fund: 

 
The Utility Fund reports for revenues and expenses associated with water, sewer, garbage 
and EMS services for the citizens of the City.  Activities of the fund include 
administration, operations, and maintenance of the water, sewer and sanitation system and 
billing and collection activities.  The fund also accounts for the accumulation of resources 
for, and the payment of, long-term debt principal and interest for enterprise debt.  All costs 
are financed through charges to utility and EMS customers with rates reviewed regularly 
and adjusted if necessary to ensure integrity of the funds. 
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

C.  Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
 

The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the 
economic resources measurement focus. The government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements are reported using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows. Non-exchange transactions, in which the City gives (or receives) value 
without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, 
entitlements, and donations. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which 
they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  

 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as 
soon as they are both measureable and available. Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectable within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities 
of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are 
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and 
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
The City's governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of 
accounting.  Their revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available as net 
current assets. Property taxes, interest revenue, charges for services and sales tax revenues are 
susceptible to accrual.  Franchise taxes, fines and permits revenues are not susceptible to 
accrual because generally they are not measurable until received in cash. Expenditures are 
generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related fund 
liability is incurred. 
 

D.  Budgetary Control 
 

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles for general fund. The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and 
department.  Transfers of appropriations between departments require the approval of the city 
council.  The legal level of budget control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally 
exceed appropriations) is the department level. 
 
Appropriations in all budgeted funds lapse at the end of the fiscal year.  While all 
appropriations lapse at year end, surpluses may be re-appropriated and become part of the 
subsequent year’s budget pursuant to state regulations. 
 

E.  Cash and Equivalents 
 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, highly liquid investments are considered to be 
cash equivalents if they have an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. 
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

F.  Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets purchased or constructed are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. 
Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of the donation. The 
cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.   Public domain ("infrastructure") general fixed assets 
consisting of certain improvements other than buildings, including roads, bridges, curbs and 
gutters, streets and sidewalks, drainage systems, and lighting systems, are capitalized along 
with other capital assets. 
 
Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives using the straight line method.  
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 
Infrastructure    10 – 25 years 
Buildings and improvements    5 – 40 years 
Equipment and vehicles     2 – 40 years 

 
G.  Accrued Compensated Absences 

 
The City Council has adopted a policy whereby employees are paid lump sum payments for 
unused vacation if they leave City employment.  Upon termination, up to one year of 
accumulated vacation at full pay will be paid if the employee meets the prescribed conditions.  
Employees are not compensated for unused sick leave. 
 

H.  Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows 
of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  An 
example is a deferred loss on refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net 
position.  A deferred loss on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of 
refunded debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and amortized over the 
shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows 
of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The government has 
only one type of item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting that 
qualifies for reporting in this category.  Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported 
only in the governmental funds balance sheet.  The governmental funds report unavailable 
revenues from one sources:  property taxes.  This amount is deferred and recognized as an 
inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
I.  Pensions 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 
Fiduciary Net Position of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and additions 
to/deductions from TMRS’s Fiduciary Net Position have been determined on the same basis as 
they are reported by TMRS.  For this purpose, plan contributions are recognized in the period 
that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when contributions are legally due.  
Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 

J.  Fund Balance and Net Position  
 

The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on classifications that 
comprise a hierarchy that is based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor 
constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the respective governmental funds 
can be spent. The classifications used in the governmental fund financial statements are as 
follows: 
 
 Non-spendable: This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are 

either (a) not in the spendable form or (b) are legally or contractually required to be 
maintained intact. Non spendable items are not expected to be converted to cash or are not 
expected to be converted to cash within the next year. 

 Restricted: This classification includes amounts for which constraints have been placed on 
the use of the resources either (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, 
or laws or regulations of other governments, or (b) imposed by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation.  

 Committed: This classification includes amounts that can be used only for specific 
purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by board resolution of the City Council, the 
City’s highest level of decision making authority. These amounts cannot be used for any 
other purpose unless the City Council removes or changes the specified use by taking the 
same type of action that was employed when the funds were initially committed. This 
classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources 
have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.  

 Assigned: This classification includes amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to 
be used for a specific purpose but are neither restricted nor committed. This intent can be 
expressed by the City Council. 

 Unassigned: This classification includes the residual fund balance for the General Fund. 
The unassigned classification also includes negative residual fund balance of any other 
governmental fund that cannot be eliminated by offsetting of assigned fund balance 
amounts.  
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
J.  Fund Balance and Net Position (continued) 

 
In circumstances where expenditure is to be made for a purpose for which amounts are 
available in multiple fund balance classifications, the order in which resources will be 
extended is as follows:  restricted fund balance, followed by committed fund balance, assigned 
fund balance, and lastly unassigned fund balance. Net position represents the difference 
between assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the 
acquisition, construction or improvements of those assets, and adding back unspent proceeds.  
Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on its use either 
through the enabling legislations adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed 
by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. In circumstances where an 
expense is to be made for a purpose for which amounts are available in multiple net position 
classifications, restricted position will be fully utilized first followed by unrestricted as 
necessary.  

 
 
K.  Use of Estimates  

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principals generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  
 

II. Deposits and Short-Term Investments 
 

Cash and investments as of September 30, 2015 consist of the following: 
 

Certificates
Cash Deposits TexStar of Deposit

Governmental activities:
   General fund 613,040                 472,325                2,490                    
   Economic development corporation 518,887                 48                         -                           
   Community development corporation 389,579                 256                       306,280                

Business-type activity:
   Water and sewer fund 65,056                   2,724,393             90,000                  

       Total 1,586,562$        3,197,022$       398,770$          
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II. Deposits and Short-Term Investments (continued) 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value 
of an investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of 
its fair value to changes in market interest rates.  One of the ways that the City manages its 
exposure to interest rate risk is by investing in investment pools which purchase a combination of 
shorter term investments with an average maturity of less than 30 days thus reducing the interest 
rate risk.  The City monitors the interest rate risk inherent in its portfolio by measuring the 
weighted average maturity of its portfolio.  The City has no specific limitations with respect to this 
metric.   
 
As of September 30, 2015, the City had investments in TexStar totaling $3,197,022 which had a 
weighted average maturity of 47 days and in certificates of deposit totaling $398,770 which had a 
weighted average maturity of approximately 2 years.   
 
As of September 30, 2015, the City was not invested in any securities which are highly sensitive to 
interest rate fluctuation. 
 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the 
holder of the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization.  The minimum rating required by (where applicable) the 
Public Funds Investment Act, the City’s investment policy, or debt agreements, is AAA.  The 
actual rating as of September 30, 2015 for TexStar was AAAm.  The certificates of deposit are 
unrated. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The investment policy of the City contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any 
one issuer.  As of September 30, 2015, other than external investment pools and certificates of 
deposit, the City did not have 5% or more of its investments with one issuer. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The custodial credit risk for 
investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transactions, a 
government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in 
the possession of another party.  The Public Funds Investment Act and the City’s investment 
policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit 
risk for deposits or investments, other than the following provision for deposits:  The Public Funds 
Investment Act requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by state or local 
governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository 
regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit).   
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II. Deposits and Short-Term Investments (continued) 
 
The market value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least the bank 
balance less the FDIC insurance at all times.  At September 30, 2015, the carrying amount of the 
City’s cash on hand and deposits were $1,586,562 and the bank balance was $1,780,441.  Of this 
amount, $834,041 is carried in the City’s name while $416,815 is carried by the Justin CDC and 
$529,585 by the Justin EDC.  $250,000 of the City’s bank balance was covered by depository 
insurance under the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC insured), with the remaining 
$584,041secured with securities held by pledging financial institutions.  The  Justin CDC bank 
balance is maintained at two different financial institutions, and was therefore fully FDIC insured. 
 $500,000 of the Justin EDC’s bank balance was FDIC insured leaving the remaining $29,585 not 
collateralized. 
 
Investment in State Investment Pools 
 
The City is a voluntary participant in the TexStar external investment pool.  The State Comptroller 
of Public Accounts exercises responsibility over TexStar.  Oversight includes the ability to 
significantly influence operations, designation of management, and accountability for fiscal 
matters.  Additionally, the State Comptroller has established an advisory board composed of both 
participants in TexStar and other persons who do not have a business relationship with TexStar.  
TexPool operates in a  manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule2a7 of the Investment Company Act 
of 1940.  TexStar uses amortized cost rather than market value to report net assets to compute 
share prices.  Accordingly, the fair value of the position in TexStar is the same as the value of 
TexStar shares 

 
III. Property Taxes 

 
Taxes assessed on valuations as of January 1 each year are levied during the subsequent fiscal year 
beginning October 1.  Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property at the time levied.  
Taxes are due on receipt of the tax bill and are delinquent if not paid before February 1 of the year 
following the year in which imposed.  On January 1 of each year a tax lien attaches to property to 
secure the payment of all taxes, penalties, and interest ultimately imposed.  Property tax revenues 
are considered available when they become due or past due and receivable within the current 
period and when they are expected to be collected during a 60 day period after the close of the 
fiscal year.  The City has its property taxes collected by the Denton County Tax 
Assessor/Collector.  Property taxes that are deemed uncollectible are presented as a reserve against 
revenues and property taxes receivable. 
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IV. Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets activity for the year ended September 30, 2015, is as follows: 
 

Beginning Additions/ Retirements/ Ending 
Balance Completions Adjustments Balance

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 1,954,896$    -$               -$               1,954,896$    
Total assets not being depreciated 1,954,896      -                 -                 1,954,896      

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Infrastructure 9,289,220      20,750           -                 9,309,970      

Buildings and Improvements 838,576         96,270           -                 934,846         

Equipment and Vehicles 1,603,274      314,580         35,374           1,882,480      

Total capital assets being depreciated 11,731,070    431,600         35,374           12,127,296    

Accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure 4,196,764      567,016         -                 4,763,780      
Buildings and Improvements 426,231         24,000           -                 450,231         
Equipment and Vehicles 744,778         92,374           35,374           801,778         

Total accumulated depreciation 5,367,773      683,390         35,374           6,015,789      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 6,363,297      (251,790)        -                 6,111,507      

Governmental activities capital assets, net 8,318,193$    (251,790)$      -$               8,066,403$    
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IV. Capital Assets (continued) 
 

Beginning Ending 
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 249,184$       -$               -$               249,184$       
Construction in process -                 379,123         -                 379,123         

Total assets not being depreciated 249,184         379,123         -                 628,307         

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Infrastructure 10,105,675    306,444         -                 10,412,119    
Equipment and Vehicles 361,841         26,188           22,133           365,896         

Total capital assets being depreciated 10,467,516    332,632         22,133           10,778,015    

Accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure 3,336,232      257,162         -                 3,593,394      
Equipment and Vehicles 310,612         22,286           22,133           310,765         

Total accumulated depreciation 3,646,844      279,448         22,133           3,904,159      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 6,820,672      53,184           -                 6,873,856      

Business-type activities capital assets, net 7,069,856$    432,307$       -$               7,502,163$    
 

 
Depreciation was charged to functions/programs of the government as follows: 
 
Governmental Activities:

General Government 15,554$       
Animal Control 1,691           
Library 9,420           
Municipal Court 1,115           
Parks 49,566         
Police 26,918         
Public Works 579,126       

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities 683,390$     

Business-type Activities:
Water 107,854$     
Sewer 171,594       

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities 279,448$     
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V. Long-term Debt 
 

At September 30, 2015, the City’s bonds payable consisted of the following: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The following is a summary of all long-term debt transactions of the City for the year ended 
September 30, 3015: 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Governmental Business-Type
2006 Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation due in 
annual installments through 2027, bearing interest at a rate ranging 
between 3.5 - 4.38% 1,511,100$         678,900$            

2008 Certificates of Obligation due in annual installments through 
2028, bearing interest at a rate ranging between 4.49 - 6.5% 860,000              -                      

2009 Certificates of Obligation due in annual installments through 
2030, bearing interest at a rate ranging between 2 - 4.5% 1,310,000           

2009 Revenue Certificates of Obligation due in annual installments 
through 2029, bearing interest at a rate ranging between 2 - 4.6% -                      2,370,000           

2014 Revenue Certificates of Obligation due in annual installments 
through 2029, bearing interest at a rate of 2.92% -                      1,605,000           

2014 General Obligation Refunding Bonds due in annual installments 
through 2025, bearing interest at a rate of 2.2% 294,500              680,500              

3,975,600$        5,334,400$        

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance Due within

Description 9/30/2014 Increases Decreases 9/30/2015 one year
Governmental activities:

Capital leases 12,227$         157,241$       27,084$         142,384$       41,748$         
Bonds payable 4,227,550      -                 251,950         3,975,600      245,050         
Compensated absences 36,264           19,358           -                 55,622           -                 
Due to state 105,523         -                 15,091           90,432           15,072           
         Governmental activities
             long-term liabilities 4,381,564$    176,599$       294,125$       4,264,038$    301,870$       

Business-type activities
Capital leases -$               306,444$       -$               306,444$       26,383$         
Bonds payable 5,617,450      -                 283,050         5,334,400      299,950         
Compensated absences 7,645             3,629             -                 11,274           -                 
Developer agreements payable 24,298           -                 6,914             17,384           17,384           
         Business-type activities
              long-term liabilities 5,649,393$    310,073$       289,964$       5,669,502$    343,717$       
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V. Long-term Debt (continued) 
 
The annual requirements to amortize all bonds payable outstanding as of September 30, 2015 are 
as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
The City was notified by the State Comptroller that the City received an overpayment of sales and 
use tax in the amount of $105,523.  The City will begin paying the sales tax in equal monthly 
installments, beginning October 2014.  The State Comptroller will withhold the monthly payment 
from the City’s received sales and use tax revenue.  The annual requirements to amortize due to 
state outstanding as of September 30, 2015 are $15,072 each year for the next 6 years with the 
final payment in 2021.   
 

Certificates of Obligation Total 
Due Fiscal Year Ending September 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Requirements

2016 229,950       174,900          215,050          154,479          774,379         
2017 241,500       166,889          223,500          146,026          777,915         
2018 248,050       158,494          231,950          137,273          775,767         
2019 261,150       149,160          243,850          142,024          796,184         
2020 267,700       139,352          252,300          131,032          790,384         

2021-2025 1,587,600    534,764          1,437,400       469,960          4,029,724      
2026-2030 1,817,950    172,987          1,077,050       124,786          3,192,773      

Total 4,653,900$ 1,496,546$    3,681,100$    1,305,580$     11,137,126$ 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds Total 
Due Fiscal Year Ending September 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Requirements

2016 70,000         14,850            30,000            6,600              121,450         
2017 70,000         13,310            30,000            5,940              119,250         
2018 73,500         11,770            31,500            5,280              122,050         
2019 70,000         10,120            30,000            4,620              114,740         
2020 77,000         8,580              33,000            3,960              122,540         

2021-2025 320,000       18,370            140,000          8,580              486,950         

680,500$    77,000$         294,500$       34,980$          1,086,980$   

Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities

Business-Type Activities

Governmental Activities
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VI. Capital Leases 
 

The City has entered into capital lease agreements.  Of the leased property under capital leases, 
$306,444 is classified as infrastructure with the remaining classified as equipment for a total 
capitalized cost of $472,275 and amortized value of approximately $449,003 at September 30, 
2015.  Amortization expense has been included in depreciation expense for the year ended 
September 30, 2015. 
 
The following is a schedule of future minimum payments under the capital leases together with the 
present value of the minimum lease payments as of September 30, 2015: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
VII. Retirement Plan 
 

Plan Description 
 
The City of Justin participates as one of 860 plans in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid 
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS).  
TMRS is an agency created by the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS 
Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS Act) as an agent multiple-employer 
retirement system for municipal employees in the State of Texas.  The TMRS Act places the 
general administration and management of the System with a six-member Board of Trustees.  
Although the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is 
not fiscally dependent on the State of Texas.  TMRS’s defined benefit pension plan is a tax-
qualified plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.  TMRS issue a publicly 
available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that can be obtained at tmrs.com 
 
All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits.  Benefit provisions are adopted by the 
governing body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS. 

Year Ending September 30
2016 86,692$          
2017 86,691            
2018 96,527            
2019 36,867            
2020 36,867            

Thereafter 184,337          

Total payments 527,981          
Less amount representing interest 79,153            

Present value of net minimum lease payments 448,828$       
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VII. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Benefits Provided (continued) 
 
At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, with interest, 
and the city-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity.  Member 
may choose to receive their retirement benefit in one of seven payment options.  Members may 
also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Sum Distribution in an amount 
equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the member’s deposits and 
interest. 
 
Plan provisions for the City were as follows: 
 

Plan Year 2013 Plan Year 2014
Employee deposit rate 5.0% 5.0%
Matching ratio (city to employee) 1 to 1 1 to 1
Updated service credit 100% repeating, 100% repeating,

transfers transfers
Annuity increase (to retirees) 0% of CPI 0% of CPI
Years required for vesting 5 5
Service retirement eligibility

(expressed as age/years of service) 60/5, 0/20 60/5, 0/20

 
At the December 31, 2014 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were 
covered by the benefit terms: 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Contributions 
 
The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross 
earnings, and the City matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by 
the governing body of the City.  Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for 
each city is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost 
method.  The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of 
benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded 
accrued liability. 
 
Employees for the City of Justin were required to contribute 5% of the annual gross earnings 
during the fiscal year.  The contribution rates for the City of Justin were 2.42% and 2.44% in 
calendar years 2014 and 2015, respectively.  The City’s contributions to TMRS for the year ended 
September 30, 2015 were $32,879, and were equal to the required contributions. 

Inactive employees of beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 5
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 18
Active employees 25

48
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VII. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 

Net Pension Liability 
 
The City’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2014, and the Total 
Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions: 
 
The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2014 actual valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Salary increases were based on a service related table.  Mortality rates for active members, retirees, 
and beneficiaries were based on the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table, 
with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103%.  The rates are projected 
on a fully generational basis by scale BB to account for future mortality improvements.  For 
disabled annuitants, the gender-distinct RP2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table is used, with 
slight adjustments. 
 
Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2014 valuation were based on the results of 
actuarial experience studies.  The experience study in TMRS was for the period January 1, 2006 
through December 31, 2009, first used in the December 31, 2010 valuation.  Healthy post-
retirement mortality rates and annuity purchase rates were updated based on a Mortality 
Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 2011, and dated December 31, 2013.  
These assumptions were first used in the December 31, 2013 valuation, along with a change to the 
Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method.  Assumptions are reviewed annually.  No 
additional changes were made for the 2014 valuation. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is 7.0%.  The pension plan’s 
policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the 
TMRS Board of Trustees.  Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on 
both capital appreciation as well as the production of income, in order to satisfy the short-term and 
long-term funding needs of TMRS. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by 
adding expected inflation.  The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return 
for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 

Inflation 3.0% per year
Overall payroll growth 3.0% per year
Investment Rate of Return 7.0%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation
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VII. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 

Net Pension Liability (continued) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 7.0%.  The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will 
be made at the rates specified in statute.  Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s Fiduciary 
Net Position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
active and in active employees.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the Total 
Pension Liability. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return (Arithmetic)

Domestic Equity 17.5% 4.80%
International Equity 17.5% 6.05%
Core Fixed Income 30.0% 1.50%
Non-Core Fixed Income 10.0% 3.50%
Real Return 5.0% 1.75%
Real Estate 10.0% 5.25%
Absolute Return 5.0% 4.25%
Provide Equity 5.0% 8.50%

Total 100.0%

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)
Balance at 12/31/2013 1,297,135$    1,231,578$    65,557$         
Changes for the year:

Service cost 70,781           -                 70,781           
Interest 89,613           -                 89,613           
Change of benefit terms -                 -                 -                 
Difference between expected and actual experience (74,939)          -                 (74,939)          
Changes of assumptions -                 -                 -                 
Contributions - employer -                 27,894           (27,894)          
Contributions - employee -                 57,625           (57,625)          
Net investment income -                 70,450           (70,450)          
Benefit payment, including refunds of employee contibutions (104,691)        (104,691)        -                 
Administrative expense -                 (736)               736                
Other changes -                 (60)                 60                  

Net changes (19,236)$        50,482$         (69,718)$        
Balance at 12/31/2014 1,277,899$    1,282,060$    (4,161)$          

Increase (Decrease)
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VII. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 
 
The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 
7.0%, as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.0%) or 1-percentage point higher (8.0%) than the 
current rate: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in a  separately-
issued TMRS financial report.  That report may be obtained on the internet at www.tmrs.com. 
 
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $5,570. 
 
At September 30, 2015, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
$23,870 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability 
for the year ending September 30, 2015.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows 
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

2015 (11,785)$                        
2016 (11,785)                          
2017 (11,785)                          
2018 (11,785)                          
2019 (254)                               

Thereafter -                                 

Year ended December 31:

 

1% Decrease in 1% Increase in
Discount Rate (6.0%) Discount Rate (8.0%)

City's net pension liability 177,380$                       (4,161)$                          (154,385)$                      

Discount Rate (7.0%)

Differences between expected and actual economic experience -$               60,003$         
Changes in actuarial assumptions -                 -                 
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings 12,608           -                 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 23,870           -                 

Total 36,478$         60,003$         

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources
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VIII. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

The City participates in grant programs which are governed by various rules and regulations of the 
grantor agencies.  Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and 
adjustment by the grantor agencies; therefore, to the extent that the City has not complied with the 
rules and regulations governing the grants, refunds of any money received may be required and 
collectability of any related receivable may be impaired.  In the opinion of the City, there were no 
significant contingent liabilities relating to compliance with the rules and regulations governing the 
respective grants; therefore, no provision has been recorded in the accompanying basic financial 
statement for such contingencies. 
 
In February 2013 a jury rendered a verdict of $163,473 against the City in relation to litigation 
related to eminent domain.  The City has appealed the verdict.  Subsequent to year-end, this 
litigation matter was settled.  Therefore, a liability has been recorded in the amount of $155,687, 
the amount of the settlement. 
 

IX. Interfund Activity 
 

The Justin CDC and EDC Funds transferred $88,395 and $70,750, respectively to the General 
Fund during the year for the purpose of providing funding for park projects, drive improvements 
and the City comprehensive plan.  The EDC Fund also transferred $25,000 for legal fees.  The 
Justin CDC Fund transferred $80,796 to the Justin EDC Fund for reimbursement of administrative 
costs.   
 
The City has the following interfund balances as of September 30, 2015: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The interfund balances are related to funds transferred from for operations during the year. All 
balances are expected to be repaid or collected in the normal course of business, within one year of 
the fiscal year-end.  

 
X. Risk Management 
 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The City insures its 
buildings and contents, law enforcement liability, public officials’ liability, general liability and 
auto liability under a renewable one year policy with the Texas Municipal League.  The City 
insures its workers compensation risk by participating in the Texas Municipal League 
Intergovernmental Risk Pool which is a self-insurance policy mechanism for political subdivisions 
in Texas.  Rates are set by the State Insurance Board.  Each participant’s contribution to the pool is 
adjusted based on its workers’ compensation history.  The City is responsible only to the extent of 
premiums paid and contributions made to Texas Municipal League and the Intergovernmental 
Risk Pool.  There have been no significant changes in insurance coverage as compared to last year 
and settlements have not exceeded coverage in each of the past three fiscal years. 

DUE FROM
DUE TO General Fund EDC CDC

General Fund -$                   21,389$                       -$                      
EDC -$                   -$                             -$                      
CDC -$                   109$                            -$                      
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XI. New Accounting Pronouncements 
 

The GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions in June 
2012, which became effective for the City in fiscal year 2015.  The objective of this Statement is 
to improve accounting and financial reporting of state and local governmental pension plans.  This 
Statement applies to all state and governmental entities and replaces Statements 27 and 50.  This 
Statement requires the recognition of the entire net pension liability and a more comprehensive 
measure of pension expense, along with additional required footnote disclosures.  The impact of 
this implementation is discussed in Note VII and at Note XI. 
 
The GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to 
the Measurement Date – An Amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 in November 2013, which 
was effective for the City in fiscal year 2015.  The objective of this Statement is to address an issue 
regarding application of the transition provisions of Statement No. 68.  This Statement requires 
that, at transition, a government recognizes a beginning deferred outflow of resources for its 
pension contributions, if any, made subsequent to the measurement date of the beginning net 
pension liability.  Statement 68, as amended, continues to require that beginning balances for other 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions be reported at 
transition only if it is practical to determine all such amounts. The impact of this implementation is 
discussed in Note VII and at Note XI. 
 
 The GASB issued Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application in February 2015, 
and will be effective for the City in fiscal year 2016.  This Statement addresses accounting and 
financial reporting issues related to fair value measurements.  This Statement provides guidance 
for determining a fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes and for applying fair 
value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value measurements.  The City has 
not yet determined the impact of this statement. 

 
The GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions in June 2015 and will be effective for the City in fiscal year 2018.  
This Statement replaces the requirement of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting by Employments for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, and 
No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans for OPEB. 
 This Statement establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements for OPEB plans.  
The City has not yet determined the impact of this statement. 

 
The GASB issued Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
for State and Local Governments in June 2015 and will be effective for the City in fiscal year 
2016.  This Statement supersedes Statement No. 55, the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles for State and Local Governments.  The objective of this Statement is to 
identify – in the context of the current governmental financial reporting environment – the 
hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  The “GAAP Hierarchy” consists 
of the sources of accounting principles use to prepare financial statements of state and local 
governmental entities in conformity with GAAP and the framework for selecting those principles.  
This Statement reduces the GAAP hierarchy to two categories of authoritative GAAP and 
addresses the use and authoritative and non-authoritative literature in the event that the accounting 
treatment for a transaction or other event is not specified within a source of authoritative GAAP.  
The City has not yet determined the impact of this Statement. 
 
 



 

43 
 

 
XI. New Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 

 
The GASB issues Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures in August 2015 and will be 
effective for the city in fiscal year 2017.  This Statement requires governments that enter in tax 
abatement agreements to disclose 1) brief descriptive information about the abatement, such as the 
tax being abated, the authority under which tax abatements are provided, eligibility criteria, the 
mechanism by which taxes are abated, provisions for recapturing abated taxes, and the types of 
commitments made by tax abatement recipients; 2) The gross dollar amount of taxes abated during 
the period; and 3) Commitments made by a government, other than to abate taxes, as part of a tax 
abatement agreement.  The City has not yet determined the impact of this Statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
GENERAL FUND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

 

Variance with
Final Budget

Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

REVENUE
Taxes:
   Property 1,551,721$    1,546,940$        1,621,243$        74,303$             
   Sales and beverage 494,809         494,809             615,432             120,623
   Franchise and local 200,734         200,734             207,900             7,166
License and permits 79,340           79,340               406,408             327,068
Fines and forfeitures 93,094           93,094               114,953             21,859
Charges for services 24,625           72,049               28,216               (43,833)
Intergovernmental 33,034           35,516               12,500               (23,016)              
Contributions and donations 42,875           42,875               17,224               (25,651)
Investment income 220                372                    742                    370
Other revenue 3,575             3,575                 150,631             147,056
     Total revenues 2,524,027 2,569,304 3,175,249 605,945

EXPENDITURES
Current:
   General government 502,391         487,200             523,777             (36,577)
   Police department 618,906         615,214             753,862             (138,648)
   Fire services 321,652         321,652             321,620             32
   Municipal court 119,624         124,385             127,434             (3,049)
   Public works 262,242         223,904             367,298             (143,394)
   Parks and recreation 338,930         338,269             373,754             (35,485)
   Library 47,505           41,715               37,853               3,862
   Inspection 89,933           134,638             189,424             (54,786)
Debt Service:
   Principal 206,090         206,090             179,125             26,965
   Interest and fiscal charges 1,300             1,300                 79,617               (78,317)
     Total Expenditures 2,508,573 2,494,367 2,953,764 (459,397)
        Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
        Over (Under) Expenditures 15,454 74,937 221,485 146,548

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
   Transfers in -                 -                     184,145             184,145             
   Transfers out -                 -                     -                     -                         
   Proceeds from capital leases -                 -                     157,241             157,241             
   Payment to escrow agent -                 -                     -                     -                         
     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                     -                         341,386             341,386             

Net Change in Fund Balances 15,454 74,937 562,871 487,934

Fund Balances - Beginning 118,016 118,016 118,016 -                         

Fund Balances - Ending 133,470$       192,953$           680,887$           487,934$           
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Total Pension Liability 2015

Service Cost 70,781$               
Interest (on the Total Pension Liability) 89,613                 
Changes of benefit terms -                       
Difference between expected and actual experience (74,939)                
Change of assumptions -                       
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee

contributions (104,691)              

Net Change in Total Pension Liability (19,236)                

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 1,297,135            

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) 1,277,899$          

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer 27,894$               
Contributions - Employee 57,625                 
Net Investment Income 70,450                 
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee

contributions (104,691)              
Administrative Expense (736)                     
Other (60)                       

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 50,482                 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 1,231,578            

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b) 1,282,060$          

Net Pension Liability - Ending (a) - (b) (4,161)$                

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage
of Total Pension Liability 100.33%

Covered Employee Payroll 1,152,504$          

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage
of Covered Employee Payroll -0.36%

CITY OF JUSTIN
SCHEDULE OF CHANGE IN NET PENSION LIABILITY

AND RELATED RATIOS
Last 10 Years (will ultimately be displayed)

 
 
Note:  Only one year of data is presented in accordance with GASB 68, Paragraph 138.  “The information 
for all periods for the 10-year schedules that are required to be presented as required supplementary 
information may not be available initially.  In these cases, during the transition period, that information 
should be presented for as many years as are available.  The schedules should not include information that 
is not measured in accordance with the requirements of this Statement.” 



 

47 
 

 
 
 
 

2015

Actuarially Determined Contribution 32,879$               

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution 32,879$               

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                     

Covered employee payroll 1,350,516$          
Contributions as a percentage of covered

employee payroll 2.43%

CITY OF JUSTIN
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

Last 10 Fiscal Years (will ultimately be displayed)

 
Note:  Only one year of data is presented in accordance with GASB 68, Paragraph 138.  “The information 
for all periods for the 10-year schedules that are required to be presented as required supplementary 
information may not be available initially.  In these cases, during the transition period, that information 
should be presented for as many years as are available.  The schedules should not include information that 
is not measured in accordance with the requirements of this Statement.” 
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Valuation Date 
 
Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 and become effective in 
January 13 months later.  GASB 68, Paragraph 81.2.b requires that the data in the Schedule of 
Contributions be presented as of the City’s current fiscal year as opposed to the valuation/measurement 
date as provided in other schedules of these financial statements. 
 
Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates 
 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed
Remaining Amortization Period 29 years
Asset Valuation Method 10 Year smoothed market; 15% soft corridor
Inflation 3.00%
Salary Increases 3.50% to 12.00% including inflation
Investment Rate of Return 7.00%
Retirement Age

Mortality

Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's plan of benefits.  
Last updated for the 2010 valuation pursuant to an experience study of the 
period 2005 - 2009

RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment with male 
rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% and projected 
on a fully generational basis with scale BB

 
Other Information 
 
There were no benefit changes during the year 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and members  
   of the City Council 
City of Justin, Texas 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, and each major fund of City of Justin, Texas (the City) as of and for the year ended September 
30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 
 

    3020 Northwest Loop, Stephenville, TX 76401  T:254-965-7321 F:254-965-4245 www.bmy-cpa.com
Members of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants / Members of Private Companies Practice Section
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each major 
fund of the City as of September 30, 2016, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, schedule of change in Net Position Liability 
and Related Ratios, Schedule of Contributions, and Notes to Required Supplementary Information on 
pages 6 through 11 and 45 through 48 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
 
 
 
Stephenville, Texas 
June 20, 2017 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
As management of the City of Justin, we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this narrative 
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015.   
 
Management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) has been designed to [1] assist readers and interested 
parties in focusing on significant financial issues [2] provide an overview of the City’s financial activity, 
[3] identify changes in the City’s financial position, including its ability to address the next and subsequent 
years challenges, [4] identify material deviations from the approved budgets adopted by the City Council 
(those charged with governance), and [5]  identify individual fund issues or concerns.   
 
Because MD&A focuses on the current year’s activity, resulting changes and currently known facts, you 
are encouraged to read it in conjunction with the basic financial statements including notes thereto, 
required supplemental information, and other supplementary data provided below. 
 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 The City’s assets exceeded its liabilities at September 30, 2015 by $10,346,945, an increase of $993,028 
from the prior year. 
 

 At September 30, 2015 the City’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $2,284,445, an 
increase of $386,300 from the prior year. 
 

 The City’s capital assets, reported at cost less accumulated depreciation, total $15,586,566 at September 
30, 2015 while the City’s long-term debt totaled $9,933,540 at September 30, 2015. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. 
The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.   

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector 
business. There are two government-wide statements: the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities.  

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets and deferred outflows of 
resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources with the difference between them presented as 
net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether 
the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and 
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal 
periods (e.g., arbitrage rebate owed but not due until a future year and earned but unused vacation leave).
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Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, physical 
environment, and transportation. The business-type activities of the City include water, wastewater and 
solid waste and emergency transportation services.  

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City of Justin (the primary government) but 
also the legally separate Justin Economic Development Corporation (JEDC) and Justin Community 
Development Corporation (JCDC) (the component units). Financial information for JEDC and JCDC are 
reported separately from the financial information reported for the City of Justin. The government-wide 
financial statements can be found on pages 13-14 of this report. 

 
Fund financial statements.   The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the most 
significant funds -not the City as a whole.  Some funds are required to be established by State law and by 
bond covenants.  However, the City Council may establish other funds to help it control and manage 
money for particular purposes.  The City’s kinds of funds - governmental and proprietary - use different 
accounting approaches. 
 
 Governmental funds - Most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which 

focus on how money flows into and out of the funds and the balances left at the end of the year that are 
available for spending.  These funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual 
accounting, which measures cash and all other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash.  
The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City’s general government 
operations and the basic services it provides.  Governmental fund information helps you determine 
whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the 
City’s programs.  We describe the relationship (or differences) between governmental activities 
(reported in the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds in 
reconciliation at the bottom of the fund financial statements.  The governmental fund statements can be 
found on pages 18-20 of this report. 

 
 Proprietary funds - When the City charges customers for the services it provides, these services are 

generally reported in proprietary funds.  Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all 
activities are reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities.  In fact, the 
City’s water and sewer fund are the same as the business-type activities we report in the government-
wide statements but we provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows, for 
proprietary funds.  The proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 19-21 of this 
report. 

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the 
financial statements can be found on pages 23-39 of this report. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
The Statement of Net Position: 
 
The following table reflects the condensed statement of net position: 
 

 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Current and Other Assets $ 2,607,538      $ 2,209,494      $ 3,111,586      $ 2,506,541      $ 5,719,124      $ 4,716,035      
Capital and Non-Current Assets 8,066,403      8,318,193      7,502,163      7,069,856      15,568,566    15,388,049    
Total Assets 10,673,941    10,527,687    10,613,749    9,576,397      21,287,690    20,104,084    

Total Deferred Outflows 27,370           3,678             9,108             9,638             36,478           13,316           

Current Liabilities 309,153         312,753         678,688         373,061         987,841         685,814         
Long Term Liabilities 4,260,916      4,381,564      5,668,463      5,649,393      9,929,379      10,030,957    
Total Liabilities 4,570,069      4,694,317      6,347,151      6,022,454      10,917,220    10,716,771    

Total Deferred Inflows 45,020           -                 14,983           -                 60,003           -                 

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 3,948,419      4,078,416      1,861,319      1,452,406      5,809,738      5,530,822      
Restricted 1,305,397      1,547,553      -                 -                 1,305,397      1,547,553      
Unrestricted 832,406         211,079         2,399,404      2,111,175      3,231,810      2,322,254      
Total Net Position $ 6,086,222      $ 5,837,048      $ 4,260,723      $ 3,563,581      $ 10,346,945    $ 9,400,629      

Statement of Net Position

Activities
Governmental Business-type

Activities Totals

 
 
The City’s capital assets (land, building, equipment and infrastructure) represent 73% of the City’s total 
assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to the City’s citizens; consequently, these 
assets are not available for future spending.   
 
The City’s net position increased $993,028 (10.6%) during the fiscal year to a balance of $10,346,945.  
Restricted net position is $1,305,397, and represents net resources that are subject to external restrictions 
on how they may be used.  Unrestricted net position totals $3,231,810 or 31% of total net position and may 
be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to its citizens and creditors. 
 
The largest portion of the City’s net position is its net investment in capital assets of $5,809,738.  This 
amount represents the City’s total capital assets less the related debt used to acquire the capital assets.  
Although the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the 
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the assets themselves 
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
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Statement of Activities:  
 
The following table provides a summary of the City’s changes in net position. 
 
 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Revenues $ $ $ $ $ $

Program Revenues:
Charges for Services 435,229         226,598         1,729,842      1,675,033      2,165,071      1,901,631      
Operating Grants 

and Contributions 144,072         43,363           -                 -                 144,072         43,363           
Capital Grants 

and Contributions -                 12,675           800,000         -                 800,000         12,675           
General Revenues:
Property taxes 1,636,391      1,586,165      -                 -                 1,636,391      1,586,165      
Sales taxes 1,203,536      1,150,062      -                 -                 1,203,536      1,150,062      
Franchise and local taxes 207,900         205,773         -                 -                 207,900         205,773         
Investment earnings 5,224             2,237             2,358             1,113             7,582             3,350             
Miscellaneous 150,631         5,786             -                 -                 150,631         5,786             
Gain on sale of assets 14,538           -                 3,229             17,767           
Total Revenues 3,797,521      3,232,659      2,535,429      1,676,146      6,332,950      4,908,805      

Expenses
General government 865,522         636,268         -                 -                 865,522         636,268         
Police department 617,184         570,464         -                 -                 617,184         570,464         
Fire services 321,620         301,200         -                 -                 321,620         301,200         
Municipal court 124,760         122,796         -                 -                 124,760         122,796         
Public works 803,357         813,453         -                 -                 803,357         813,453         
Parks and recretation 364,160         326,541         -                 -                 364,160         326,541         
Library 47,273           56,211           -                 -                 47,273           56,211           
Inspection 191,115         87,356           -                 -                 191,115         87,356           
Interest and amortization 178,308         194,466         211,563         226,421         389,871         420,887         
Water and sewer -                 -                 1,615,060      1,614,131      1,615,060      1,614,131      
Total Expenses 3,513,299      3,108,755      1,826,623      1,840,552      5,339,922      4,949,307      

Change in net position 284,222         123,904         708,806         (164,406)        993,028         (40,502)          

Net position-Beginning,
as previously stated 5,837,048      5,713,144      3,563,581      3,727,987      9,400,629      9,441,131      

Prior period adjustment (35,048)          -                 (11,664)          -                 (46,712)          -                 
Net position-Beginning,

as restated 5,802,000      5,713,144      3,551,917      3,727,987      9,353,917      9,441,131      

Net Position, Ending $ 6,086,222      $ 5,837,048      $ 4,260,723      $ 3,563,581      $ 10,346,945    $ 9,400,629      

Governmental 
Activities

Business-type
Activities

Statement of Changes in Net Position

Total

 
 
The government’s net position increased by $993,028 during the fiscal year, compared to the prior year 
decrease of $40,502.  Governmental activities had an increase in net position of $284,222 compared to the 
prior year increase of $123,904.  Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $708,806 
compared to a decrease in the prior year of $164,406.   
 
Governmental activities revenues increased $564,862 (17%) primarily due to increases in property tax and 
permit fee collections during 2015 compared to 2014.  Total governmental activities expenses increased 
$404,544 (13%) from the prior fiscal year.  Governmental activities expenses include depreciation expense 
of $683,390 and interest expense of $178,308.  The depreciation expense is allocated to the 
function/program that primarily used the related capital asset.
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Business-type activities revenues increased $859,283 (51.27%) primarily due to an $800,000 developer 
contribution to be used for system improvements.  Business-type expenses decreased $13,929 from 2014. 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 
 
The focus of the City’s governmental fund is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and 
balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing 
requirements; in particular, unreserved fund balance may serve a measure of a government’s net resources 
available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
The City’s governmental funds include the general fund and special revenue fund.  The special revenue 
fund is used to account for the activities of the City’s blended component units; the Justin Economic 
Development Corporation (EDC) and the Justin Community Development Corporation (CDC.)  These 
entities are controlled by the City Council of the City of Justin and their revenues are restricted for 
economic and community development as described in their by-laws.   
 
The City’s governmental fund balance at September 30, 2015 totaled $2,284,445.  The fund balance 
includes funds restricted for economic development ($553,305) and community development ($752,092.)  
The unassigned fund balance at September 30, 2015 is $979,048. 
 
 
 GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS   
 
Actual general fund revenues exceeded budgeted revenues by $605,945 (24%) primarily due to an increase 
in sales tax and license and permit revenues over their respective budgeted revenues.  Actual general fund 
expenditures exceeded budgeted expenditures by $459,397 (18%) primarily due to police department 
($138,648) and public works ($143,394) expenditures exceeding budgeted expenditures.  Other financing 
sources and uses revenues and expenditures included proceeds from capital leases of $157,241 and 
transfers in from JEDC and JCDC of $184,145.  Neither of these items was included in budgeted revenues 
or expenditures. 
 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
At September 30, 2015 the City’s governmental activities had invested $8,066,403 in capital assets 
including land, building, vehicles, equipment and infrastructure.  Depreciation is included with the 
governmental capital assets as required by GASB Statement #34.  The City’s business-type activities had 
invested $7,502,163 in capital assets including land, building, vehicles, equipment and infrastructure. 
 
Capital asset purchases during the 2015 fiscal year include IT improvements of $29,190, park 
improvements of $57,278, building improvements of $6,245, police vehicle and equipment purchases of 
$161,841, municipal maintenance equipment purchases of $73,146, community center/council chambers 
improvements of $49,550, drainage improvement of $20,750 and water and sewer improvements and 
equipment purchases of $706,299.  More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is presented 
in Note IV to the financial statements. 
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LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
At the end of the current year, the City had total bonds outstanding of $9,310,000.  The City did not issue 
any new bonds during the fiscal year and all bond payments were made as scheduled during the fiscal year. 
More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note V to the financial 
statements. 
 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS 
 
Fiscal year 2016 general fund budgeted revenues are $2,646,350 and budgeted expenditures are 
$2,645,331 leaving a budgeted surplus of $1,019.  Water and sewer fund 2016 budgeted revenues total 
$1,853,850 and budgeted expenses total $1,830,158 leaving a budgeted surplus of $23,692. 
 
Total budgeted capital outlays are $157,359 for the general fund and $60,514 for the water and sewer 
fund.  Budgeted capital outlay includes police vehicles and equipment ($72,000), park improvements and 
equipment ($32,000), municipal maintenance equipment ($50,359), office computer equipment ($3,000) 
and water and sewer equipment ($60,514.) 
 
 
CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the City of Justin.  If you have questions about this report or need any additional information, 
contact the City Secretary at 415 N. College Street, Justin, TX  76247 or at 940-648-2541. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Primary Government
Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
ASSETS:
Cash and equivalents 2,066,480$       1,004,695$     3,071,175$     
Certificates of deposit 2,494                -                 2,494              
Receivables, net of allowance of $21,451 in
       business-type activities 160,917            157,563          318,480          
Restricted cash and equivalents 114,484            124,891          239,375          
Restricted certificates of deposit -                    90,000            90,000            
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):

Land 1,954,896         1,038,026       2,992,922       
Infrastructure 3,978,620         7,707,413       11,686,033     
Buildings and improvements 467,241            -                     467,241          
Equipment and vehicles 993,609            41,056            1,034,665       

          Total Assets 9,738,741         10,163,644     19,902,385     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS:
Deferred retirement contributions 20,106              5,556              25,662            
Deferred investment experience 62,475              17,263            79,738            
Deferred assumption/input changes 18,361              5,074              23,435            

Total Deferred Outflows 100,942            27,893            128,835          

          Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 9,839,683         10,191,537     20,031,220     

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 77,972              376,694          454,666          
Accrued interest payable 19,616              28,059            47,675            
Customer deposits -                        129,500          129,500          
Unearned revenues 15,648              -                     15,648            
Noncurrent liabilities-
     Due within one year 311,448            324,681          636,129          
     Due in more than one year 3,663,026         5,016,204       8,679,230       
     Net pension liability (asset) 116,102            32,082            148,184          
          Total Liabilities 4,203,812         5,907,220       10,111,032     

DEFERRED INFLOWS:
Deferred Actual vs. Assumption 11,897              3,288              15,185            

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 3,563,821         3,472,186       7,036,007       
Restricted For:
   Community development 752,092            -                     752,092          
   Economic development 553,305            -                     553,305          
Unrestricted 754,756            808,843          1,563,599       
Total Net Position 5,623,974$       4,281,029$     9,905,003$     
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Fines, Fees, and Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT:
Governmental Activities:
   General government $ 627,598 $ 60                      $ -                     $ -                    $ (627,538) $ -                $ (627,538)
   Police department 811,221 118,690             2,229                 -                    (690,302) -                (690,302)
   Fire services 346,620 -                     -                     -                    (346,620) -                (346,620)
   Municipal court 139,568 93,038               -                     -                    (46,530) -                (46,530)
   Public works 958,859 -                     -                     -                    (958,859) -                (958,859)
   Parks and recreation 353,440 22,305               18,888               -                    (312,247) -                (312,247)
   Library 49,573 4,412                 17,377               -                    (27,784) -                (27,784)
   Inspection 317,449 204,769             -                     -                    (112,680) -                (112,680)
   Interest and Amortization (39,418) -                     -                     -                    39,418 -                39,418
     Total Governmental Activities 3,564,910 443,274 38,494 -                    (3,083,142) -                (3,083,142)

Business-type Activities:
Water and Sewer 1,868,434 1,881,457 -                     1,053                -                     14,076 14,076

Total Business-type Activities 1,868,434 1,881,457 -                     1,053                -                     14,076 14,076
Total Primary Government $ 5,433,344 $ 2,324,731 $ 38,494               $ 1,053 (3,083,142) 14,076 (3,069,066)

Taxes:
   Property 1,700,808 -                1,700,808
   Sales 598,514 -                598,514
   Franchise 201,475 -                201,475
Investment earnings 3,015 6,230 9,245
Miscellaneous revenues 106,506 -                106,506
Gain on sale of assets 10,576 -                10,576
     Total general revenues 2,620,894 6,230 2,627,124

     Change in net position (462,248) 20,306 (441,942)

Net position - Beginning 6,086,222 4,260,723 10,346,945

Net position - Ending $ 5,623,974 $ 4,281,029 $ 9,905,003

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Total
General Justin Justin Governmental

Fund EDC CDC Funds

ASSETS:
Assets:
Cash and equivalents 761,083$               553,305$               752,092$               2,066,480$            
Certificates of deposit 2,494                     -                        -                        2,494                     
Receivables, net 143,123                 -                        -                        143,123                 
Due from other funds 17,794                   -                        -                        17,794                   
Restricted cash and equivalents 114,484                 -                        -                        114,484                 
      Total Assets 1,038,978$            553,305$               752,092$               2,344,375$            

LIABILITIES:
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 77,972$                 -$                          -                        77,972$                 
Due to other funds -                        -                        -                        -                        
Unearned revenue 15,648                   -                        -                        15,648                   
     Total Liabilities 93,620 -                        -                        93,620

DEFERRED INFLOWS:
Deferred property taxes 22,524                   -                        -                        22,524                   

Total liabilities and deferred inflows 116,144$               -$                      -$                      116,144$               

FUND BALANCE:
Restricted Fund Balances:
   Community Development -                        -                        752,092                 752,092                 
   Economic Development -                        553,305                 -                        553,305                 
Unassigned 922,834 -                        -                        922,834                 
           Total Fund Balance 922,834 553,305 752,092                 2,228,231

           Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows,
                and Fund Balance 1,038,978$            553,305$               752,092$               2,344,375$            
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CITY OF JUSTIN
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Total fund balances - governmental funds balance sheet 2,228,231$   

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because:

7,394,366     

22,524 

Net pension liability  (116,102)
Deferred retirement contributions      20,106 
Deferred investment experience      62,475 
Deferred assumption/input changes      18,361 
Deferred actual vs. assumption    (11,897) (27,057)        

(3,994,090)   

Net position of governmental activities 5,623,974$   

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and 
therefore are not reported in the governmental funds balance sheet.

Long-term liabilities, including capital leases and the related interest payable, and 
compensated absences are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are 
not reported in the fund financial statements

Revenues earned but not available within sixty days of the year end are not recognized 
as revenue on the fund financial statements.

The statement of net position includes the City's proportionate share of the TMRS net 
pension liability as well as certain pension related transactions accounted for as 
Deferred Inflows and Outflows of resources.
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Total
General Justin Justin Governmental

Fund EDC CDC Funds
REVENUE
Taxes:
   Property 1,713,300$    -$                      -$                      1,713,300$    
   Sales and beverage 598,514         -                    -                    598,514
   Franchise and local 201,475         -                    -                    201,475
License and permits 206,119         -                    -                    206,119
Fines and forfeitures 99,582           -                    -                    99,582
Charges for services 137,573         -                    -                    137,573
Intergovernmental 12,551           -                    -                    12,551
Contributions and donations 25,943           -                    -                    25,943
Investment income 3,015             -                    -                    3,015
Other revenue 1,506             -                    -                    1,506
     Total revenues 2,999,578 -                    -                    2,999,578

EXPENDITURES
Current:
   General government 600,727         -                    -                    600,727
   Police department 755,253         -                    -                    755,253
   Fire services 346,620         -                    -                    346,620
   Municipal court 136,720         -                    -                    136,720
   Public works 403,632         -                    -                    403,632
   Parks and recreation 307,817         -                    -                    307,817
   Library 40,288           -                    -                    40,288
   Inspection 315,758         -                    -                    315,758
Debt Service:
   Principal 187,511         -                    -                    187,511
   Interest and fiscal charges 77,042           -                    -                    77,042
     Total Expenditures 3,171,368 -                    -                    3,171,368
        Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
        Over (Under) Expenditures (171,790) -                    -                    (171,790)

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
   Transfers in 105,000         -                    -                    105,000
   Transfers out -                -                    -                    -                 
   Proceeds from capital leases -                -                    -                    -                 
   Proceeds from sale of assets 10,576           -                    -                    10,576
     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 115,576         -                    -                    115,576         

        Net Change in Fund Balances (56,214) -                    -                    (56,214)

Fund Balances - Beginning 979,048 553,305 752,092 2,284,445

Fund Balances - Ending 922,834$       553,305$           752,092$           2,228,231$    
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (56,214)$           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

(711,852)

39,815

(12,492)

(12,529)

1,460

(12,947)

302,511

Change in net position of governmental activities (462,248)$         

Depreciation expense on capital assets is reported in the statement of activities and does not require the 
use of current financial resources.  Therefore, depreciation expense is not reported as expenditures in 
the governmental funds.

Certain revenues in the government-wide statement of activities that do not provide current financial 
resources are not reported as revenue in the governmental funds.

Net pension assets as well as the related deferred inflows and outflows of resources generated from 
those assets are not payable from current resources and therefore, are not reported in the governmental 
funds.  These balances increased (decreased) by this amount.

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to 
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current 
financial resources of governmental funds. 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of activities the 
cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives.

Current year changes in accrued interest payable do not require the use of current financial resources 
and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds

Current year changes in compensated absences do not require the use of current financial resources and 
therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Enterprise Fund
ASSETS: Water and Sewer Fund
Current Assets:
Cash and equivalents 1,004,695$                       
Receivables, net of allowance of $22,817 157,563                            
Restricted cash and equivalents 124,891                            
Restricted certificates of deposit 90,000                              
          Total Current Assets 1,377,149

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital Assets:
   Land 1,038,026                         
   Infrastructure 11,590,121                       
   Equipment and vehicles 338,185                            
   Less Accumulated Depreciation (4,179,837)                       
          Total Noncurrent Assets 8,786,495                         
          Total Assets 10,163,644                       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS:
Deferred retirement contributions 5,556                                
Deferred investment experience 17,263                              
Deferred input/assumption changes 5,074                                

Total Deferred Outflows 27,893                              

          Total Assets and Deferred Inflows 10,191,537

LIABILITIES:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable 40,154                              
Accrued expenses 336,540                            
Accrued interest 28,059                              
Customer deposits 129,500                            
Current portion of long-term liabilities 324,681                            
          Total Current Liabilities 858,934
Noncurrent Liabilities:
   Net pension liability 32,082
   Bonds payable 4,722,950                         
   Capital lease 279,859                            
   Compensated absences 13,395                              
          Total Noncurrent Liabilities 5,048,286
          Total Liabilities 5,907,220

DEFERRED INFLOWS:
Deferred Actual vs. Assumption 3,288$                          

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 3,472,186
Unrestricted 808,843
          Total net position 4,281,029$                       



DRAFT
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
20 

 

 
 

CITY OF JUSTIN
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer

Fund
OPERATING REVENUES:
   Charges for services 1,881,457$                     
      Total Operating Revenues 1,881,457

OPERATING EXPENSES:
   Cost of water 402,057                          
   Cost of labor 464,609                          
   Repair and maintenance 107,881                          
   Utilities 60,439                            
   Vehicle expense 7,722                              
   Insurance 6,640                              
   Contractual services 171,429                          
   Depreciation 311,571                          
   Other operating expense 156,708                          
      Total Operating Expenses 1,689,056

      Operating Income (loss) 192,401

Non-operating Revenues (Expenses)
   Interest revenue 6,230                              
   Miscellaneous revenue 1,053                              
   Gain on sale of assets -                                  
   Interest and amortization expense (179,378)                         
      Total Non-operating Revenues (Expenses) (172,095)

Change in Net Position 20,306

Net position - Beginning 4,260,723

Net Position - Ending 4,281,029$                     
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CITY OF JUSTIN
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer

Fund
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash received from customers 1,957,333$                 
Cash paid to employees (331,337)
Cash paid to suppliers (1,189,569)                  

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 436,427

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Principal repayment on debt (299,950)
Repayment of capital lease obligations (26,585)
Interest and fees paid on debt issuance (181,135)
Purchase of capital assets (1,595,903)
Proceeds received for capital improvement 1,053
Proceeds on sale of capital assets -                              

Net Cash Used in Capital & Related Financing Activities (2,102,520)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest on investments 6,230

Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities 6,230

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,659,863)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 2,789,449

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 1,129,586$                 

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided By Operating Activities:

Operating Income 192,401$                    
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash
  Provided by Operating Activities

Depreciation and amortization 311,571                      
Water sales given in-kind to decrease long-term debt (4,203)                         

Change in Assets and Liabilities:
Decrease in receivables 74,574                        
Increase in deferred outflows (18,785)                       
Increase in net pension asset 33,121                        
Increase in accounts payable (148,183)                     
Increase in compensated absences 2,121                          
Increase in customer deposits 5,505                          
Increase in deferred inflows (11,695)                       
    Total Adjustments 244,026

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 436,427$                    
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

The City of Justin, Texas (the City) was incorporated in 1947 and operates under a Council-City 
Manager form of government.  The City provides:  police; code enforcement; public works; street 
repair and maintenance; parks; general administrative services; water; wastewater; and sanitation.  
The City is an independent political subdivision of the State of Texas governed by an elected 
council and a mayor and is considered a primary government.   

 
The accounting policies of the City conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP) applicable to state and local governments.  General accepted 
accounting principles for local governments include those principles prescribed by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants in the publication entitled Audits of State and Local Governmental Units.  The 
more significant accounting policies of the City are described below: 

 
A.  The Reporting Entity 

 
As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, these 
financial statements include the primary government and organizations for which the primary 
government is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and 
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would 
cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 
 
The definition of the reporting entity is based primarily on the notion of financial 
accountability.  A primary government is financially accountable for the organizations that 
make up its legal entity.  It is also financially accountable for legally separate organizations if 
its officials appoint a voting majority of an organization’s government body and either it is 
able to impose its will on that organization or there is a potential for the organization to 
provide specific financial benefits to, or to impose specific financial burdens on, the primary 
government.  A primary government may also be financially accountable for governmental 
organizations that are fiscally dependent on it. 
 
A primary government has the ability to impose its will on an organization if it can 
significantly influence the programs, projects, or activities of, or the level of services 
performed or provided by, the organization.  A financial benefit or burden relationship exists if 
the primary government (a) is entitled to the organization’s resources; (b) is legally obligated 
or has otherwise assumed the obligation to finance the deficits of, or provide financial support 
to, the organization; or (c) is obligated in some manner for the debt of the organization.   
 
Some organizations are included as component units because of the fiscal dependency on the 
primary government.  An organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government if it is 
unable to adopt its budget, levy taxes, set rates or charges, or issue bonded debt without 
approval by the primary government. 
 
The following entities were found to be component units of the City and are included in the 
accompanying financial statements: 



DRAFT
CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

 

24 

I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

A.  The Reporting Entity (continued) 
 
Justin Economic Development Corporation - The Justin Economic Development Corporation 
(JEDC) is governed by a board of five directors, all of whom are appointed by the City 
Council of the City of Justin and any of whom can be removed from office by the City Council 
at its will.  The JEDC was incorporated in the state of Texas as a non-profit industrial 
development corporation under Section 4A of the Development Corporation Act of 1979.  The 
Corporation was organized for the purpose of the promotion and development of new and 
expanded business enterprises and to provide and encourage employment in the furtherance of 
the public welfare. 
 
 
Justin Community Development Corporation – The Justin Community Development 
Corporation (JCDC) is governed by a board of seven directors, all of whom are appointed by 
the City Council of the City of Justin and any of whom can be removed from office by the 
City’s Council at its’ will.  The JCDC was incorporated in the state of Texas as a non-profit 
industrial development corporation under Section 4B of the Development Corporation Act of 
1979.  The purpose of the JCDC is to promote economic and community development within 
the City of Justin.   
 
Separate financial statement of theses component units have not been prepared. 
 
 

B.  Basis of Presentation 
 

Government-wide Statements:  
 
The statement of net position and the statement of activities include the financial activities of 
the overall government. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-
type activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, 
intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are 
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.  
 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program 
revenues for the business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City's 
governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a 
program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. The City 
does not allocate indirect expenses in the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) 
fees, fines, and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and 
(b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, 
including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.  
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

B.  Basis of Presentation (continued) 
 
Fund Financial Statements: 
 
The fund financial statements provide information about the City's funds, with separate 
statements presented for each fund category. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on 
major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column.  There were no 
other funds to be aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. 

 
Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange 
transactions associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those 
in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, 
such as subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary 
activities. 
 
The City reports the following major Governmental funds: 

 
The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. This fund is used to account for 
all financial resources not reported in other funds.  All general tax revenues and other 
receipts that are not restricted by law or contractual agreement to some other fund are 
accounted for in this fund.   General operating expenditures, fixed charges and capital 
improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General Fund. 
 
The Justin EDC fund collects sales tax for the purpose of the promotion and development 
of new and expanded business enterprises and to provide and encourage employment in 
the furtherance of the public welfare.  All EDC activity is accounted for in this fund. 
 
The Justin CDC fund collects sales tax for the purpose of promoting economic and 
community development within the City of Justin.  All CDC activity is accounting for in 
this fund.   

 
The City reports the following major Enterprise fund: 

 
The Utility Fund reports for revenues and expenses associated with water, sewer, garbage 
and EMS services for the citizens of the City.  Activities of the fund include 
administration, operations, and maintenance of the water, sewer and sanitation system and 
billing and collection activities.  The fund also accounts for the accumulation of resources 
for, and the payment of, long-term debt principal and interest for enterprise debt.  All costs 
are financed through charges to utility and EMS customers with rates reviewed regularly 
and adjusted if necessary to ensure integrity of the funds. 
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

C.  Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
 

The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the 
economic resources measurement focus. The government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements are reported using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows. Non-exchange transactions, in which the City gives (or receives) value 
without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, 
entitlements, and donations. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which 
they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  

 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as 
soon as they are both measureable and available. Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectable within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities 
of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are 
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and 
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
The City's governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of 
accounting.  Their revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available as net 
current assets. Property taxes, interest revenue, charges for services and sales tax revenues are 
susceptible to accrual.  Franchise taxes, fines and permits revenues are not susceptible to 
accrual because generally they are not measurable until received in cash. Expenditures are 
generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related fund 
liability is incurred. 
 

D.  Budgetary Control 
 

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles for general fund. The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and 
department.  Transfers of appropriations between departments require the approval of the city 
council.  The legal level of budget control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally 
exceed appropriations) is the department level. 
 
Appropriations in all budgeted funds lapse at the end of the fiscal year.  While all 
appropriations lapse at year end, surpluses may be re-appropriated and become part of the 
subsequent year’s budget pursuant to state regulations. 
 

E.  Cash and Equivalents 
 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, highly liquid investments are considered to be 
cash equivalents if they have an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. 
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

F.  Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets purchased or constructed are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. 
Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of the donation. The 
cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.   Public domain ("infrastructure") general fixed assets 
consisting of certain improvements other than buildings, including roads, bridges, curbs and 
gutters, streets and sidewalks, drainage systems, and lighting systems, are capitalized along 
with other capital assets. 
 
Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives using the straight line method.  
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 
Infrastructure    10 – 25 years 
Buildings and improvements    5 – 40 years 
Equipment and vehicles     2 – 40 years 

 
G.  Accrued Compensated Absences 

 
The City Council has adopted a policy whereby employees are paid lump sum payments for 
unused vacation if they leave City employment.  Upon termination, up to one year of 
accumulated vacation at full pay will be paid if the employee meets the prescribed conditions.  
Employees are not compensated for unused sick leave. 
 

H.  Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows 
of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  An 
example is a deferred loss on refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net 
position.  A deferred loss on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of 
refunded debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and amortized over the 
shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows 
of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The government has 
only one type of item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting that 
qualifies for reporting in this category.  Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported 
only in the governmental funds balance sheet.  The governmental funds report unavailable 
revenues from one sources:  property taxes.  This amount is deferred and recognized as an 
inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
I.  Pensions 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 
Fiduciary Net Position of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and additions 
to/deductions from TMRS’s Fiduciary Net Position have been determined on the same basis as 
they are reported by TMRS.  For this purpose, plan contributions are recognized in the period 
that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when contributions are legally due.  
Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 

J.  Fund Balance and Net Position  
 

The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on classifications that 
comprise a hierarchy that is based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor 
constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the respective governmental funds 
can be spent. The classifications used in the governmental fund financial statements are as 
follows: 
 
 Non-spendable: This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are 

either (a) not in the spendable form or (b) are legally or contractually required to be 
maintained intact. Non spendable items are not expected to be converted to cash or are not 
expected to be converted to cash within the next year. 

 Restricted: This classification includes amounts for which constraints have been placed on 
the use of the resources either (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, 
or laws or regulations of other governments, or (b) imposed by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation.  

 Committed: This classification includes amounts that can be used only for specific 
purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by board resolution of the City Council, the 
City’s highest level of decision making authority. These amounts cannot be used for any 
other purpose unless the City Council removes or changes the specified use by taking the 
same type of action that was employed when the funds were initially committed. This 
classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources 
have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.  

 Assigned: This classification includes amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to 
be used for a specific purpose but are neither restricted nor committed. This intent can be 
expressed by the City Council. 

 Unassigned: This classification includes the residual fund balance for the General Fund. 
The unassigned classification also includes negative residual fund balance of any other 
governmental fund that cannot be eliminated by offsetting of assigned fund balance 
amounts.  
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
J.  Fund Balance and Net Position (continued) 

 
In circumstances where expenditure is to be made for a purpose for which amounts are 
available in multiple fund balance classifications, the order in which resources will be 
extended is as follows:  restricted fund balance, followed by committed fund balance, assigned 
fund balance, and lastly unassigned fund balance. Net position represents the difference 
between assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the 
acquisition, construction or improvements of those assets, and adding back unspent proceeds.  
Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on its use either 
through the enabling legislations adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed 
by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. In circumstances where an 
expense is to be made for a purpose for which amounts are available in multiple net position 
classifications, restricted position will be fully utilized first followed by unrestricted as 
necessary.  

 
 
K.  Use of Estimates  

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principals generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  
 

II. Deposits and Short-Term Investments 
 

Cash and investments as of September 30, 2016 consist of the following: 
 

Certificates
Cash Deposits TexStar of Deposit

Governmental activities:
   General fund 482,318                 393,249                2,494                    
   Economic development corporation -                            -                           -                           
   Community development corporation -                            -                           -                           

Business-type activity:
   Water and sewer fund (158,560)               1,288,146             90,000                  

       Total 323,758$            1,681,395$        92,494$             
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II. Deposits and Short-Term Investments (continued) 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value 
of an investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of 
its fair value to changes in market interest rates.  One of the ways that the City manages its 
exposure to interest rate risk is by investing in investment pools which purchase a combination of 
shorter term investments with an average maturity of less than 30 days thus reducing the interest 
rate risk.  The City monitors the interest rate risk inherent in its portfolio by measuring the 
weighted average maturity of its portfolio.  The City has no specific limitations with respect to this 
metric.   
 
As of September 30, 2016, the City had investments in TexStar totaling $1,681,395 which had a 
weighted average maturity of 27 days and in certificates of deposit totaling $92,494 which had a 
weighted average maturity of approximately 2 years.   
 
As of September 30, 2016, the City was not invested in any securities which are highly sensitive to 
interest rate fluctuation. 
 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the 
holder of the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization.  The minimum rating required by (where applicable) the 
Public Funds Investment Act, the City’s investment policy, or debt agreements, is AAA.  The 
actual rating as of September 30, 2016 for TexStar was AAAm.  The certificates of deposit are 
unrated. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The investment policy of the City contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any 
one issuer.  As of September 30, 2016, other than external investment pools and certificates of 
deposit, the City did not have 5% or more of its investments with one issuer. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The custodial credit risk for 
investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transactions, a 
government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in 
the possession of another party.  The Public Funds Investment Act and the City’s investment 
policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit 
risk for deposits or investments, other than the following provision for deposits:  The Public Funds 
Investment Act requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by state or local 
governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository 
regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit).   
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II. Deposits and Short-Term Investments (continued) 
 
The market value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least the bank 
balance less the FDIC insurance at all times.  At September 30, 2016, the carrying amount of the 
City’s cash on hand and deposits were $1,586,562 and the bank balance was $1,780,441.  Of this 
amount, $834,041 is carried in the City’s name while $416,815 is carried by the Justin CDC and 
$529,585 by the Justin EDC.  $250,000 of the City’s bank balance was covered by depository 
insurance under the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC insured), with the remaining 
$584,041secured with securities held by pledging financial institutions.  The Justin CDC bank 
balance is maintained at two different financial institutions, and was therefore fully FDIC insured. 
 $500,000 of the Justin EDC’s bank balance was FDIC insured leaving the remaining $29,585 not 
collateralized. 
 
Investment in State Investment Pools 
 
The City is a voluntary participant in the TexStar external investment pool.  The State Comptroller 
of Public Accounts exercises responsibility over TexStar.  Oversight includes the ability to 
significantly influence operations, designation of management, and accountability for fiscal 
matters.  Additionally, the State Comptroller has established an advisory board composed of both 
participants in TexStar and other persons who do not have a business relationship with TexStar.  
TexPool operates in a  manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule2a7 of the Investment Company Act 
of 1940.  TexStar uses amortized cost rather than market value to report net assets to compute 
share prices.  Accordingly, the fair value of the position in TexStar is the same as the value of 
TexStar shares 

 
III. Property Taxes 

 
Taxes assessed on valuations as of January 1 each year are levied during the subsequent fiscal year 
beginning October 1.  Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property at the time levied.  
Taxes are due on receipt of the tax bill and are delinquent if not paid before February 1 of the year 
following the year in which imposed.  On January 1 of each year a tax lien attaches to property to 
secure the payment of all taxes, penalties, and interest ultimately imposed.  Property tax revenues 
are considered available when they become due or past due and receivable within the current 
period and when they are expected to be collected during a 60 day period after the close of the 
fiscal year.  The City has its property taxes collected by the Denton County Tax 
Assessor/Collector.  Property taxes that are deemed uncollectible are presented as a reserve against 
revenues and property taxes receivable. 
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IV. Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets activity for the year ended September 30, 2016, is as follows: 
 

Beginning Additions/ Retirements/ Ending 
Balance Completions Adjustments Balance

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 1,954,896$    -$               -$               1,954,896$    
Total assets not being depreciated 1,954,896      -                 -                 1,954,896      

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Infrastructure 9,309,970      -                 9,309,970      

Buildings and Improvements 934,846         7,608             -                 942,454         

Equipment and Vehicles 1,882,480      32,207           37,752           1,876,935      

Total capital assets being depreciated 12,127,296    39,815           37,752           12,129,359    

Accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure 4,763,780      567,570         -                 5,331,350      
Buildings and Improvements 450,231         24,982           -                 475,213         
Equipment and Vehicles 801,778         119,300         37,752           883,326         

Total accumulated depreciation 6,015,789      711,852         37,752           6,689,889      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 6,111,507      (672,037)        -                 5,439,470      

Governmental activities capital assets, net 8,066,403$    (672,037)$      -$               7,394,366$    
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IV. Capital Assets (continued) 
 

Beginning Ending 
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 249,184$       -$               -$               249,184$       
Construction in process 379,123         1,587,721      1,178,002      788,842         

Total assets not being depreciated 628,307         1,587,721      1,178,002      1,038,026      

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Infrastructure 10,412,119    -                 (1,178,002)     11,590,121    
Equipment and Vehicles 365,896         8,182             35,893           338,185         

Total capital assets being depreciated 10,778,015    8,182             (1,142,109)     11,928,306    

Accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure 3,593,394      289,314         -                 3,882,708      
Equipment and Vehicles 310,765         22,257           35,893           297,129         

Total accumulated depreciation 3,904,159      311,571         35,893           4,179,837      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 6,873,856      (303,389)        (1,178,002)     7,748,469      

Business-type activities capital assets, net 7,502,163$    1,284,332$    -$               8,786,495$    
 

 
Depreciation was charged to functions/programs of the government as follows: 
 
Governmental Activities:

General Government 19,057$       
Animal Control 1,691           
Library 9,000           
Municipal Court 1,413           
Parks 42,770         
Police 45,318         
Public Works 592,603       

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities 711,852$     

Business-type Activities:
Water 120,345$     
Sewer 191,226       

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities 311,571$     
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V. Long-term Debt 
 

At September 30, 2016, the City’s bonds payable consisted of the following: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The following is a summary of all long-term debt transactions of the City for the year ended 
September 30, 3016: 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Governmental Business-Type
2006 Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation due in 
annual installments through 2027, bearing interest at a rate ranging 
between 3.5 - 4.38% 1,411,050$         633,950$            

2008 Certificates of Obligation due in annual installments through 
2028, bearing interest at a rate ranging between 4.49 - 6.5% 810,000              -                      

2009 Certificates of Obligation due in annual installments through 
2030, bearing interest at a rate ranging between 2 - 4.5% 1,245,000           

2009 Revenue Certificates of Obligation due in annual installments 
through 2029, bearing interest at a rate ranging between 2 - 4.6% -                      2,240,000           

2014 Revenue Certificates of Obligation due in annual installments 
through 2029, bearing interest at a rate of 2.92% -                      1,550,000           

2014 General Obligation Refunding Bonds due in annual installments 
through 2025, bearing interest at a rate of 2.2% 264,500              610,500              

3,730,550$         5,034,450$         

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance Due within

Description 9/30/2015 Increases Decreases 9/30/2016 one year
Governmental activities:

Capital leases 142,384$       -$               42,389$         99,995$         42,876$         
Bonds payable 3,975,600      -                 245,050         3,730,550      253,500         
Compensated absences 55,622           12,947           -                 68,569           -                 
Due to state 90,432           -                 15,072           75,360           15,072           
         Governmental activities
             long-term liabilities 4,264,038$    12,947$         302,511$       3,974,474$    311,448$       

Business-type activities
Capital leases 306,444$       -$               26,585$         279,859$       26,975$         
Bonds payable 5,334,400      -                 299,950         5,034,450      311,500         
Compensated absences 11,274           2,121             -                 13,395           -                 
Developer agreements payable 17,384           -                 4,203             13,181           13,181           
         Business-type activities
              long-term liabilities 5,669,502$    2,121$           330,738$       5,340,885$    351,656$       
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V. Long-term Debt (continued) 
 
The annual requirements to amortize all bonds payable outstanding as of September 30, 2015 are 
as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
The City was notified by the State Comptroller that the City received an overpayment of sales and 
use tax in the amount of $105,523.  The City began paying the sales tax in equal monthly 
installments, beginning October 2014.  The State Comptroller withholds the monthly payment 
from the City’s received sales and use tax revenue.  The annual requirements to amortize due to 
state outstanding as of September 30, 2016 are $15,072 each year for the next 5 years with the 
final payment in 2021.   
 

Certificates of Obligation Total 
Due Fiscal Year Ending September 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Requirements

2017 241,500       166,889          223,500          146,026          777,915         
2018 248,050       158,494          231,950          137,273          775,767         
2019 261,150       149,160          243,850          142,024          796,184         
2020 267,700       139,352          252,300          131,032          790,384         
2021 279,250       129,280          265,750          119,482          793,762         

2022-2026 1,736,550    473,961          1,498,450       402,973          4,111,934      
2027-2031 1,389,750    104,510          750,250          72,291            2,316,801      

Total 4,423,950$  1,321,646$     3,466,050$     1,151,101$     10,362,747$  

General Obligation Refunding Bonds Total 
Due Fiscal Year Ending September 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Requirements

2017 70,000         13,310            30,000            5,940              119,250         
2018 75,000         11,770            30,000            5,280              122,050         
2019 70,000         10,120            30,000            4,620              114,740         
2020 75,000         8,580              35,000            3,960              122,540         
2021 75,000         6,930              35,000            3,190              120,120         

2022-2026 245,500       11,440            104,500          5,390              366,830         

610,500$     62,150$          264,500$        28,380$          965,530$       

Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities

Business-Type Activities

Governmental Activities
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VI. Capital Leases 
 

The City has entered into capital lease agreements.  Of the leased property under capital leases, 
$306,444 is classified as infrastructure with the remaining classified as equipment for a total 
capitalized cost of $472,275 and amortized value of approximately $406,256 at September 30, 
2016.  Amortization expense has been included in depreciation expense for the year ended 
September 30, 2016. 
 
The following is a schedule of future minimum payments under the capital leases together with the 
present value of the minimum lease payments as of September 30, 2016: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
VII. Retirement Plan 
 

Plan Description 
 
The City of Justin participates as one of 866 plans in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid 
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS).  
TMRS is an agency created by the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS 
Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS Act) as an agent multiple-employer 
retirement system for municipal employees in the State of Texas.  The TMRS Act places the 
general administration and management of the System with a six-member Board of Trustees.  
Although the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is 
not fiscally dependent on the State of Texas.  TMRS’s defined benefit pension plan is a tax-
qualified plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.  TMRS issues a publicly 
available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that can be obtained at www.tmrs.com 
 
All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits.  Benefit provisions are adopted by the 
governing body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS. 

Year Ending September 30
2017 86,691$          
2018 96,527            
2019 36,867            
2020 36,867            
2021 36,867            

Thereafter 147,469          

Total payments 441,288          
Less amount representing interest 61,434            

Present value of net minimum lease payments 379,854$        
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VII. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Benefits Provided (continued) 
 
At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, with interest, 
and the city-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity.  Members 
may choose to receive their retirement benefit in one of seven payment options.  Members may 
also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Sum Distribution in an amount 
equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the member’s deposits and 
interest. 
 
Plan provisions for the City were as follows: 
 

Plan Year 2014 Plan Year 2015
Employee deposit rate 5.0% 5.0%
Matching ratio (city to employee) 1 to 1 1 to 1
Updated service credit 100% repeating, 100% repeating,

transfers transfers
Annuity increase (to retirees) 0% of CPI 0% of CPI
Years required for vesting 5 5
Service retirement eligibility

(expressed as age/years of service) 60/5, 0/20 60/5, 0/20

 
At the December 31, 2015 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were 
covered by the benefit terms: 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Contributions 
 
The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross 
earnings, and the City matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by 
the governing body of the City.  Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for 
each city is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost 
method.  The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of 
benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded 
accrued liability. 
 
Employees for the City of Justin were required to contribute 5% of the annual gross earnings 
during the fiscal year.  The contribution rates for the City of Justin were 2.44% and 2.29% in 
calendar years 2015 and 2016, respectively.  The City’s contributions to TMRS for the year ended 
September 30, 2016 were $36,084, and were equal to the required contributions. 

Inactive employees of beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 6
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 21
Active employees 26

53
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VII. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 

Net Pension Liability 
 
The City’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2015, and the Total 
Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions: 
 
The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2015 actual valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Salary increases were based on a service related table.  Mortality rates for active members, retirees, 
and beneficiaries were based on the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table, 
with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103%.  The rates are projected 
on a fully generational basis by scale BB to account for future mortality improvements.  For 
disabled annuitants, the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Tables with Blue 
Collar Adjustment are used with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 
103% with a 3-year set-forward for both males and females.  In addition, a 3% minimum mortality 
rate is applied to reflect the impairment for younger members who become disabled.  The rates are 
projected on a fully generational basis by scale BB to account for future mortality improvements 
subject to the 3% floor. 
 
Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2015 valuation were based on the results of 
actuarial experience studies.  The experience study in TMRS was for the period December 31, 
2010 through December 31, 2014.  Healthy post-retirement mortality rates and annuity purchase 
rates were updated based on a Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 
2011, and dated December 31, 2013.  These assumptions were first used in the December 31, 
2013 valuation, along with a change to the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method.  
Assumptions are reviewed annually.  No additional changes were made for the 2014 valuation.  
After the Asset Allocation Study analysis and experience investigation study, the Board amended 
the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments from 7% to 6.75%.  Plan assets 
are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as the 
production of income, in order to satisfy the short-term and long-term funding needs of TMRS. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by 
adding expected inflation.  In determining their best estimate of a recommended investment return 
assumption under the various alternative asset allocation portfolios, GRS focused on the area 
between (1) arithmetic mean (aggressive) without an adjustment for time (conservative) and (2) 
the geometric mean (conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive).  At its meeting on 

Inflation 3.0% per year
Overall payroll growth 3.0% per year
Investment Rate of Return 6.75%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation
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VII. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 

Net Pension Liability (continued) 
 
July 30, 2015, the TMRS Board approved a new portfolio target allocation.  The target allocation 
and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in 
the following table: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 6.75%.  The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will 
be made at the rates specified in statute.  Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s Fiduciary 
Net Position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the Total 
Pension Liability. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)
Balance at 12/31/2014 1,277,899$    1,282,060$    (4,161)$          
Changes for the year:

Service cost 95,639           -                 95,639           
Interest 91,384           -                 91,384           
Change of benefit terms -                 -                 -                 
Difference between expected and actual experience 37,601           -                 37,601           
Changes of assumptions 29,491           -                 29,491           
Contributions - employer -                 33,161           (33,161)          
Contributions - employee -                 67,926           (67,926)          
Net investment income -                 1,892             (1,892)            
Benefit payment, including refunds of employee contibutions (40,477)          (40,477)          -                 
Administrative expense -                 (1,152)            1,152             
Other changes -                 (57)                 57                  

Net changes 213,638$       61,293$         152,345$       
Balance at 12/31/2015 1,491,537$    1,343,353$    148,184$       

Increase (Decrease)

Asset Class Target Allocation Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return (Arithmetic)

Domestic Equity 17.5% 4.55%
International Equity 17.5% 6.10%
Core Fixed Income 10.0% 1.00%
Non-Core Fixed Income 20.0% 3.65%
Real Return 10.0% 4.03%
Real Estate 10.0% 5.00%
Absolute Return 10.0% 4.00%
Private Equity 5.0% 8.00%

Total 100.0%
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VII. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 
 
The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 
6.75%, as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.75%) or 1-percentage point higher (7.75%) than 
the current rate: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in a separately-
issued TMRS financial report.  That report may be obtained on the internet at www.tmrs.com. 
 
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2016, the City recognized pension expense of $50,124. 
 
At September 30, 2016, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
$25,662 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability 
for the year ending September 30, 2016.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows 
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

2015 19,562$                         
2016 19,562                           
2017 19,562                           
2018 29,302                           
2019 -                                 

Thereafter -                                 

Year ended December 31:

 

1% Decrease 1% Increase
(5.75%) (7.75%)

City's net pension liability 365,049$                       148,184$                       (30,779)$                        

Current Single Rate 
Assumption (6.75%)

Differences between expected and actual economic experience -$               15,185$         
Changes in actuarial assumptions 23,435           -                 
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings 79,738           -                 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 25,662           -                 

Total 128,835$       15,185$         

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources
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VIII. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

The City participates in grant programs which are governed by various rules and regulations of the 
grantor agencies.  Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and 
adjustment by the grantor agencies; therefore, to the extent that the City has not complied with the 
rules and regulations governing the grants, refunds of any money received may be required and 
collectability of any related receivable may be impaired.  In the opinion of the City, there were no 
significant contingent liabilities relating to compliance with the rules and regulations governing the 
respective grants; therefore, no provision has been recorded in the accompanying basic financial 
statement for such contingencies. 
 
In February 2013 a jury rendered a verdict of $163,473 against the City in relation to litigation 
related to eminent domain.  The City has appealed the verdict.  During the current fiscal year, this 
litigation matter was settled, and all remain accrued liability was paid. 
 

IX. Interfund Activity 
 

The Justin CDC and EDC Funds transferred $88,395 and $70,750, respectively to the General 
Fund during the year for the purpose of providing funding for park projects, drive improvements 
and the City comprehensive plan.  The EDC Fund also transferred $25,000 for legal fees.  The 
Justin CDC Fund transferred $80,796 to the Justin EDC Fund for reimbursement of administrative 
costs.   
 
The City has the following interfund balances as of September 30, 2016: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The interfund balances are related to funds transferred from for operations during the year. All 
balances are expected to be repaid or collected in the normal course of business, within one year of 
the fiscal year-end.  

 
X. Risk Management 
 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The City insures its 
buildings and contents, law enforcement liability, public officials’ liability, general liability and 
auto liability under a renewable one year policy with the Texas Municipal League.  The City 
insures its workers compensation risk by participating in the Texas Municipal League 
Intergovernmental Risk Pool which is a self-insurance policy mechanism for political subdivisions 
in Texas.  Rates are set by the State Insurance Board.  Each participant’s contribution to the pool is 
adjusted based on its workers’ compensation history.  The City is responsible only to the extent of 
premiums paid and contributions made to Texas Municipal League and the Intergovernmental 
Risk Pool.  There have been no significant changes in insurance coverage as compared to last year 
and settlements have not exceeded coverage in each of the past three fiscal years. 

DUE FROM
DUE TO General Fund EDC CDC

General Fund -$                   -$                             -$                      
EDC -$                   -$                             -$                      
CDC -$                   -$                             -$                      
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XI. New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
 

The GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions in June 2015 and will be effective for the City in fiscal year 2018.  
This Statement replaces the requirement of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting by Employments for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, and 
No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans for OPEB. 
 This Statement establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements for OPEB plans.  
The City has not yet determined the impact of this statement. 
 
The GASB issues Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures in August 2015 and will be 
effective for the city in fiscal year 2017.  This Statement requires governments that enter in tax 
abatement agreements to disclose 1) brief descriptive information about the abatement, such as the 
tax being abated, the authority under which tax abatements are provided, eligibility criteria, the 
mechanism by which taxes are abated, provisions for recapturing abated taxes, and the types of 
commitments made by tax abatement recipients; 2) The gross dollar amount of taxes abated during 
the period; and 3) Commitments made by a government, other than to abate taxes, as part of a tax 
abatement agreement.  The City has not yet determined the impact of this Statement. 
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CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
GENERAL FUND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

 

Variance with
Final Budget

Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

REVENUE
Taxes:
   Property 1,684,926$    1,684,926$        1,713,300$        28,374$             
   Sales and beverage 536,430         536,430             598,514             62,084
   Franchise and local 208,380         208,380             201,475             (6,905)
License and permits 156,440         156,440             206,119             49,679
Fines and forfeitures 101,898         101,898             99,582               (2,316)
Charges for services 99,211           99,211               137,573             38,362
Intergovernmental 34,034           34,034               12,551               (21,483)             
Contributions and donations 24,078           24,078               25,943               1,865
Investment income 211                211                    3,015                 2,804
Other revenue 14,600           14,600               1,506                 (13,094)
     Total revenues 2,860,208 2,860,208 2,999,578 139,370

EXPENDITURES
Current:
   General government 562,835         562,835             600,727             (37,892)
   Police department 782,661         782,661             755,253             27,408
   Fire services 346,620         346,620             346,620             -                    
   Municipal court 123,049         123,049             136,720             (13,671)
   Public works 361,307         361,307             403,632             (42,325)
   Parks and recreation 270,333         270,333             307,817             (37,484)
   Library 38,152           38,152               40,288               (2,136)
   Inspection 195,833         195,833             315,758             (119,925)
Debt Service:
   Principal 195,943         195,943             187,511             8,432
   Interest and fiscal charges 1,300             1,300                 77,042               (75,742)
     Total Expenditures 2,878,033 2,878,033 3,171,368 (293,335)
        Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
        Over (Under) Expenditures (17,825) (17,825) (171,790) (153,965)

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
   Transfers in 57,500           57,500               105,000             47,500               
   Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                -                    10,576               10,576               
     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 57,500           57,500               115,576             58,076               

Net Change in Fund Balances 39,675 39,675 (56,214) (95,889)

Fund Balances - Beginning 979,048 979,048 979,048 -                        

Fund Balances - Ending 1,018,723$    1,018,723$        922,834$           (95,889)$           
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Total Pension Liability 2015 2014

Service Cost 95,639$               70,781$               
Interest (on the Total Pension Liability) 91,384                 89,613                 
Changes of benefit terms -                       -                       
Difference between expected and actual experience 37,601                 (74,939)                
Change of assumptions 29,491                 -                       
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee

contributions (40,477)                (104,691)              

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 213,638               (19,236)                

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 1,277,899            1,297,135            

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) 1,491,537$          1,277,899$          

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer 33,161$               27,894$               
Contributions - Employee 67,926                 57,625                 
Net Investment Income 1,892                   70,450                 
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee

contributions (40,477)                (104,691)              
Administrative Expense (1,152)                  (736)                     
Other (57)                       (60)                       

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 61,293                 50,482                 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 1,282,060            1,231,578            

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b) 1,343,353$          1,282,060$          

Net Pension Liability - Ending (a) - (b) 148,184$             (4,161)$                

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage
of Total Pension Liability 90.07% 100.33%

Covered Employee Payroll 1,358,510$          1,152,504$          

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage
of Covered Employee Payroll 10.91% -0.36%

CITY OF JUSTIN
SCHEDULE OF CHANGE IN NET PENSION LIABILITY

AND RELATED RATIOS
Last 10 Years (will ultimately be displayed)

 
 
Note:  Only one year of data is presented in accordance with GASB 68, Paragraph 138.  “The information 
for all periods for the 10-year schedules that are required to be presented as required supplementary 
information may not be available initially.  In these cases, during the transition period, that information 
should be presented for as many years as are available.  The schedules should not include information that 
is not measured in accordance with the requirements of this Statement.” 



DRAFT
 

46 
 

 
 
 
 

2016 2015

Actuarially Determined Contribution 36,084$               32,879$               

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution 36,084$               32,879$               

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                     -$                     

Covered employee payroll -$                     1,350,516$          
Contributions as a percentage of covered

employee payroll #DIV/0! 2.43%

CITY OF JUSTIN
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

Last 10 Fiscal Years (will ultimately be displayed)

 
Note:  Only one year of data is presented in accordance with GASB 68, Paragraph 138.  “The information 
for all periods for the 10-year schedules that are required to be presented as required supplementary 
information may not be available initially.  In these cases, during the transition period, that information 
should be presented for as many years as are available.  The schedules should not include information that 
is not measured in accordance with the requirements of this Statement.” 
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Valuation Date 
 
Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 and become effective in 
January 13 months later.  GASB 68, Paragraph 81.2.b requires that the data in the Schedule of 
Contributions be presented as of the City’s current fiscal year as opposed to the valuation/measurement 
date as provided in other schedules of these financial statements. 
 
Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates 
 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed
Remaining Amortization Period 28 years
Asset Valuation Method 10 Year smoothed market; 15% soft corridor
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases 3.50% to 10.5% including inflation
Investment Rate of Return 7.00%
Retirement Age

Mortality

Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's plan of benefits.  
Last updated for the 2015 valuation pursuant to an experience study of the 
period 2010 - 2014.

RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment with male 
rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% and projected 
on a fully generational basis with scale BB

 
Other Information 
 
There were no benefit changes during the year 



 

 

 

 

 

To City Council and Management 

City of Justin, Texas 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, and each major fund of the City of Justin, Texas (the City) as of and for the year ended September 30, 
2015, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered 
the City’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s  internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s  internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
significant deficiencies. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than 
a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We consider the 
following deficiencies in internal control to be significant deficiencies:  

There is currently no automated receipts system to allow for a control over the completeness of cash 
receipts.  It is recommended that the City use either sequentially numbered receipts (and account for 
each), or a computer-generated receipt system in order to account for all receipts given to customers to 
prevent theft.  Since year-end, software systems have begun being evaluated in order to correct this 
significant deficiency. 

Manual adjustments to both the general ledger and subledger system for courts are not reviewed by 
anyone on an ongoing basis.  It is recommended that the City Administrator or City Manager review and 
approve any manual adjustments made to either the general ledger or the court subledger system.  Since 
year-end, a third party performed an audit of the court system.  While there were several 
recommendations, there were no indications of fraud or error impacting the financial statements noted.   

The following deficiencies in internal control were not considered material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, 
but we believed should be brought to the attention of the City Council: 

When payroll changes are made in Quickbooks, there is no review to determine if the changes were 
made appropriately in the approved amounts.  It is recommended that the City Manager review payroll 
expenses on an employee level on a regular basis, at a minimum, monthly, for reasonableness. 

The general ledger for both the general fund and the enterprise fund is maintained with one set of 
accounts in Quickbooks.  While revenues and expenditures are tracked separately by classes, it is 
recommended that separate “funds” be established for each to better control and monitor the activity in 
each. Since year-end, software systems have begun being evaluated in order to correct this control 
deficiency.  In relation to this matter, it is recommended that the accounting for the Justin Economic 
Development Corporation and Justin Community Development Corporation be centralized at the City  
This allows for more efficient reporting and up-to-date information being centralized for the entire City..  
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This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, City Council, and others within 
the City, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Boucher, Morgan and Young, a P.C. 

Stephenville, Texas 

June 20, 2016 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 20,  2016 

To the City Council 
City of Justin, Texas 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each 
major fund of the City of Justin, Texas (the City) for the year ended September 30, 2015. Professional standards 
require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing 
standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have 
communicated such information in our letter to you dated July 28, 2015. Professional standards also require that 
we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Findings 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. As described in Note XI 
to the financial statements, the City changed accounting policies related to Pensions by adopting Statement of 
Governmental Accounting Standards (GASB Statement) No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions 
in 2015. Accordingly, the cumulative effect of the accounting change as of the beginning of the year is reported in 
the Statement of Activities and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position – 
Proprietary Fund.  We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements 
in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. 
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements 
and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The 
most sensitive estimate affecting the City’s financial statements was: 

Management’s estimate of the allowance for uncollectible taxes and account receivable is based 
on historical collection experience. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to 
develop the allowance for uncollectible taxes in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements taken as a whole. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. The 
attached schedule summarizes uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements.  Management has 
determined that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected 
by management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s financial statements 
taken as a whole. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the 
auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
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Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated June 20, 2016. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters, 
similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an accounting 
principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be 
expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to 
determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with 
other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, these discussions 
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our 
retention. 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance Budget and Actual – General Fund, Schedule of Change in Net 
Pension Liability and Related Ratios, Schedule of Contributions, and Notes to Required Supplementary 
Information which are required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. 
Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit 
the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the City and is not intended 
to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 
 

 

 

 

 

Boucher, Morgan and Young, a P.C. 

 



InterimFinancialInformation N/A



Outstanding Debt
   

Yes, General obligation debt: Y

   

Yes, Revenue debt: N

   

Yes, Authorized but unissued debt: N

   

No: N
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Schedule of General Obligation Debt
As of 9/30/2016

ISSUE:
HOLDER:

Grand
FYE Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Total
2017 150,000$    85,469$   50,000$      36,369$      135,000$    95,134$      70,000$      50,684$      60,000$      45,260$      100,000$    19,250$ 897,165$           
2018 155,000      79,281     55,000        34,124        140,000      90,409        70,000        48,444        60,000        43,508        105,000      17,050   897,816             
2019 165,000      72,888     55,000        31,655        145,000      84,809        75,000        45,906        65,000        41,756        100,000      14,740   896,753             
2020 170,000      66,081     60,000        29,185        150,000      79,009        75,000        43,188        65,000        39,858        110,000      12,540   899,861             
2021 175,000      59,069     65,000        26,491        155,000      73,009        80,000        40,375        70,000        37,960        110,000      10,120   902,024             
2022 185,000      51,850     65,000        23,573        165,000      66,809        80,000        37,375        65,000        35,916        115,000      7,700     898,222             
2023 190,000      44,219     70,000        20,654        170,000      60,003        85,000        34,175        70,000        34,018        115,000      5,170     898,238             
2024 200,000      36,381     70,000        17,511        175,000      52,990        90,000        30,775        115,000      31,974        60,000        2,640     882,271             
2025 210,000      28,131     75,000        14,368        185,000      45,378        95,000        27,175        120,000      28,616        60,000        1,320     889,988             
2026 220,000      19,469     80,000        11,001        190,000      37,330        95,000        23,138        170,000      25,112        871,049             
2027 225,000      9,844       80,000        7,409          200,000      28,780        100,000      19,100        175,000      20,148        865,280             
2028 85,000        3,817          210,000      19,780        105,000      14,850        255,000      15,038        708,485             
2029 220,000      10,120        110,000      10,125        260,000      7,592          617,837             
2030 115,000      5,175          120,175             
2031 -                    
2032 -                    
2033 -                    
2034 -                    
2035 -                    

Totals: 2,045,000$ 552,681$ 810,000$    256,155$    2,240,000$ 743,558$    1,245,000$ 430,484$    1,550,000$ 406,756$    875,000$    90,530$ 11,245,163$      

2014 GO Ref2006 CO 2008 CO 2009 CO 2009A CO 2014 CO
TIBPublicly Held Houston Community Bank Publicly Held Publicly Held Regions Bank
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Applicant's Ten Largest Employers
   

Longmeadow Healthcare Center: 95

Texas Environmental Management: 68

Justin Elementary: 55

Lonesome Spur/Mule Barn: 50

Super Save: 45

Sonic Drive-In: 34

First Baptist Church: 30

Justin Discount Boots: 30

Pizza Hut: 29

Progressive Waste: 28

   

Ten Largest Employers Comments: No comment.

Bond Ratings
   

Bond Ratings

   

   

Bond Rating N/A: Y

Receive Water or Sewer
   

Is the project intended to allow the applicant to provide or receive water or sewer services to or

from another entity?: N

Project Description
   

Description of Project Need (for example, is the project needed to address a current compliance

issue, avoid potential compliance issues, extend service, expand capacity, etc.): Conservation

Project - Replace Leaking Pipes

   

Provide a detailed description of the proposed project. The description should include a discussion

of the current service area, existing system facilities; and an adequate description of all proposed

project elements (include a bulleted list of new project elements/components).: The project would

consist of replacing excessively leaking pipes within the City’s Old Town area. The water lines

would be replaced with a minimum 6” water main, which is the City’s current minimum pipe size for

Type Standard &
Poors

Date
Received

Fitch Date
Received

Moody's Date
Received

G.O. A 11-01-2009
Revenue



residential areas and an 8” water main, the minimum pipe size for commercial areas.

 

The Old Town portion of Justin is located in the center of town, and the City’s primary water

source, surface water from Upper Trinity Regional Water District, is delivered directly to an

elevated tank in Old Town. As this elevated tank supplies the other parts of the City, it is a critical

portion of the Justin’s water infrastructure. This critical part of the system is significantly hindered

from working properly due to the leaking water mains surrounding the elevated tank. Additionally,

many times when leaks occur

in Old Town the elevated tank has to be valved off in order to work on the water mains as

sufficient valves are not present either. This project is proposed to replace these mains with

modern and appropriate water pipe to help the City of Justin conserve water and operate a more

efficient water system.

 

We estimate the total cost of these improvements at approximately $12,500,000.00

   

Water Made Available
   

New Supply: 0 (acre-feet/year)/$0 (capital cost)

   

New Conservation Savings: 35 (acre-feet/year)/$12,000,000 (capital cost)

   

New Reuse Supply: 0 (acre-feet/year)/$0 (capital cost)

   

Maintenance of Current Supply: 0 (acre-feet/year)/$0 (capital cost)

SWIFT
   

SWIFT Funding Type

Deferred: $12000000.00

   

Is this request for multi-year funding or phased commitments?: Y

   

As an applicant for financial assistance from SWIFT, I acknowledge that this project must comply

with any applicable legal obligations in federal law related to contracting with disadvantaged

business enterprises.: Y

   

As an applicant for financial assistance from SWIFT, I acknowledge that this project must comply

with applicable legal obligations in state law (Texas Government Code Chapter 2161 and Texas

Administrative Code Chapter 20, Subchapter B) related to contracting with historically

underutilized businesses.: Y



Anticipated Closing Dates

Amount Date

2,400,000$         11/15/2017

2,400,000$         11/13/2019

2,400,000$         11/17/2021

2,400,000$         11/15/2023

2,400,000$         11/19/2025

12,000,000$      
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AN ORDINANCE authorizing the issuance of "CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS, 
COMBINATION TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF 
OBLIGATION, SERIES 2017"; providing for the payment of said 
certificates of obligation by the levy of an ad valorem tax upon all taxable 
property within the City and a pledge of the net revenues derived from the 
operation of the City’s combined Waterworks and Sewer System; 
providing the terms and conditions of such certificates and resolving other 
matters incident and relating to the issuance, payment, security, sale and 
delivery of said Certificates, including the approval and execution of a 
Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement and an Escrow Agreement; and 
providing an effective date. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to an application filed with the Texas Water Development Board 
(the "Board"), the City has received a loan commitment from the Board for financial assistance 
in the amount of $2,400,000 to finance the costs of constructing, acquiring, purchasing, 
renovating, enlarging, equipping, and improving water system properties and facilities, and such 
financial assistance is to be evidenced by the Board’s purchase of certificates of obligation 
payable from the proceeds of an ad valorem tax levied, within the limitations prescribed by law, 
upon all taxable property in the City and a pledge of the Net Revenues (as defined in Section 10 
hereof) of the City’s combined Waterworks and Sewer System; and 

WHEREAS, notice of intention to issue such certificates of obligation (stating the time 
and place the Council proposed to authorize the issuance of such certificates, the maximum 
amount proposed to be issued, the purpose thereof and the manner in which the Council 
proposed to provide for  the payment of such certificates) has been published in________ 
_____________________, a newspaper hereby found to be of general circulation in the City of 
Justin, Texas, on ____________ and ______________, the date of the first publication being at 
least thirty-one (31) days prior to the tentative date stated in said notice for the passage of the 
ordinance authorizing the certificates; and 

WHEREAS, no petition protesting the issuance of the certificates of obligation described 
in the aforesaid notice and bearing valid petition signatures of 5% or more of the qualified 
electors of the City, has been presented to or filed with the City Secretary on or prior to the date 
of the passage of this ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to authority conferred by the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Texas, particularly Texas Local Government Code, Subchapter C of Chapter 271, as amended, 
the City Council hereby finds and determines the certificates of obligation described in such 
notice should be authorized for issuance and delivery to the Board at this time in the amount 
and manner hereinafter provided; now, therefore, 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1: Authorization, Designation, Principal Amount, Purpose.  Certificates of 
obligation of the City shall be and are hereby authorized to be issued in the aggregate principal 
amount of $2,400,000, to be designated and bear the title "CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS, 
COMBINATION TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 
2017" (hereinafter referred to as the "Certificates"), for the purpose of paying contractual 



 

23313308.1/08009902 2 

obligations to be incurred for (i) constructing, acquiring, purchasing, renovating, enlarging, 
equipping, and improving water system properties and facilities and (ii) professional services 
rendered in relation to such projects and the financing thereof, pursuant to authority conferred 
by and in conformity with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, including Texas Local 
Government Code, Subchapter C of Chapter 271, as amended. 

SECTION 2: Fully Registered Obligations - Authorized Denominations - Stated 
Maturities - Date.  The Certificates shall be issued as fully registered obligations, shall be dated 
May 1, 2017 (the "Certificate Date") and shall be in denominations of $5,000 or any integral 
multiple thereof (within a Stated Maturity) and the Certificates shall become due and payable on 
February 15 in each of the years and in principal amounts (the "Stated Maturities") in 
accordance with the following schedule: 

Year of 
Stated Maturity 

Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate(s) 

2018 $ 110,000  
2019 110,000  
2020 110,000  
2021 110,000  
2022 110,000  
2023 110,000  
2024 115,000  
2025 115,000  
2026 115,000  
2027 115,000  
2028 120,000  
2029 120,000  
2030 120,000  
2031 125,000  
2032 125,000  
2033 130,000  
2034 130,000  
2035 135,000  
2036 135,000  
2037 140,000  

   
The Certificates shall bear interest on the unpaid principal amount from the date of 

delivery to the initial purchaser (which date shall be the registration date appearing on the 
"Registration Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar" typed or printed on the global Certificates 
deposited with The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and noted in the records of the 
Paying/Agent Registrar) at the rate(s) per annum shown above in this Section (calculated on the 
basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months).  Interest on the Certificates shall be payable 
on February 15, 2018, and each February 15 and August 15 thereafter until maturity or prior 
redemption. 

SECTION 3: Terms of Payment - Paying Agent/Registrar.  The principal of, premium, if 
any, and the interest on the Certificates, due and payable by reason of maturity, redemption or 
otherwise, shall be payable only to the registered owners or holders of the Certificates 
(hereinafter called the "Holders") appearing on the registration and transfer books maintained by 
the Paying Agent/Registrar and the payment thereof shall be in any coin or currency of the 
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United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public 
and private debts, and shall be without exchange or collection charges to the Holders. 

The selection and appointment of BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas, to serve as Paying 
Agent/Registrar for the Certificates is hereby approved and confirmed.  Books and records 
relating to the registration, payment, transfer and exchange of the Certificates (the "Security 
Register") shall at all times be kept and maintained on behalf of the City by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar, as provided herein and in accordance with the terms and provisions of a 
"Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement", substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, 
and such reasonable rules and regulations as the Paying Agent/Registrar and the City may 
prescribe.  The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and City Secretary are authorized to execute and 
deliver such Agreement in connection with the delivery of the Certificates.  The City covenants 
to maintain and provide a Paying Agent/Registrar at all times until the Certificates are paid and 
discharged, and any successor Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a bank, trust company, financial 
institution or other entity qualified and authorized to serve in such capacity and perform the 
duties and services of Paying Agent/Registrar.  Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar 
for the Certificates, the City agrees to promptly cause a written notice thereof to be sent to each 
Holder by United States Mail, first class postage prepaid, which notice shall also give the 
address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar. 

Principal of and premium, if any, on the Certificates shall be payable at the Stated 
Maturities thereof, only upon presentation and surrender of the Certificates to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar at its designated offices in St. Paul, Minnesota (the "Designated 
Payment/Transfer Office").  Interest on the Certificates shall be paid to the Holders whose name 
appears in the Security Register at the close of business on the Record Date (the last business 
day of the month next preceding each interest payment date) and shall be paid by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar (i) by check sent United States Mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address 
of the Holder recorded in the Security Register or (ii) by such other method, acceptable to the 
Paying Agent/Registrar, requested by, and at the risk and expense of, the Holder.  Provided, 
however, while the Board is the registered owner of the Certificates, payments on the 
Certificates shall be made by wire transfer without expense to the Holder.  If the date for the 
payment of the principal of or interest on the Certificates shall be a Saturday, Sunday, a legal 
holiday, or a day when banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer 
Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, 
then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not such a Saturday, 
Sunday, legal holiday, or day when banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on 
such date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was 
due. 

In the event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for thirty (30) 
days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be 
established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest 
have been received.  Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of 
the past due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at 
least five (5) business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States Mail, first class 
postage prepaid, to the address of each Holder appearing on the Security Register at the close 
of business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice. 
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SECTION 4: Redemption. 

(a) Optional Redemption. The Certificates having Stated Maturities on and after 
February 15, 2028, shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the City, in 
whole or in part (in inverse order of Stated Maturities, if less than all) in principal amounts of 
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof (and if within a Stated Maturity by lot by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar), on August 15, 2027, or on any date thereafter at the redemption price of par 
plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. 

(b) Exercise of Redemption Option.  At least forty-five (45) days prior to a date set 
for the redemption of Certificates (unless a shorter notification period shall be satisfactory to the 
Paying Agent/Registrar), the City shall notify the Paying Agent/Registrar of its decision to 
exercise the right to redeem Certificates, the principal amount of each Stated Maturity to be 
redeemed, and the date set for the redemption thereof.  The decision of the City to exercise the 
right to redeem Certificates shall be entered in the minutes of the governing body of the City. 

(c) Selection of Certificates for Redemption.  If less than all Outstanding Certificates 
of the same Stated Maturity are to be redeemed on a redemption date, the Paying 
Agent/Registrar shall treat such Certificates as representing the number of Certificates 
Outstanding which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such Certificates by $5,000 
and shall select the Certificates to be redeemed within such Stated Maturity by lot. 

(d) Notice of Redemption.  Not less than thirty (30) days prior to a redemption date 
for the Certificates, a notice of redemption shall be sent by United States Mail, first class 
postage prepaid, in the name of the City and at the City’s expense, to each Holder of a 
Certificate to be redeemed in whole or in part at the address of the Holder appearing on the 
Security Register at the close of business on the business day next preceding the date of 
mailing such notice, and any notice of redemption so mailed shall be conclusively presumed to 
have been duly given irrespective of whether received by the Holder. 

All notices of redemption shall (i) specify the date of redemption for the Certificates, (ii) 
identify the Certificates to be redeemed and, in the case of a portion of the principal amount to 
be redeemed, the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, (iii) state the redemption price, 
(iv) state that the Certificates, or the portion of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, 
shall become due and payable on the redemption date specified and the interest thereon, or on 
the portion of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, shall cease to accrue from and after 
the redemption date, provided moneys sufficient for the payment of such Certificate (or the 
principal amount thereof to be redeemed) at the then applicable redemption price are held for 
the purpose of such payment by the Paying Agent/Registrar and (v) specify that payment of the 
redemption price for the Certificates, or the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, shall be 
made at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar only upon 
presentation and surrender thereof by the Holder.  If a Certificate is subject by its terms to prior 
redemption and has been called for redemption and notice of redemption thereof has been duly 
given or waived as herein provided, such Certificate (or the principal amount thereof to be 
redeemed) shall become due and payable and interest thereon shall cease to accrue from and 
after the redemption date therefor. 

(e) Conditional Notice of Redemption.  With respect to any optional redemption of 
the Certificates, unless certain prerequisites to such redemption required by this Ordinance 
have been met and moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest 
on the Bonds to be redeemed shall have been received by the Paying Agent/Registrar prior to 
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the giving of such notice of redemption, such notice may state that said redemption is 
conditional upon the satisfaction of such prerequisites and receipt of such moneys by the 
Paying Agent/Registrar on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption.  If a conditional notice 
of redemption is given and such prerequisites to the redemption are not satisfied or sufficient 
moneys are not received, such notice shall be of no force and effect, the City shall not redeem 
such Certificates and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall give notice, in the manner in which the 
notice of redemption was given, to the effect that the  Certificates have not been redeemed. 

SECTION 5: Registration - Transfer - Exchange of Certificates - Predecessor 
Certificates.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall obtain, record, and maintain in the Security 
Register the name and address of each and every registered owner of the Certificates issued 
under and pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance, or if appropriate, the nominee thereof.  
Any Certificate may be transferred or exchanged for Certificates of other authorized 
denominations by the Holder, in person or by his duly authorized agent, upon surrender of such 
Certificate to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, accompanied by a written instrument 
of transfer or request for exchange duly executed by the Holder or by his duly authorized agent, 
in form satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar. 

Upon surrender of any Certificate at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the 
Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall register and deliver, in the name of the 
designated transferee or transferees, one or more new Certificates, executed on behalf of, and 
furnished by, the City, of authorized denominations and having the same Stated Maturity and of 
a like aggregate principal amount as the Certificate or Certificates surrendered for transfer. 

At the option of the Holders, Certificates may be exchanged for other Certificates of 
authorized denominations and having the same Stated Maturity, bearing the same rate of 
interest and of like aggregate principal amount as the Certificates surrendered for exchange. 
upon surrender of the Certificates to be exchanged at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office 
of the Paying Agent/Registrar.  Whenever any Certificates so surrendered for exchange, the 
Paying Agent/Registrar shall register and deliver new Certificates, executed on behalf of, and 
furnished by the City, to the Holder requesting the exchange. 

All Certificates issued upon any transfer or exchange of Certificates shall be delivered at 
the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, or sent by United States 
mail, first class postage prepaid, to the Holder and, upon the delivery thereof, the same shall be 
valid obligations of the City, evidencing the same obligation to pay, and entitled to the same 
benefits under this Ordinance, as the Certificates surrendered in such transfer or exchange. 

All transfers or exchanges of Certificates pursuant to this Section shall be made without 
expense or service charge to the Holder, except as otherwise herein provided, and except that 
the Paying Agent/Registrar shall require payment by the Holder requesting such transfer or 
exchange of any tax or other governmental charges required to be paid with respect to such 
transfer or exchange. 

Certificates cancelled by reason of an exchange or transfer pursuant to the provisions 
hereof are hereby defined to be "Predecessor Certificates," evidencing all or a portion, as the 
case may be, of the same obligation to pay evidenced by the new Certificate or Certificates 
registered and delivered in the exchange or transfer therefor.  Additionally, the term 
"Predecessor Certificates" shall include any mutilated, lost, destroyed, or stolen Certificate for 
which a replacement Certificate has been issued, registered and delivered in lieu thereof 
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pursuant to Section 24 hereof and such new replacement Certificate shall be deemed to 
evidence the same obligation as the mutilated, lost, destroyed, or stolen Certificate. 

Neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to transfer or exchange 
any Certificate called for redemption, in whole or in part, within forty-five (45) days of the date 
fixed for redemption of such Certificate; provided, however, such limitation on transferability 
shall not be applicable to an exchange by the Holder of an unredeemed balance of a Certificate 
called for redemption in part. 

SECTION 6: Book-Entry-Only Transfers and Transactions.  Notwithstanding the 
provisions contained in Sections 3, 4 and 5 hereof relating to the payment, and 
transfer/exchange of the Certificates, the City hereby approves and authorizes the use of 
"Book-Entry-Only" securities clearance, settlement and transfer system provided by The 
Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws 
of the State of New York, in accordance with the operational arrangements referenced in the 
Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations  by and between the City and DTC (the "Depository 
Agreement"). 

Pursuant to the Depository Agreement and the rules of DTC, the Certificates shall be 
deposited with DTC who shall hold said Certificates for its participants (the "DTC Participants").  
While the Certificates are held by DTC under the Depository Agreement, the Holder of the 
Certificates on the Security Register for all purposes, including payment and notices, shall be 
Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, notwithstanding the ownership of each actual purchaser or 
owner of each Certificate (the "Beneficial Owners") being recorded in the records of DTC and 
DTC Participants. 

In the event DTC determines to discontinue serving as securities depository for the 
Certificates or otherwise ceases to provide book-entry clearance and settlement of securities 
transactions in general or the City determines that DTC is incapable of properly discharging its 
duties  as  securities  depository  for  the  Certificates,  the City covenants  and  agrees  with the  
Holders of  the  Certificates  to  cause  Certificates to  be  printed  in  definitive  form and provide 
for the Certificates to be issued and delivered to DTC Participants and Beneficial Owners, as 
the case may be.  Thereafter,  the  Certificates  in  definitive  form  shall  be  assigned,  
transferred and exchanged on the Security Register maintained by the  Paying  Agent/Registrar 
and payment of such Certificates shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Sections 3, 
4 and 5 hereof. 

The City agrees it will not discontinue its use of the DTC Book-Entry-Only System with 
respect to the Certificates without prior notice to and consent from the Board while the Board is 
the Holder of any of the Certificates. 

SECTION 7: Execution - Registration.  The Certificates shall be executed on behalf of 
the City by the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem under its seal reproduced or impressed thereon and 
countersigned by the City Secretary.  The signature of said officers on the Certificates may be 
manual or facsimile.  Certificates bearing the manual or facsimile signatures of said individuals 
who are or were the proper officers of the City on the date of the adoption of this Ordinance 
shall be deemed to be duly executed on behalf of the City, notwithstanding that such individuals 
or any of them shall cease to hold such offices prior to the delivery of the Certificates to the 
initial purchaser, and with respect to Certificates delivered in subsequent exchanges and 
transfers, all as authorized and provided in Texas Government Code, Chapter 1201, as 
amended. 
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No Certificate shall be entitled to any right or benefit under this Ordinance, or be valid or 
obligatory for any purpose, unless there appears on such Certificate either a certificate of 
registration substantially in the form provided in Section 9(c), manually executed by the 
Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas or his duly authorized agent, or a 
certificate of registration substantially in the form provided in Section 9(d), manually executed by 
an authorized officer, employee or representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar, and either such 
certificate upon any Certificate shall be conclusive evidence, and the only evidence, that such 
Certificate has been duly certified, registered and delivered. 

SECTION 8: Initial Certificate(s).  The Certificates herein authorized shall be initially 
issued either (i) as a single fully registered certificate in the total principal amount stated in 
Section 1 hereof with principal installments to become due and payable as provided in Section 2 
hereof and numbered T-1, or (ii) as multiple fully registered certificates, being one certificate for 
each year of maturity in the applicable principal amount and denomination and to be numbered 
consecutively from T-1 and upward (hereinafter called the "Initial Certificate(s)") and, in either 
case, the Initial Certificate(s) shall be registered in the name of the initial purchaser or the 
designee thereof.  The Initial Certificate(s) shall be the Certificates submitted to the Office of the 
Attorney General of the State of Texas for approval, certified and registered by the Office of the 
Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas and delivered to the initial purchaser.  Any 
time after the delivery of the Initial Certificate(s), the Paying Agent/Registrar, pursuant to written 
instructions from the initial purchaser, or the designee thereof, shall cancel the Initial 
Certificate(s) delivered hereunder and exchange therefor definitive Certificates of authorized 
denominations, Stated Maturities, principal amounts and bearing applicable interest rates for 
transfer and delivery to the Holders named at the addresses identified therefor; all pursuant to 
and in accordance with such written instructions from the initial purchaser, or the designee 
thereof, and such other information and documentation as the Paying Agent/Registrar may 
reasonably require. 

SECTION 9: Forms. 

(a) Forms Generally.  The Certificates, the Registration Certificate of the Comptroller 
of Public Accounts of the State of Texas, the Registration Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar, 
and the form of Assignment to be printed on the Certificates, shall be substantially in the forms 
set forth in this Section with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions, and other 
variations as are permitted or required by this Ordinance and may have such letters, numbers, 
or other marks of identification (including identifying numbers and letters of the Committee on 
Uniform Securities Identification Procedures of the American Bankers Association) and such 
legends and endorsements (including insurance legends in the event the Certificates, or any 
maturities thereof, are purchased with insurance and any reproduction of an opinion of counsel) 
thereon as may, consistently herewith, be established by the City or determined by the officers 
executing such Certificates as evidenced by their execution thereof.  Any portion of the text of 
any Certificates may be set forth on the reverse thereof, with an appropriate reference thereto 
on the face of the Certificate. 

The Certificates, including the Initial Certificate(s), shall be printed, lithographed, 
engraved, typewritten, photocopied or otherwise reproduced in any other similar manner, all as 
determined by the officers executing such Certificates as evidenced by their execution. 
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(b) Form of Definitive Certificates. 

REGISTERED 
NO. ____ 

REGISTERED
$___________

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF TEXAS 

CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS, 
COMBINATION TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE 

CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION, 
SERIES 2017 

Certificate Date: 
May 1, 2017 

Interest Rate: 
     ____% 

Stated Maturity: 
February 15, 20__ 

CUSIP NO: 
__________ 

Registered Owner:  
  
Principal Amount: 
 

The City of Justin (hereinafter referred to as the "City"), a body corporate and municipal 
corporation in the County of Denton, for value received, acknowledges itself indebted to and 
hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner named above, or the registered assigns 
thereof, on the Stated Maturity date specified above the Principal Amount stated (or so much 
thereof as shall not have been redeemed prior to maturity)  and to pay interest on the unpaid 
principal amount hereof from the date of the delivery of the Certificate to the initial purchaser at 
the per annum rate of interest specified above computed on the basis of a 360-day year of 
twelve 30-day months; such interest being payable on February 15 and August 15 in each year, 
commencing February 15, 2018, until maturity or prior redemption.  Principal of this Certificate is 
payable at its Stated Maturity or upon its prior redemption to the registered owner hereof, upon 
presentation and surrender, at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying 
Agent/Registrar executing the registration certificate appearing hereon, or its successor;.  
Interest is payable to the registered owner of this Certificate (or one or more Predecessor 
Certificates, as defined in the Ordinance hereinafter referenced) whose name appears on the 
"Security Register" maintained by the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the 
"Record  Date", which is the last business day of the month next preceding each interest 
payment date, and interest shall be paid by the Paying Agent/Registrar by check sent United 
States Mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of the registered owner recorded in the 
Security Register or by such other method, acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, requested 
by, and at the risk and expense of, the registered owner.  If the date for the payment of the 
principal of or interest on the Certificates shall be a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday, or a day 
when banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the 
Paying Agent/Registrar is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the 
date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not such a Saturday, Sunday, 
legal holiday, or day on which banking institutions are authorized to close, and payment on such 
date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.  All 
payments of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on this Certificate shall be without 
exchange or collection charges to the owner hereof and in any coin or currency of the United 
States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and 
private debts. 
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This Certificate is one of the series specified in its title issued in the aggregate principal 
amount of $2,400,000 (herein referred to as the "Certificates") for the purpose of paying 
contractual obligations to be incurred for (i) constructing, acquiring, purchasing, renovating, 
enlarging, equipping, and improving water system properties and facilities and (ii) professional 
services rendered in relation to such projects and the financing thereof, under and in strict 
conformity with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, particularly Texas Local 
Government Code, Subchapter C of Chapter 271, as amended, and pursuant to an Ordinance 
adopted by the City Council of the City (herein referred to as the "Ordinance"). 

The Certificates maturing on and after February 15, 2028, may be redeemed prior to 
their Stated Maturities, at the option of the City, in whole or in part (in inverse order of Stated 
Maturities, if less than all) in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof (and if 
within a Stated Maturity by lot by the Paying Agent/Registrar), on August 15, 2027, or on any 
date thereafter, at the redemption price of par, together with accrued interest to the date of 
redemption. 

At least thirty (30) days prior to a redemption date, the City shall cause a written notice 
of such redemption to be sent by United States Mail, first class postage prepaid, to the 
registered owners of the Certificates to be redeemed, and subject to the terms and provisions 
relating thereto contained in the Ordinance.  If a Certificate (or any portion of its principal sum) 
shall have been duly called for redemption and notice of such redemption duly given, then upon 
the redemption date such Certificate (or the portion of its principal sum to be redeemed) shall 
become due and payable, and, if moneys for the payment of the redemption price and the 
interest accrued on the principal amount to be redeemed to the date of redemption are held for 
the purpose of such payment by the Paying Agent/Registrar, interest shall cease to accrue and 
be payable from and after the redemption date on the principal amount  redeemed. 

In the event a portion of the principal amount of a Certificate is to be redeemed and the 
registered owner is someone other than Cede & Co., payment of the redemption price of such 
principal amount shall be made to the registered owner only upon presentation and surrender of 
such Certificate to the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, and a 
new Certificate or Certificates of like maturity and interest rate in any authorized denominations 
provided by the Ordinance for the then unredeemed balance of the principal sum thereof will be 
issued to the registered owner, without charge.  If a Certificate is selected for redemption, in 
whole or in part, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall not be required to transfer such 
Certificate to an assignee of the registered owner within forty-five (45) days of the redemption 
date therefor; provided, however, such limitation on transferability shall not be applicable to an 
exchange by the registered owner of the unredeemed balance of a Certificate redeemed in part. 

With respect to any optional redemption of the Certificates, unless certain prerequisites 
to such redemption required by the Ordinance have been met and moneys sufficient to pay the 
principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Certificates to be redeemed shall have 
been received by the Paying Agent/Registrar prior to the giving of such notice of redemption, 
such notice may state that said redemption is conditional upon the satisfaction of such 
prerequisites and receipt of such moneys by the Paying Agent/Registrar on or prior to the date 
fixed for such redemption.  If a conditional notice of redemption is given and such prerequisites 
to the redemption are not satisfied or sufficient moneys are not received, such notice shall be of 
no force and effect, the City shall not redeem such Certificates and the Paying Agent/Registrar 
shall give notice, in the manner in which the notice of redemption was given, to the effect that 
the Certificates have not been redeemed. 
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The Certificates are payable from the proceeds of an ad valorem tax levied, within the 
limitations prescribed by law, upon all taxable property in the City and are additionally payable 
from and secured by a lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues (as defined in the Ordinance) of 
the City’s combined Waterworks and Sewer System (the "System"), such lien and pledge being 
junior and subordinate to the lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues of the System securing 
the payment of "Prior Lien Obligations" (identified and defined in the Ordinance) hereafter 
issued by the City.  In the Ordinance, the City reserves and retains the right to issue Prior Lien 
Obligations while the Certificates are outstanding without limitation as to principal amount but 
subject to any terms, conditions or restrictions as may be applicable thereto under law or 
otherwise as well as the right to issue additional obligations payable from the same sources as 
the Certificates and, together with the Certificates, equally and ratably secured by a parity lien 
on and pledge of the Net Revenues of the System. 

Reference is hereby made to the Ordinance, a copy of which is on file in the Designated 
Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, and to all the provisions of which the 
Holder by the acceptance hereof hereby assents, for definitions of terms; the description of and 
the nature and extent of the tax levied for the payment of the Certificates; the properties 
constituting the System; the Net Revenues pledged to the payment of the principal of and 
interest on the Certificates; the nature and extent and manner of enforcement of the pledge; the 
terms and conditions relating to the transfer or exchange of this Certificate; the conditions upon 
which the Ordinance may be amended or supplemented with or without the consent of the 
Holders; the rights, duties, and obligations of the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar; the terms 
and provisions upon which the tax levy and the liens, pledges, charges and covenants made 
therein may be discharged at or prior to the maturity of this Certificate, and this Certificate 
deemed to be no longer Outstanding thereunder; and for the other terms and provisions 
contained therein.  Capitalized terms used herein have the meanings assigned in the 
Ordinance. 

This Certificate, subject to certain limitations contained in the Ordinance, may be 
transferred on the Security Register only upon its presentation and surrender at the Designated 
Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, with the Assignment hereon duly 
endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the 
Paying Agent/Registrar duly executed by, the registered owner hereof, or his duly authorized 
agent. When a transfer on the Security Register occurs, one or more new fully registered 
Certificates of the same Stated Maturity, of authorized denominations, bearing the same rate of 
interest, and of the same aggregate principal amount will be issued by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar to the designated transferee or transferees. 

The City and the Paying Agent/Registrar, and any agent of either, may treat the 
registered owner hereof whose name appears on the Security Register (i) on the Record Date 
as the owner entitled to payment of interest hereon, (ii) on the date of surrender of this 
Certificate as the owner entitled to payment of principal hereof at its Stated Maturity or upon its 
redemption, in whole or in part, and (iii) on any other date as the owner for all other purposes, 
and neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar, or any agent of either, shall be affected by 
notice to the contrary.  In the event of nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date and 
for thirty (30) days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record 
Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of 
such interest have been received.  Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled 
payment date of the past due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) 
shall be sent at least five (5) business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States 
Mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of each Holder appearing on the Security 
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Register at the close of business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of 
such notice. 

It is hereby certified, recited, represented and covenanted that the City is a body 
corporate and political subdivision duly organized and legally existing under and by virtue of the 
Constitution and laws of the State of Texas; that the issuance of the Certificates is duly 
authorized by law; that all acts, conditions and things required to exist and be done precedent to 
and in the issuance of the Certificates to render the same lawful and valid obligations of the City 
have been properly done, have happened and have been performed in regular and due time, 
form and manner as required by the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, and the 
Ordinance; that the Certificates do not exceed any Constitutional or statutory limitation; and that 
due provision has been made for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Certificates 
by the levy of a tax and a pledge of and lien on the Net Revenues of the System as aforestated.  
In case any provision in this Certificate or any application thereof shall be invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable, the validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions and 
applications shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.  The terms and provisions of 
this Certificate and the Ordinance shall be construed in accordance with and shall be governed 
by the laws of the State of Texas. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City Council of the City has caused this Certificate to be 
duly executed under the official seal of the City. 

CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Mayor 

COUNTERSIGNED: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
City Secretary 

 

(SEAL) 
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(c) Form of Registration Certificate of Comptroller of Public Accounts to appear on 
Initial Certificate(s) only. 

REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE OF 
COMPTROLLER OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER ) 
 ) 
OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS ) REGISTER NO. ________________ 
 ) 
THE STATE OF TEXAS ) 

 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this Certificate has been examined, certified as to validity and 

approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, and duly registered by the Comptroller 
of Public Accounts of the State of Texas. 

WITNESS my signature and seal of office this ______________________. 

___________________________________ 
Comptroller of Public Accounts 
 of the State of Texas 

(SEAL) 

(d) Form of Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar. 

REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE OF PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR 

This Certificate has been duly issued and registered under the provisions of the within-
mentioned Ordinance; the certificate or certificates of the above entitled and designated series 
originally delivered having been approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and 
registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts, as shown by the records of the Paying 
Agent/Registrar. 

The designated offices of the Paying Agent/Registrar located in St. Paul, Minnesota, is 
the "Designated Payment/Transfer Office" for this Certificate. 

BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas, 
  as Paying Agent/Registrar 

Registration Date: 
 
__________________________ By _______________________________ 
 Authorized Signature 
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(e) Form of Assignment. 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto 
(Print or typewrite name, address, and zip code of transferee:)  
  
(Social Security or other identifying number:  
___________________________________________________) the within Certificate and all 
rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints  
  
attorney to transfer the within Certificate on the books kept for registration thereof, with full 
power of substitution in the premises. 

DATED: 
 
  
Signature guaranteed: 
 

  
NOTICE:  The signature on this 
assignment must correspond with the 
name of the registered owner as it 
appears on the face of the within 
Certificate in every particular. 
 

(f) The Initial Certificate(s) shall be in the form set forth in paragraph (b) of  this 
Section, except that the form of a single fully registered Initial Certificate shall be modified as 
follows: 

Heading and first paragraph shall be modified to read as follows: 

REGISTERED 
NO. T-1 

REGISTERED
$2,400,000

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF TEXAS 

CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS, 
COMBINATION TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE 

CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION, 
SERIES 2017 

Certificate Date:  May 1, 2017 

Registered Owner: TEXAS WATER DEVELOPMENT BOARD  
  
Principal Amount: TWO MILLION FOUR HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
 

The City of Justin (hereinafter referred to as the "City"), a body corporate and municipal 
corporation in the County of Denton, State of Texas, for value received, acknowledges itself 
indebted to and hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner named above, or the 
registered assigns thereof, the Principal Amount hereinabove stated on February 15 in each of 
the years and in principal installments in accordance with the following schedule: 
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YEAR 

 PRINCIPAL 
INSTALLMENTS 

 INTEREST 
RATE 

 
 

(Information to be inserted from schedule in Section 2 hereof). 
 

(or so much thereof as shall not have been redeemed prior to maturity)  and to pay interest on 
the unpaid principal amount hereof from the date of the delivery to the initial purchaser at the 
per annum rate(s) of interest specified above computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 
30-day months; such interest being payable on February 15 and August 15 of each year, 
commencing February 15, 2018, until maturity or prior redemption.  Principal of this Certificate is 
payable at its Stated Maturity or on a redemption date to the registered owner hereof by BOKF, 
NA, Dallas Texas (the "Paying Agent/Registrar"), upon presentation and surrender, at its 
designated offices in St. Paul, Minnesota (the "Designated Payment/Transfer Office").  Interest 
is payable to the registered owner of this Certificate whose name appears on the "Security 
Register" maintained by the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the "Record 
Date", which is the last business day of the month next preceding each interest payment date 
hereof and interest shall be paid by the Paying Agent/Registrar by check sent United States 
Mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of the registered owner recorded in the Security 
Register or by such other method, acceptable to the Paying Agent/ Registrar, requested by, and 
at the risk and expense of, the registered owner.  If the date for the payment of the principal of 
or interest on the Certificates shall be a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday, or a day when 
banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying 
Agent/Registrar is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date for 
such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not such a Saturday, Sunday, legal 
holiday, or day on which banking institutions are authorized to close, and payment on such date 
shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.  All 
payments of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on this Certificate shall be without 
exchange or collection charges to the owner hereof and in any coin or currency of the United 
States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and 
private debts. 

SECTION 10: Definitions.  For purposes of this Ordinance and for clarity with respect to 
the issuance of the Certificates, and the levy of taxes and appropriation of Net Revenues 
therefor, the following words or terms, whenever the same appears herein without qualifying 
language, are defined to mean as follows: 

(a) The term "Additional Certificates" shall mean tax and revenue obligations 
hereafter issued under and pursuant to the provisions of Texas Local Government Code, 
Subchapter C of Chapter 271, or other law and payable from ad valorem taxes and additionally 
payable from and secured by a lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues of the System on a 
parity with and of equal rank and dignity with the lien and pledge securing the payment of the 
Certificates. 

(b) The term "Certificates" shall mean the $2,400,000 "City of Justin, Texas, 
Combination Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2017" authorized by 
this Ordinance. 

(c) The term "Certificate Fund" shall mean the special Fund created and established 
under the provisions of Section 11 of this Ordinance. 
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(d) The term "Collection Date" shall mean, when reference is being made to the levy 
and collection of annual ad valorem taxes, the date the annual ad valorem taxes levied each 
year by the City become delinquent. 

(e) The term "Fiscal Year" shall mean the twelve month operational period of the 
System ending on September 30th of each year; provided, however, the City Council may 
change the Fiscal Year to another period of not less than twelve calendar months if such 
change is found and determined to be necessary for accounting purposes or is required by 
applicable law. 

(f) The term "Government Securities" shall mean (i) direct noncallable obligations of 
the United States of America, including obligations the principal of and interest on which are 
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, (ii) noncallable obligations of an 
agency or instrumentality of the United States, including obligations unconditionally guaranteed 
or insured by the agency or instrumentality and, on the date of their acquisition or purchase by 
the City, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not 
less than AAA or its equivalent, (iii) noncallable obligations of a state or an agency or a county, 
municipality, or other political subdivision of a state that have been refunded and that, on the 
date of their acquisition or purchase by the City, are rated as to investment quality by a 
nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, and (iv) any 
other authorized securities or obligations under applicable law that may be used to defease 
obligations such as the Certificates. 

(g) The term "Net Revenues" shall mean the gross revenues derived from the 
operation of the System less reasonable expenses of maintenance and operation of the System 
as defined by Texas Government Code, Chapter 1502, as amended. 

(h) The term "Outstanding" when used in this Ordinance with respect to Certificates 
means, as of the date of determination, all Certificates theretofore issued and delivered under 
this Ordinance, except: 

(1) those Certificates cancelled by the Paying Agent/Registrar or 
delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation; 

(2) those Certificates for which payment has been duly provided by 
the City in accordance with the provisions of Section 25 hereof; and 

(3) those Certificates that have been mutilated, destroyed, lost, or 
stolen and replacement Certificates have been registered and delivered in lieu 
thereof as provided in Section 24 hereof. 

(i) The term "Prior Lien Obligations" shall mean all bonds or other revenue 
obligations now outstanding and hereafter issued that are payable solely from and secured only 
by a lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues of the System, which is prior in right and claim to 
the lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues securing the payment of the Certificates. 

(j) The term "System" shall mean the City’s combined waterworks and sewer 
system, including all present and future additions, extensions, replacements, and improvements 
thereto.. 
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SECTION 11: Certificate Fund.  For the purpose of paying the interest on and to provide 
a sinking fund for the payment, redemption and retirement of the Certificates, there shall be and 
is hereby created a special account or fund on the books and records of the City known as the 
"SPECIAL SERIES 2017 TAX AND REVENUE CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION FUND" (the 
"Certificate Fund"), and all moneys deposited to the credit of such Fund shall be kept and 
maintained in a special banking account at a depository of the City.  The Mayor, Mayor Pro 
Tem, and City Secretary of the City, individually or jointly, are hereby authorized and directed to 
make withdrawals from said Fund sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the 
Certificates as the same become due and payable, and, shall cause to be transferred to the 
Paying Agent/Registrar from moneys on deposit in the Certificate Fund an amount sufficient to 
pay the amount of principal and/or interest falling due on the Certificates, such transfer of funds 
to the Paying Agent/Registrar to be made in such manner as will cause immediately available 
funds to be deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar on or before the last business day next 
preceding each interest and principal payment date for the Certificates. 

Pending the transfer of funds to the Paying Agent/Registrar, money in the Certificate 
Fund may, at the option of the City, be invested in obligations identified in, and in accordance 
with the provisions of the "Public Funds Investment Act" (Texas Government Code, Chapter 
2256, as amended) relating to the investment of "bond proceeds"; provided that all such 
investments shall be made in such a manner that the money required to be expended from said 
Fund will be available at the proper time or times.  All interest and income derived from deposits 
and investments in said Certificate Fund shall be credited to, and any losses debited to, the said 
Certificate Fund.  All such investments shall be sold promptly when necessary to prevent any 
default in connection with the Certificates. 

SECTION 12: Tax Levy. 

(a) To provide for the payment of the "Debt Service Requirements" on the 
Certificates being (i) the interest on said Certificates and (ii) a sinking fund for their redemption 
at maturity or a sinking fund of 2% (whichever amount shall be the greater), there shall be and 
there is hereby levied a sufficient tax on each one hundred dollars’ valuation of taxable property 
in said City, adequate to pay such Debt Service Requirements while the Certificates are 
Outstanding, full allowance being made for delinquencies and costs of collection; and said tax 
shall be assessed and collected each year and applied to the payment of the Debt Service 
Requirements, and the same shall not be diverted to any other purpose. The taxes so levied 
and collected shall be paid into the Certificate Fund.  The City Council hereby declares its 
purpose and intent to provide and levy a tax legally and fully sufficient to pay the said Debt 
Service Requirements, it having been determined that the existing and available taxing authority 
of the City for such purpose is adequate to permit a legally sufficient tax in consideration of all 
other outstanding indebtedness. 

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (a) above of this Section 12: 

(1) if Net Revenues of the System hereinafter pledged to the payment 
of the Certificates or any other legally available funds are actually on deposit in 
the Certificate Fund in advance of the time ad valorem taxes are scheduled to be 
levied for any year, then the amount of taxes otherwise required to be levied for 
such year pursuant to (a) above may be reduced to the extent and by the amount 
of the funds then on deposit in the Certificate Fund; or 
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(2) if the City’s annual budget provides for the Net Revenues of the 
System to pay the Debt Service Requirements of the Certificates to become due 
and payable during the budget year thereby reducing the amount of ad valorem 
taxes to be levied in such year for the Certificates, then: 

(i) The City shall transfer and deposit in the Certificate 
Fund each month an amount of not less than 1/12th of the annual 
Debt Service Requirements on the Certificates until the amount 
accumulated and maintained in the Certificate Fund equals the 
amount required for the full payment of the Debt Service 
Requirements on the Certificates then Outstanding; and provided 
further, save and except for required payments to the special 
funds maintained for the payment of the Prior Lien Obligations and 
Additional Obligations, if issued, the City shall not transfer any Net 
Revenues from the System Fund to any fund of the City other than 
the Certificate Fund until such time as an amount equal to the 
annual Debt Service Requirements for the Certificates for the then 
current fiscal year has been deposited in the Certificate Fund; 

(ii) Each year while the Certificates are Outstanding, 
and prior to the time of the annual ad valorem tax rate is 
established and levied by the City, the City shall establish, adopt 
and maintain an annual budget that provides for either the monthly 
deposit of sufficient Net Revenues of the System and/or ad 
valorem tax revenues, the monthly deposit of any other legally 
available funds on hand at the time of the adoption of the annual 
budget, or a combination thereof, into the Certificate Fund for the 
payment of the Certificates; and 

(iii) The City shall at all times maintain and collect 
sufficient rates and charges for water and sewer services in 
conjunction with any other legally available funds that, after 
payment of the costs of operating and maintaining the System that 
produce Net Revenues in an amount not less than 1.10 times the 
debt service payments for all outstanding water or sewer system 
revenue bonds of the City and other obligations of the City which 
are secured in whole or in part by a pledge of the revenues of the 
System for which the City is budgeting the repayment of such 
obligations from the revenues of the System, or the City shall 
provide documentation which evidences the levy of an ad valorem 
tax rate dedicated to the payment of the Certificates, in 
conjunction with any other legally available funds other than 
revenues of the System, sufficient for the repayment of System 
debt service requirements. 

SECTION 13: Pledge of Surplus Net Revenues.  The City hereby covenants and agrees 
that, subject only to a prior lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues of the System for the 
payment and security of Prior Lien Obligations, the Net Revenues of the System, with the 
exception of those in excess of the amounts required to be deposited to the Certificate Fund as 
hereafter provided, are hereby irrevocably pledged, equally and ratably, to the payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Certificates and Additional Certificates, if issued, as herein 
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provided, and the pledge of the Net Revenues of the System herein made for the payment of 
the Certificates shall constitute a lien on the Net Revenues of the System in accordance with the 
terms and provisions hereof and be valid and binding without further action by the City and 
without any filing or recording except for the filing of this Ordinance in the records of the City. 

Section 1208, Government Code, as amended, applies to the issuance of the 
Certificates and the pledge of the Net Revenues of the System granted by the City under this 
Section 12, and such pledge is therefore valid, effective and perfected.  If Texas law is amended 
at any time while the Certificates are Outstanding such that the pledge of the Net Revenues of 
the System granted by the City under this Section 12 is to be subject to the filing requirements 
of Chapter 9, Business & Commerce Code, as amended, then in order to preserve to the 
registered owners of the Certificates the perfection of the security interest in said pledge, the 
City agrees to take such measures as it determines are reasonable and necessary under Texas 
law to comply with the applicable provisions of Chapter 9, Business & Commerce Code, as 
amended, and enable a filing to perfect the security interest in said pledge to occur. 

SECTION 14: System Fund.  The City hereby covenants and agrees that while the 
Certificates remain Outstanding all revenues derived from the operation of the System shall be 
kept separate and apart from all other funds of the City, and all such revenues shall be 
deposited as collected into a "City of Justin Waterworks and Sewer System Fund" (hereby 
created and hereinafter called the "System Fund").  All moneys deposited to the credit of the 
System Fund shall be pledged and appropriated to the extent required for the following 
purposes and in the order of priority shown, to wit: 

First: To the payment of the reasonable and proper maintenance and operating 
expenses as defined herein or required by statute to be a first charge on and 
claim against the gross revenues of the System. 

Second: To the payment of all amounts required to be deposited in the 
special Funds created and established for the payment, security and benefit of 
Prior Lien Obligations in accordance with the terms and provisions of the 
ordinances authorizing the issuance of Prior Lien Obligations. 

Third: To the payment, equally and ratably, of the amounts required to be 
deposited in the special funds and accounts created and established for the 
payment of the Certificates (the Certificate Fund) and Additional Certificates. 

Any Net Revenues remaining in the System Fund after satisfying the foregoing 
payments, or making adequate and sufficient provision for the payment thereof, may be used for 
the redemption of Prior Lien Obligations or may be transferred to the general fund of the City 
and used for general or special purposes. 

SECTION 15: Deposits to Certificate Fund.  The City hereby covenants and agrees to 
cause to be deposited to the credit of the Certificate Fund prior to each principal and interest 
payment date for the Certificates from the pledged Net Revenues of the System in the System 
Fund, after the deduction of all payments required to be made to the special Funds or accounts 
created for the payment and security of the Prior Lien Obligations, an amount equal to one 
hundred per centum (100%) of the amount required to fully pay the interest and principal 
payments then due and payable on the Certificates, such deposits to pay accrued interest and 
maturing principal on the Certificates to be made in substantially equal monthly installments on 
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or before the 20th day of each month beginning on or before the 20th day of the month following 
the date of delivery of the Certificates to the initial purchaser. 

The monthly deposits to the Certificate Fund, as hereinabove provided, shall be made 
until such time as such Fund contains an amount equal to pay the principal of and interest on 
the Certificates to maturity.  Ad valorem taxes levied, collected and deposited in the Certificate 
Fund for and on behalf of the Certificates may be taken into consideration and reduce the 
amount of the monthly deposits otherwise required to be deposited in the Certificate Fund from 
the Net Revenues of the System.  In addition, any proceeds of sale of the Certificates in excess 
of the amount required to pay the contractual obligations to be incurred (including change 
orders to a construction contract) shall be deposited in the Certificate Fund, which amount shall 
reduce the sums otherwise required to be deposited in said Fund from ad valorem taxes and the 
Net Revenues of the System. 

SECTION 16: Security of Funds.  All moneys on deposit in the Funds for which this 
Ordinance makes provision (except any portion thereof as may be at any time properly 
invested) shall be secured in the manner and to the fullest extent required by the laws of Texas 
for the security of public funds in accordance with the provisions of the Public Funds Collateral 
Act, Chapter 2257, Government Code, as amended, and moneys on deposit in such Funds 
shall be used only for the purposes permitted by this Ordinance. 

SECTION 17: Maintenance of System - Insurance.  While the Certificates remain 
Outstanding, the City covenants and agrees to maintain and operate the System with all 
possible efficiency and to maintain casualty and other insurance on the properties of the System 
and its operations of a kind and in such amounts customarily carried by municipal corporations 
in the State of Texas engaged in a similar type business; and that it will faithfully and punctually 
perform all duties and comply with all license and regulatory requirements imposed by state and 
federal laws with respect to the operation and maintenance of the System. 

SECTION 18:   Rates and Charges.  The City hereby covenants and agrees with the 
Holders that rates and charges for water and sewer services afforded by the System will be 
established and maintained, on the basis of all available information and experience and with 
due allowance for contingencies, that are reasonably expected to provide Gross Revenues each 
Fiscal Year to: 

(a) pay all operating, maintenance, depreciation, replacement, 
betterment and other costs incurred in the maintenance and operation of the 
System; 

(b) pay all indebtedness payable from and secured by a lien on 
and/or pledge of all or any portion of the Net Revenues of the System to the 
extent required, and the funding of all special funds or accounts created and 
established for the payment and security thereof, including, but not limited to, the 
Prior Lien Obligations and the Certificates; and 

(c) To pay other legally incurred indebtedness payable from the 
revenues of the System and/or secured by a lien on the System or the revenues 
thereof. 

SECTION 19: Records and Accounts   Annual Audit.  The City further covenants and 
agrees that so long as any of the Certificates remain Outstanding, it will keep and maintain 



 

23313308.1/08009902 20 

accurate and complete records and accounts pertaining to the operations of the System in 
which complete and correct entries shall be made of all transactions relating thereto.  The 
Holders of the Certificates or any duly authorized agent or agents of such Holders shall have the 
right to inspect the System and all properties comprising the same.  The City further agrees that 
following the close of each Fiscal Year, it will cause an audit of such books and accounts to be 
made by an independent firm of Certified Public Accountants.  Copies of each annual audit shall 
be furnished to the Executive Director of the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas at his office in 
Austin, Texas, and, upon written request, to any Holder of 20% or more in principal amount of 
the Certificates. 

SECTION 20: Remedies in Event of Default.  In addition to all the rights and remedies 
provided by the laws of the State of Texas, the City covenants and agrees particularly that in the 
event the City (a) defaults in the payments to be made to the Certificate Fund, or (b) defaults in 
the observance or performance of any other of the covenants, conditions or obligations set forth 
in this Ordinance, the owner or owners of any of the Certificates shall be entitled to a writ of 
mandamus issued by a court of proper jurisdiction compelling and requiring the governing body 
of the City and other officers of the City to observe and perform any covenant, condition or 
obligation prescribed in this Ordinance. 

No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall 
impair any such right or power, or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or 
acquiescence therein, and every such right and power may be exercised from time to time and 
as often as may be deemed expedient.  The specific remedies herein provided shall be 
cumulative of all other existing remedies and the specification of such remedies shall not be 
deemed to be exclusive. 

SECTION 21: Special Covenants.  The City hereby further covenants as follows: 

(a) It has the lawful power to pledge the Net Revenues of the System 
to the payment of the Certificates in the manner herein contemplated and has 
lawfully exercised such power under the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Texas, including said power existing under Texas Government Code, Sections 
1502.056 and 1502.058 and Texas Local Government Code, Sections 271.041, 
et seq. 

(b) Other than for the payment of the Certificates and the outstanding 
City of Justin, Texas, Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, 
Series 2006, City of Justin, Texas, Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of 
Obligation, Series 2008, City of Justin, Texas, Combination Tax and Revenue 
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2009, City of Justin, Texas, Combination Tax 
and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2009A, and City of Justin, Texas, 
Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014, the Net 
Revenues of the System have not in any manner been pledged to the payment of 
any debt or obligation of the City or of the System. 

(c) As long as any Certificates or any interest thereon remain 
Outstanding, the City will not sell or encumber the System or any substantial part 
thereof; provided, however, this covenant shall not be construed to prohibit the 
sale of such machinery, or other properties or equipment which has become 
obsolete or otherwise unsuited to the efficient operation of the System. 
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(d) To the extent that it legally may, the City further covenants and 
agrees that, while any of the Certificates are Outstanding, no franchise shall be 
granted for the installation or operation of any competing waterworks and 
sanitary sewer systems other than those owned by the City, and the operation of 
any such systems by anyone other than the City is hereby prohibited. 

(e) No free services shall be rendered by the System to any 
customers, including the City and its various departments, and that water and 
sewer services used by the City and its various departments shall be paid for at 
the same rates charged other customers. 

SECTION 22: Issuance of Prior Lien Obligations/Additional Obligations.  The City 
hereby expressly reserves the right to hereafter issue Prior Lien Obligations, without limitation 
as to principal amount but subject to any terms, conditions or restrictions applicable thereto 
under law or otherwise, payable, in whole or in part, from the Net Revenues (without impairment 
of the obligation of contract with the Holders of the Certificates) upon such terms and conditions 
as the City Council may determine.  Additionally, the City reserves the right to issue obligations 
payable, in whole or in part, from the Net Revenues of the System and, to the extent provided, 
secured by a lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues of equal rank and dignity with the lien and 
pledge securing the payment of the Certificates. 

SECTION 23: Application of Prior Lien Obligations Covenants and Agreements.  It is the 
intention of this governing body and accordingly hereby recognized and stipulated that the 
provisions, agreements and covenants contained herein bearing upon the management and 
operations of the System, and the administering and application of revenues derived from the 
operation thereof, shall to the extent possible be harmonized with like provisions, agreements 
and covenants contained in the ordinances authorizing the issuance of the Prior Lien 
Obligations, and to the extent of any irreconcilable conflict between the provisions contained 
herein and in the ordinances authorizing the issuance of the Prior Lien Obligations, the 
provisions, agreements and covenants contained therein shall prevail to the extent of such 
conflict and be applicable to this Ordinance but in all respects subject to the priority of rights and 
benefits, if any, conferred thereby to the holders of the Prior Lien Obligations. 

SECTION 24: Mutilated - Destroyed - Lost and Stolen Certificates.  In case any 
Certificate shall be mutilated, or destroyed, lost or stolen, the Paying Agent/Registrar may 
execute and deliver a replacement Certificate of like form and tenor, and in the same 
denomination and bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding, in exchange and 
substitution for such mutilated Certificate, or in lieu of and in substitution for such destroyed, lost 
or stolen Certificate, only upon the approval of the City and after (i) the filing by the Holder 
thereof with the Paying Agent/Registrar of evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar 
of the destruction, loss or theft of such Certificate, and of the authenticity of the ownership 
thereof and (ii) the furnishing to the Paying Agent/Registrar of indemnification in an amount 
satisfactory to hold the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar harmless.  All expenses and 
charges associated with such indemnity and with the preparation, execution and delivery of a 
replacement Certificate shall be borne by the Holder of the Certificate mutilated, or destroyed, 
lost or stolen. 

Every replacement Certificate issued pursuant to this Section shall be a valid and 
binding obligation, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Ordinance equally and ratably 
with all other Outstanding Certificates; notwithstanding the enforceability of payment by anyone 
of the destroyed, lost, or stolen Certificates.  The provisions of this Section are exclusive and 
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shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights and remedies with respect to the replacement 
and payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Certificates. 

SECTION 25: Satisfaction of Obligation of City.  If the City shall pay or cause to be paid, 
or there shall otherwise be paid to the Holders, the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on 
the Certificates, at the times and in the manner stipulated in this Ordinance, then the pledge of 
taxes levied and the lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues of the System under this 
Ordinance and all covenants, agreements, and other obligations of the City to the Holders shall 
thereupon cease, terminate and be discharged and satisfied. 

Certificates or any principal amount(s) thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within 
the meaning and with the effect expressed above in this Section when (i) money sufficient to 
pay in full such Certificates or the principal amount(s) thereof at maturity or the redemption date 
therefor, together with all interest due thereon, shall have been irrevocably deposited with and 
held in trust by the Paying Agent/Registrar, or an authorized escrow agent, or (ii) Government 
Securities shall have been irrevocably deposited in trust with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or an 
authorized escrow agent, which Government Securities have been certified by an independent 
accounting firm to mature as to principal and interest in such amounts and at such times as will 
insure the availability, without reinvestment, of sufficient money, together with any moneys 
deposited therewith, if any, to pay when due the principal of and interest on such Certificates, or 
the principal amount(s) thereof, on and prior to the Stated Maturity thereof or (if notice of 
redemption has been duly given or waived or if irrevocable arrangements therefor acceptable to 
the Paying Agent/ Registrar have been made) the redemption date thereof.  The City covenants 
that no deposit of moneys or Government Securities will be made under this Section and no use 
made of any such deposit which would cause the Certificates to be treated as "arbitrage bonds" 
within the meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or 
regulations adopted pursuant thereto. 

Any moneys so deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or an authorized escrow 
agent, and all income from Government Securities held in trust by the Paying Agent/Registrar, 
or an authorized escrow agent, pursuant to this Section which is not required for the payment of 
the Certificates, or any principal amount(s) thereof, or interest thereon with respect to which 
such moneys have been so deposited shall be remitted to the City or deposited as directed by 
the City.  Furthermore, any money held by the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Certificates and remaining unclaimed for a period of three (3) 
years after the Stated Maturity, or applicable redemption date, of the Certificates such moneys 
were deposited and are held in trust to pay shall upon the request of the City be remitted to the 
City against a written receipt therefor.  Notwithstanding the above and foregoing, any remittance 
of funds from the Paying Agent/Registrar to the City shall be subject to any applicable 
unclaimed property laws of the State of Texas. 

SECTION 26: Ordinance a Contract - Amendments.  This Ordinance shall constitute a 
contract with the Holders of the Certificates from time to time, be binding on the City, and shall 
not be amended or repealed by the City while any Certificates remain Outstanding except as 
permitted in this Section and in Section 38 hereof.  The City, may, without the consent of or 
notice to any Holders, from time to time and at any time, amend this Ordinance in any manner 
not detrimental to the interests of the Holders of the Certificates, including the curing of any 
ambiguity, inconsistency, or formal defect or omission herein.  In addition, the City may, with the 
written consent of Holders holding a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Certificates 
then Outstanding, amend, add to, or rescind any of the provisions of this Ordinance; provided 
that, without the consent of all Holders of Outstanding Certificates, no such amendment, 
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addition, or rescission shall (1) extend the time or times of payment of the principal of, premium, 
if any, and interest on the Certificates, reduce the principal amount thereof, the redemption price 
therefor, or the rate of interest thereon, or in any other way modify the terms of payment of the 
principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Certificates, (2) give any preference to any 
Certificate over any other Certificate, or (3) reduce the aggregate principal amount of 
Certificates required to be held by Holders for consent to any such amendment, addition, or 
rescission. 

SECTION 27: Covenants to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status. 

(a) Definitions.  When used in this Section, the following terms have the following 
meanings: 

"Closing Date" means the date on which the Certificates are first authenticated and 
delivered to the initial purchaser against payment therefor. 

"Code"  means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended by all legislation, if any, 
effective on or before the Closing Date. 

"Computation Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations. 

"Gross Proceeds" means any proceeds as defined in Section 1.148-1(b) of the 
Regulations, and any replacement proceeds as defined in Section 1.148-1(c) of the 
Regulations, of the Certificates. 

"Investment" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations. 

"Nonpurpose Investment" means any investment property, as defined in section 148(b) 
of the Code, in which Gross Proceeds of the Certificates are invested and which is not acquired 
to carry out the governmental purposes of the Certificates. 

"Rebate Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations. 

"Regulations" means any proposed, temporary, or final Income Tax Regulations issued 
pursuant to Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Code, and 103 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1954, which are applicable to the Certificates.  Any reference to any specific Regulation 
shall also mean, as appropriate, any proposed, temporary or final Income Tax Regulation 
designed to supplement, amend or replace the specific Regulation referenced. 

"Yield" of (1) any Investment has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-5 of the 
Regulations and (2) the Certificates has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-4 of the 
Regulations. 

(b) Not to Cause Interest to Become Taxable.  The City shall not use, permit the use 
of, or omit to use Gross Proceeds or any other amounts (or any property the acquisition, 
construction or improvement of which is to be financed directly or indirectly with Gross 
Proceeds) in a manner which, if made or omitted, respectively, would cause interest on (1) any 
Certificate issued hereunder or (2) any series of bonds or obligations issued or incurred by the 
Board or the Texas Water Resources Finance Authority to become includable in the gross 
income, as defined in section 61 of the Code, of the owner thereof for federal income tax 
purposes.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, unless and until the City receives a 
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written opinion of counsel nationally recognized in the field of municipal bond law to the effect 
that failure to comply with such covenant will not adversely affect the exemption from federal 
income tax of the interest on any Certificate, the City shall comply with each of the specific 
covenants in this Section. 

(c) No Private Use or Private Payments.  Except as permitted by section 141 of the 
Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall at all times prior to the last 
Stated Maturity of Certificates: 

(1) exclusively own, operate and possess all property the acquisition, 
construction or improvement of which is to be financed or refinanced directly or 
indirectly with Gross Proceeds of the Certificates, and not use or permit the use 
of such Gross Proceeds (including all contractual arrangements with terms 
different than those applicable to the general public) or any property acquired, 
constructed or improved with such Gross Proceeds in any activity carried on by 
any person or entity (including the United States or any agency, department and 
instrumentality thereof) other than a state or local government, unless such use 
is solely as a member of the general public; and 

(2) not directly or indirectly impose or accept any charge or other 
payment by any person or entity who is treated as using Gross Proceeds of the 
Certificates or any property the acquisition, construction or improvement of which 
is to be financed or refinanced directly or indirectly with such Gross Proceeds, 
other than taxes of general application within the City or interest earned on 
investments acquired with such Gross Proceeds pending application for their 
intended purposes. 

(d) No Private Loan.  Except to the extent permitted by section 141 of the Code and 
the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not use Gross Proceeds of the 
Certificates to make or finance loans to any person or entity other than a state or local 
government.  For purposes of the foregoing covenant, such Gross Proceeds are considered to 
be "loaned" to a person or entity if: (1) property acquired, constructed or improved with such 
Gross Proceeds is sold or leased to such person or entity in a transaction which creates a debt 
for federal income tax purposes; (2) capacity in or service from such property is committed to 
such person or entity under a take-or-pay, output or similar contract or arrangement; or (3) 
indirect benefits, or burdens and benefits of ownership, of such Gross Proceeds or any property 
acquired, constructed or improved with such Gross Proceeds are otherwise transferred in a 
transaction which is the economic equivalent of a loan. 

(e) Not to Invest at Higher Yield.  Except to the extent permitted by section 148 of 
the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not at any time prior to the 
final Stated Maturity of the Certificates directly or indirectly invest Gross Proceeds in any 
Investment (or use Gross Proceeds to replace money so invested), if as a result of such 
investment the Yield from the Closing Date of all Investments acquired with Gross Proceeds (or 
with money replaced thereby), whether then held or previously disposed of, exceeds the Yield of 
the Certificates. 

(f) Not Federally Guaranteed.  Except to the extent permitted by section 149(b) of 
the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not take or omit to take any 
action which would cause the Certificates to be federally guaranteed within the meaning of 
section 149(b) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder. 
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(g) Information Report.  The City shall timely file the information required by section 
149(e) of the Code with the Secretary of the Treasury on Form 8038-G or such other form and 
in such place as the Secretary may prescribe. 

(h) Rebate.  The City warrants and represents that it satisfies the requirements of 
paragraph (2) and (3) of section 148(f) of the Code with respect to the Certificates without 
making the payments for the United States described in such section.  Specifically, the City 
warrants and represents that: 

(1) the City is a governmental unit with general taxing powers; 

(2) at least 95% of the net proceeds of the Certificates will be used for 
the local governmental activities of the City; and 

(3) the aggregate face amount of all tax exempt obligations issued or 
expected to be issued by the City (and all subordinate entities thereof) in the 
calendar year in which the Certificates are issued  is not reasonably expected to 
exceed $5,000,000. 

(i) Elections.  The City hereby directs and authorizes the Mayor, Mayor Pro Tem, 
City Manager, Finance Director and City Secretary, individually or jointly, to make elections 
permitted or required pursuant to the provisions of the Code or the Regulations, as they deem 
necessary or appropriate in connection with the Certificates, in the Certificate as to Tax 
Exemption or similar or other appropriate certificate, form or document. 

(j) Qualified Tax Exempt Obligations.  In accordance with the provisions of 
paragraph (3) of subsection (b) of Section 265 of the Code, the City hereby designates the 
Certificates to be "qualified tax exempt obligations" in that the Certificates are not "private 
activity bonds" as defined in the Code and the reasonably anticipated amount of "qualified tax 
exempt obligations" to be issued by the City (including all subordinate entities of the City) for the 
calendar year 2017 will not exceed $10,000,000. 

(k) Nonpurpose Investments.  No portion of the proceeds of the Certificates will be 
used, directly or indirectly, to acquire or to replace funds which were used, directly or indirectly, 
to acquire Nonpurpose Investments which produce a yield materially higher than the yield on 
the Board’s bonds that were issued to provide financing for the Certificates (the "Source Series 
Bonds"), other than Nonpurpose Investments acquired with: 

(1) proceeds of the Board’s Source Series Bonds invested for a 
reasonable temporary period of up to three (3) years (reduced by the period of 
investment by the Board) until such proceeds are needed for the facilities to be 
financed; 

(2) amounts invested in a bona fide debt service fund, within the 
meaning of § 1.148-1(b) of the IRS Regulations; and 

(3) amounts deposited in any reasonably required reserve or 
replacement fund to the extent such amounts do not exceed the least of 
maximum annual debt service on the Certificates, 125% of average annual debt 
service on the Certificates, or 10 percent of the stated principal amount (or, in the 
case of a discount, the issue price) of the Certificates. 
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SECTION 28: Confirmation of Sale.  The sale of the Certificates to the Texas Water 
Development Board (the "Purchasers" or the "Board") at the price of par, less a loan origination 
fee of _____%, pursuant to a loan commitment received from the Purchasers, is hereby 
confirmed and determined to be in the best interest of the City.  Delivery of said Certificates 
shall be made to said Purchasers as soon as may be after the adoption of this Ordinance, upon 
payment therefor in accordance with the terms of sale. 

SECTION 29: Rules and Regulations of the Texas Water Development Board.  In 
compliance with the published rules and regulations of the Texas Water Development Board, 
the City agrees and covenants that upon completion of the Series 2017 Project, the proper 
officials of the City promptly shall cause to be prepared and submitted to the Board (i) a final 
accounting of the total costs of the Series 2017 Project and the expenditure of funds therefor 
and (ii) a copy of the construction plans for the Series 2017 Project as built and completed.  In 
addition to other information required by the Board, said final accounting shall identify (i) all 
funds utilized or represented to be available in the City’s application, from whatever source 
derived, and (ii) all Series 2017 Project costs contained and approved in the City’s application to 
the Board or approved in subsequent change orders. 

If the total cost of the Series 2017 Project is less than the amount of Series 2017 Project 
funds available, then the City may use such surplus proceeds of the Certificates remaining after 
completion of the Series 2017 Project for the following purposes as approved by the Executive 
Administrator (1) to redeem Certificates, in inverse annual order of stated maturities, (2) to 
deposit into the Certificate Fund for the payment of capitalized interest or principal on the 
Certificates or (3) to pay eligible project costs as authorized by the Executive Administrator.  .  In 
determining the amount of available funds for the Series 2017 Project, the City agrees to 
account for all amounts deposited to the credit of the Construction Fund, including all loan funds 
extended by the Board, all other funds available for the Series 2017 Project as described in the 
project engineer’s or fiscal representative’s sufficiency of funds statement and all interest 
earned by the City on money in the Construction Fund.  Execution and delivery of an Escrow 
Agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”) by and between the City and BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas 
(the “Escrow Agent”), substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, by the Mayor and 
City Secretary is hereby approved.  The Construction Fund (created pursuant to Section 31 
hereof) shall be held subject to the Escrow Agreement. 

The City further agrees and covenants as follows: 

(i) The Board may exercise all remedies available to it in law or equity, and any 
provision of the Certificates that restricts or limits the Board’s full exercise of these remedies 
shall be of no force and effect. 

(ii) The proceeds of the Certificates shall be held in a designated state depository 
institution or other properly chartered and authorized institution in accordance with the Public 
Funds Investment Act, Government Code, Chapter 2256, and the Public Funds Collateral Act, 
Government Code, Chapter 2257. 

(iii) No Certificate proceeds will be used for sampling, testing, removing or disposing 
of contaminated soils and/or media at the project site and, to the extent permitted by law, to 
indemnify, hold harmless and protect the Board from any and all claims, causes of action or 
damages to the person or property of third parties arising from the sampling, analysis, transport 
and/or removal and disposition of any contaminated sewage sludge, contaminated sediments 
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and/or contaminated media that may be generated by the City, its contractors, consultants, 
agents, officials and employees as a result of activities relating to the Series 2017 Project. 

(iv) The City shall report to the Board the amounts of Series 2017 Project funds, if 
any, that were used to compensate historically underutilized businesses that worked on the 
Series 2017 Project, in accordance with 31 Texas Administration Code, Section 363.1312. 

(v) The City will not use any portion of the proceeds of the Certificates in a manner 
that would cause the Certificates to become “private activity bonds” within the meaning of 
Section 141 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations 
promulgated thereunder. 

(vi) Neither the City nor a related party thereto will acquire any of the Source Series 
Bonds (as defined in Section 23(k) hereof) in an amount related to the amount of the 
Certificates to be acquired from the City by the Board. 

SECTION 30: Proceeds of Sale.  (a)  Immediately following the delivery of the 
Certificates to the initial purchaser, the proceeds of sale (less amounts to pay costs of issuance) 
shall be deposited in an account to be maintained at BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas (the "Escrow 
Agent") and held in escrow pending written authorization to release said moneys.  An "Escrow 
Agreement" by and between the City and the Escrow Agent providing for the deposit, 
safekeeping and administration of such funds pending their release from escrow is attached 
hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference as a part of this Ordinance for all 
purposes, and such Escrow Agreement is hereby approved as to form and content.  The Mayor 
and Mayor Pro Tem and City Secretary of the City are hereby authorized and directed to 
execute such Agreement for and on behalf of the City and as the act and deed of the City 
Council. 

Upon the release of funds from such escrow account maintained pursuant to the 
"Escrow Agreement", the released amount shall be deposited to the credit of the Construction 
Fund.  Pending expenditure for authorized projects and purposes, the amounts deposited to the 
credit of the Construction Fund may be invested in accordance with laws of the State and 
investment policies and guidelines of the City for such type funds, and any investment earnings 
realized may be expended for such authorized projects and purposes or deposited in the 
Certificate Fund as shall be determined by the City Council.  All surplus proceeds of sale of the 
Certificates, including investment earnings, remaining in the Construction Fund after completion 
of all authorized projects or purposes and after satisfying the requirements of Section 25 hereof 
shall be deposited to the credit of the Certificate Fund. 

(b) As provided in the Escrow Agreement, the proceeds of sale of the Certificates 
are held in escrow shall only be invested in investments that are authorized by the Public Funds 
Investment Act, Chapter 2256, TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN., as amended. 

(c) As provided in the Escrow Agreement, the proceeds of sale of the Certificate 
held in escrow pursuant to the Escrow Agreement and any accrued interest in excess of the 
amounts insured by the FDIC and remaining uninvested under the terms of the Escrow 
Agreement shall be continuously secured by a valid pledge of direct obligations of the United 
States of America or other collateral meeting the requirements of the Public Funds Collateral 
Act, Chapter 2257, TEX. GOV’T CODE ANN., as amended. 
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SECTION 31: Control and Custody of Certificates.  The Mayor of the City shall be and is 
hereby authorized to take and have charge of all necessary orders and records pending 
investigation by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, including the printing and supply of 
definitive Certificates, and shall take and have charge and control of the Initial Certificate(s) 
pending the approval thereof by the Attorney General, the registration thereof by the 
Comptroller of Public Accounts and the delivery thereof to the Purchasers. 

SECTION 32: Notices to Holders - Waiver.  Wherever this Ordinance provides for notice 
to Holders of any event, such notice shall be sufficiently given (unless otherwise herein 
expressly provided) if in writing and sent by United States Mail, first class postage prepaid, to 
the address of each Holder as it appears in the Security Register. 

In any case where notice to Holders is given by mail, neither the failure to mail such 
notice to any particular Holders, nor any defect in any notice so mailed, shall affect the 
sufficiency of such notice with respect to all other Certificates.  Where this Ordinance provides 
for notice in any manner, such notice may be waived in writing  by  the  Holder  entitled  to  
receive  such notice, either before or after the event with respect to which such notice is given, 
and such waiver shall be the equivalent of such notice.  Waivers of notice by Holders shall be 
filed with the Paying Agent/Registrar, but such filing shall not be a condition precedent to the 
validity of any action taken in reliance upon such waiver. 

SECTION 33: Cancellation.  All Certificates surrendered for payment, transfer, 
exchange, or replacement, if surrendered to the Paying Agent/Registrar, shall be promptly 
cancelled by it and, if surrendered to the City, shall be delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar 
and, if not already cancelled, shall be promptly cancelled by the Paying Agent/Registrar.  The 
City may at any time deliver to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation any Certificates 
previously certified or registered and delivered which the City may have acquired in any manner 
whatsoever, and all Certificates so delivered shall be promptly cancelled by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar.  All cancelled Certificates held by the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be returned 
to the City. 

SECTION 34: Bond Counsel’s Opinion.  The Purchasers’ obligation to accept delivery of 
the Certificates is subject to being furnished a final opinion of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, 
approving the Certificates as to their validity, said opinion to be dated and delivered as of the 
date of delivery and payment for the Certificates.  An executed counterpart of said opinion shall 
accompany the global certificates deposited with DTC. 

SECTION 35: CUSIP Numbers.  CUSIP numbers may be printed or typed on the 
definitive Certificates.  It is expressly provided, however, that the presence or absence of CUSIP 
numbers on the definitive Certificates shall be of no significance or effect as regards the legality 
thereof and neither the City nor attorneys approving the Certificates as to legality are to be held 
responsible for CUSIP numbers incorrectly printed or typed on the definitive Certificates. 

SECTION 36: Benefits of Ordinance.  Nothing in this Ordinance, expressed or implied, 
is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person other than the City, the Paying 
Agent/Registrar and the Holders, any right, remedy, or claim, legal or equitable, under or by 
reason of this Ordinance or any provision hereof, and this Ordinance and all its provisions is 
intended to be and shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the City, the Paying 
Agent/Registrar and the Holders. 
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SECTION 37: Inconsistent Provisions.  Except as provided in Section 19 hereof, all 
ordinances, orders or resolutions, or parts thereof, which are in conflict or inconsistent with any 
provision of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict, and the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and remain controlling as to the matters contained herein. 

SECTION 38: Governing Law.  This Ordinance shall be construed and enforced in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas and the United States of America. 

SECTION 39: Effect of Headings.  The Section headings herein are for convenience of 
reference only and shall not affect the construction hereof. 

SECTION 40: Construction of Terms.  If appropriate in the context of this Ordinance, 
words of the singular number shall be considered to include the plural, words of the plural 
number shall be considered to include the singular, and words of the masculine, feminine or 
neuter gender shall be considered to include the other genders. 

SECTION 41: Severability.  If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof 
to any circumstance shall be held to be invalid, the remainder of this Ordinance and the 
application thereof to other circumstances shall nevertheless be valid, and the City Council 
hereby declares that this Ordinance would have been enacted without such invalid provision. 

SECTION 42: Continuing Disclosure Undertaking. 

(a) Definitions.  As used in this Section, the following terms have the meanings 
ascribed to such terms below: 

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time. 

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

(b) Annual Reports.  The City shall provide annually to the MSRB (1) within six 
months after the end of each fiscal year, beginning in or after 2017, financial information and 
operating data with respect to the City of the general type described in Exhibit C hereto, and 
(2) if not provided as part of such financial information and operating data, audited financial 
statements of the City, when and if available.  Any financial statements so provided shall be 
prepared in accordance with the accounting principles described in Exhibit C hereto, or such 
other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to 
state law or regulation, and audited, if the City commissions an audit of such statements and the 
audit is completed within the period during which they must be provided. 

If the City changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the date 
of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the City otherwise would be required 
to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section. 

The financial information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may 
be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any 
document available to the public on the MSRB’s Internet Web site or filed with the SEC. 
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(c) Notice of Certain Events.  The City shall provide notice of any of the following 
events with respect to the Certificates to the MSRB in a timely manner and not more than 10 
business days after occurrence of the event: 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 
2. Non-payment related defaults, if material; 
3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 

difficulties; 
4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial 

difficulties; 
5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 
6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 

proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue 
(IRS Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with 
respect to the tax status of the Certificates, or other material events 
affecting the tax status of the Certificates; 

7. Modifications to rights of holders of the Certificates, if material; 
8. Certificate calls, if material, and tender offers; 
9. Defeasances; 
10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 

Certificates, if material; 
11. Rating changes; 
12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the City, which 

shall occur as described below; 
13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the 

City or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets, other than in the 
ordinary course of business, the entry into of a definitive agreement to 
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement 
relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; 
and 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name 
of a trustee, if material. 

For these purposes, any event described in the immediately preceding subsection (c)12 
is considered to occur when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal 
agent, or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy Code or 
in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority 
has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such 
jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in 
possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the 
entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or 
governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or 
business of the City. 

The City shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the City to provide 
financial information or operating data in accordance with subsection (b) of this Section by the 
time required by such Section. 

(d) Filings with the MSRB.  All financial information, operating data, financial 
statements, notices and other documents provided to the MSRB in accordance with this Section 
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shall be provided in an electronic format prescribed by the MSRB and shall be accompanied by 
identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 

(e) Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments.  The City shall be obligated to 
observe and perform the covenants specified in this Section while, but only while, the City 
remains an "obligated person" with respect to the Certificates within the meaning of the Rule, 
except that the City in any event will give the notice required by subsection (c) hereof of any 
Certificate calls and defeasance that cause the City to be no longer such an "obligated person." 

The provisions of this Section are for the sole benefit of the Holders and beneficial 
owners of the Certificates, and nothing in this Section, express or implied, shall give any benefit 
or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person.  The City 
undertakes to provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and 
notices which it has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Section and does not hereby 
undertake to provide any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete 
presentation of the City’s financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update 
any information provided in accordance with this Section or otherwise, except as expressly 
provided herein.  The City does not make any representation or warranty concerning such 
information or its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Certificates at any future date. 

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO THE HOLDER OR 
BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY CERTIFICATE OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR 
TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM ANY BREACH BY THE 
CITY, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT FAULT ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT 
SPECIFIED IN THIS SECTION, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, 
IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE 
LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE. 

No default by the City in observing or performing its obligations under this Section shall 
constitute a breach of or default under this Ordinance for purposes of any other provision of this 
Ordinance. 

Nothing in this Section is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the 
duties of the City under federal and state securities laws. 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the provisions of this Section may be 
amended by the City from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances resulting from a 
change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or 
type of operations of the City, but only if (1) the provisions of this Section, as so amended, 
would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Certificates in the primary offering of 
the Certificates in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or 
interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as well as such changed 
circumstances, and (2) either (a) the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount (or any 
greater amount required by any other provision of this Ordinance that authorizes such an 
amendment) of the Outstanding Certificates consent to such amendment or (b) a Person that is 
unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that such 
amendment will not materially impair the interests of the Holders and beneficial owners of the 
Certificates.  The provisions of this Section may also be amended from time to time or repealed 
by the City if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable provisions of the Rule or a court of final 
jurisdiction determines that such provisions are invalid, but only if and to the extent that 
reservation of the City’s right to do so would not prevent underwriters of the initial public offering 



 

23313308.1/08009902 32 

of the Certificates from lawfully purchasing or selling Certificates in such offering.  If the City so 
amends the provisions of this Section, it shall include with any amended financial information or 
operating data next provided pursuant to subsection (b) hereof an explanation, in narrative form, 
of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial 
information or operating data so provided. 

SECTION 43: Further Procedures.  The Mayor, Mayor Pro Tem, City Manager, Finance 
Director and City Secretary of the City and all other officers, employees and agents of the City, 
and each of them, shall be and they are hereby expressly authorized, empowered and directed 
from time to time and at any time to do and perform all such acts and things and to execute, 
acknowledge and deliver in the name and under the seal of the City and on behalf of the City all 
agreements, instruments, or such other documents, whether mentioned herein or not, as may 
be necessary or desirable in order to carry out the terms and provisions of this Ordinance, the 
initial sale and delivery of the Certificates, and the Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement. In 
addition, prior to the initial delivery of the Certificates, the Mayor, the Mayor Pro Tem, City 
Manager, Finance Director and/or City Secretary of the City, and its Bond Counsel are hereby 
authorized and directed to approve any technical changes or corrections to this Ordinance or to 
any of the instruments authorized and approved by this Ordinance: (i) in order to cure any 
technical ambiguity, formal defect, or omission in the Ordinance or such other document; or (ii) 
as requested by the Attorney General or his representative to obtain the approval of the 
Certificates by the Attorney General and if such officer or counsel determines that such 
ministerial changes are consistent with the intent and purpose of the Ordinance, which 
determination shall be final.  In the event that any officer of the City whose signature shall 
appear on any document shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of such document, 
such signature nevertheless shall be valid and sufficient for all purposes the same as if such 
officer had remained in office until such delivery. 

SECTION 44: Public Meeting.  It is officially found, determined, and declared that the 
meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted was open to the public and public notice of the time, 
place, and subject matter of the public business to be considered at such meeting, including this 
Ordinance, was given, all as required by Texas Government Code, Chapter 551, as amended. 

SECTION 45: Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force 
immediately from and after its adoption on the date hereof in accordance with the provisions of 
Texas Government Code, Section 1201.028, as amended. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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PASSED AND ADOPTED, this _____________, 2017. 

CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS 

 

__________________________________ 
Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 
__________________________________ 
City Secretary 

 

 (City Seal) 
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DESCRIPTION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The following information is referred to in Section 42 of this Ordinance. 

Annual Financial Statements and Operating Data 

The financial information and operating data with respect to the City to be provided 
annually in accordance with such Section are as specified below: 

1. The financial statements of the City for the most recently concluded fiscal year. 

Accounting Principles 

The accounting principles referred to in such Section are the generally accepted 
accounting principles as applicable to governmental units as prescribed by the Government 
Accounting Standards Board. 
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NEW ISSUE BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY

On the date of initial delivery of the Obligations (defined below), Bond Counsel (defined on page 2) will render its opinion
substantially in the form attached in APPENDIX C - FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL.

$2,400,000
CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS

COMBINATION TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2017
(the "Obligations")

Dated: May 1, 2017 Due: August 15

Interest Date:

Record Date:

Interest on the Obligations will be payable on February 15 and August 15 each year,
commencing February 15, 2018 (each an "Interest Payment Date"). The Obligations
will bear interest at the rates per annum set forth in "APPENDIX A - MATURITY
SCHEDULE."

The close of business on the last business day of the calendar month immediately
preceding the applicable Interest Payment Date, commencing February 15, 2018.

Date Interest Accrues: Each Obligation shall bear interest from the Delivery Date thereof or the most recent
Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or provided for at the rate set
forth, such interest payable semiannually on August 15 and February 15 of each year
until the earliest of maturity or prior redemption, commencing on February 15, 2018.

Redemption: The Obligations are subject to redemption prior to maturity as provided herein. See
"THE OBLIGATIONS - Redemption Provisions" herein.

Authorized
Denominations:

The Obligations are being issued as fully registered obligations in denominations of
$5,000, or any integral multiple thereof.

Paying
Agent/Registrar/Registrar:

The paying agent ("Paying Agent/Registrar/Registrar") for the Obligations is BOKF,
NA, Dallas, Texas.

Book-Entry-Only System Upon initial issuance, the ownership of the Obligations will be registered in the
registration books of the Issuer kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar, in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York
("DTC") to which principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest payments on
the Obligations will be made. The purchasers of the Obligations will not receive
physical delivery of security certificates. Principal of, interest, and premium if any,
on the Obligations will be payable at the designated office of the Paying
Agent/Registrar in Dallas, Texas as the same become due and payable.

Issuer: CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS

Official Action: ORDINANCE dated ___________, 2017.

Purpose: See "APPENDIX B - OFFICIAL ACTION."

Security for the
Obligations:

See "APPENDIX B - OFFICIAL ACTION."

Ratings: See "OTHER INFORMATION - Ratings"

Delivery Date: ______________, 2017.

See "APPENDIX A - MATURITY SCHEDULE" for Principal Amounts, Maturities, Interest Rates,
Prices or Yields, and CUSIP Numbers
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Private Placement Memorandum
relating to

$2,400,000

CITY OF JUSTIN, TEXAS
COMBINATION TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE
CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2017

(the "Obligations")

INTRODUCTION

This Private Placement Memorandum, including the cover page and appendices, contains brief descriptions
of the Issuer, provides certain information with respect to the issuance by the Issuer, and summaries of certain
provisions of the "Obligations" pursuant to the Official Action. Except as otherwise set forth herein, capitalized
terms used but not defined in this Private Placement Memorandum have the meanings assigned to them in the
Official Action. See "APPENDIX B – "FORM OF OFFICIAL ACTION" attached hereto.

APPENDIX A contains the maturity schedule for the Obligations. APPENDIX B contains the Official
Action and a description of the purpose for the proceeds of the Obligations. APPENDIX C contains a copy of the
proposed opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the Obligations. The summaries of the documents contained in
the forepart of this Private Placement Memorandum are not complete or definitive, and every statement made in this
Private Placement Memorandum concerning any provision of any document is qualified by reference to such
document in its entirety.

THE OBLIGATIONS

General Description

The Obligations are being issued in the aggregate principal amount set forth in APPENDIX A of this
Private Placement Memorandum and will mature and be subject to redemption prior to maturity as described therein.
The Obligations are being issued as fully registered certificates in denominations of $5,000, or any integral multiple
thereof. The Obligations will be dated May 1, 2017 and will mature on the dates referenced thereon, and will bear
interest at the rates per annum set forth in "APPENDIX A - MATURITY SCHEDULE."

Interest on the Obligations is payable semiannually on each Interest Payment Date, and will be calculated
on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Principal of and the redemption price with
respect to the Obligations will be payable to the Owners upon presentation and surrender at the principal office of
the Paying Agent/Registrar; provided, however, that so long as Cede & Co. (or other DTC nominee) is the registered
owner of the Obligations, all payments will be made as described under "THE OBLIGATIONS - Book-Entry-Only
System" herein.

Purpose

See "APPENDIX B - FORM OF OFFICIAL ACTION."

Authority for Issuance

The Obligations are issued pursuant to Chapter 271, Subchapter C, Texas Local Government Code, and the
Official Action adopted by the Issuer.

Security for the Obligations

See "APPENDIX B - FORM OF OFFICIAL ACTION."



2

Redemption Provisions

The Obligations maturing on and after August 15, 2027, are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the
option of the Issuer, in whole or in part (in inverse order of maturity if less than all) in principal amounts of $5,000
or any integral multiple thereof (and if within a stated maturity by lot by the Paying Agent/Registrar) on February
15, 2027, or on any date thereafter, at par plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

Notice of Redemption; Selection of Obligations to Be Redeemed

See "APPENDIX B - FORM OF OFFICIAL ACTION."

The Paying Agent/Registrar, so long as a Book-Entry-Only System is used for the Obligations, will send
any notice of redemption of the Obligations, notice of proposed amendment to the ordinance authorizing the
issuance of the Obligations or other notices with respect to the Obligations only to DTC. Any failure by DTC to
advise any DTC participant, or of any DTC participant or indirect participant to notify the beneficial owner, shall
not affect the validity of the redemption of the Obligations called for redemption or any other action premised on
any such notice. Redemption of portions of the Obligations by the Issuer will reduce the outstanding principal
amount of such Obligations held by DTC.

Book-Entry-Only System

The information in this caption concerning The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York ("DTC")
and DTC’s book entry system has been obtained from DTC and the Issuer makes no representation or warranty nor
takes any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of such information.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Obligations. The Obligations will be issued as fully-registered
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered certificate will be issued for each maturity
of the Obligations and deposited with DTC. See APPENDIX B - "FORM OF OFFICIAL ACTION."

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking
organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
"clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency"
registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and
provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues,
and money market instrument (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (the "Direct Participants") deposit
with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities
transactions, in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book entry transfers and pledges between
Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct
Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust &
Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearance
Corporation, and Fixed Income Clearance Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is
owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect
Participants"). DTC has Standard & Poor’s a rating of "AA+". The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com
and www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Obligations under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which
will receive a credit for the Obligations on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each
Obligation ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial
Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however,
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.
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Transfers of ownership interests in the Obligations are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of
Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive
Obligations representing their ownership interests in Obligations, except in the event that use of the book-entry
system for the Obligations is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Obligations deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered
in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Obligations with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or
such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Obligations; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose
accounts such Obligations are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Obligations within a maturity are being
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such
maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to
Obligations unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Obligations
are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

All payments on the Obligations will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s
receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Issuer or the Paying Agent/Registrar, on payable date
in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with Obligations held for
the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such
Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent/Registrar, or the District, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. All payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC) are the responsibility of the Issuer or the Paying Agent/Registrar,
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such
payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Obligations at any time by
giving reasonable notice to the Issuer or the Paying Agent/Registrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a
successor depository is not obtained, Obligations are required to be printed and delivered.

The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, Obligations will be printed and delivered to DTC.
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TAX MATTERS

Opinion

Bond Counsel will deliver its opinion on the date of delivery of the Obligations substantially in the form as
attached in "APPENDIX C - FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL."

OTHER INFORMATION

Settlement of Purchase of Obligations

The Issuer intends for the delivery of the Obligations to be facilitated through the book-entry-only system
of DTC. See "THE OBLIGATIONS - Book-Entry-Only System". In connection with the delivery of the
Obligations, a settlement agent may be used to effect the delivery of the Obligations. If such a settlement agent is
used, such settlement agent (i) is being used solely to facilitate book-entry delivery of the Obligations, (ii) will be
acting solely as a "Clearing DTC Participant" and not as an ''underwriter" (each as defined in Section2(a)(l 1) of the
U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (iii) is not acting as a fiduciary or municipal advisor to the Issuer with
regard to the Obligations and, accordingly, has no fiduciary duty to the Issuer under Federal or state securities laws,
and therefore is not required by federal or state law to act in the best interests of the Issuer, (iv) in providing
information to the Issuer, is not providing "advice" with the meaning of Section 15Bof the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, and that the information provided has not been relied on by either the Issuer in the issuance of
the Obligations and (v) has not provided any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice to the Issuer.

Forward Looking Statements

The statements contained in this Private Placement Memorandum, including the cover page, appendices,
and any other information or documents provided by the Issuer, that are not purely historical, are forward-looking
statements, including statements regarding the Issuer’s expectations, hopes, intentions, or strategies regarding the
future. Holders and beneficial owners of the Obligations have placed reliance on forward-looking statements. All
forward looking statements included in this Private Placement Memorandum are based on information available to
the Issuer on the date hereof. It is important to note that the Issuer’s actual results could differ materially from those
in such forward-looking statements.

Ratings

The existing outstanding general obligation debt of the Issuer is rated "A" by Standard & Poor's Ratings
Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business. An explanation of the significance of such rating
may be obtained from the company furnishing the rating. The rating reflects only the respective view of such
organization and the Issuer makes no representation as to the appropriateness of the rating. There is no assurance
that such rating will continue for any given period of time or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn
entirely by such rating company, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such
rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Obligations. No application has been made to any
ratings agency or municipal bond insurance company for qualification of the Obligations for ratings or
municipal bond insurance, respectively.

LITIGATION

General

On the date of delivery of the Obligations to the initial purchasers thereof, the Issuer will execute and
deliver a certificate to the effect that, except as disclosed herein, no litigation of any nature has been filed or is
pending, as of that date, to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Obligations or which would affect the
provisions made for their payment or security or in any manner questioning the validity of the Obligations.
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The Issuer

There is no litigation, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation pending by or before any court or other
governmental authority or entity (or, to the best knowledge of the Issuer, threatened) that adversely affects the
power, authority or obligation of the Issuer to deliver the Obligations, the security for, or the validity of, the
Obligations or the financial condition of the Issuer.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

In the Official Action, the Issuer has made a continuing disclosure agreement for the benefit of the holders
and beneficial owners of the Obligations. The Issuer is required to observe the agreement for so long as it remains
obligated to advance funds to pay the Obligations. Under the agreement, the Issuer will be obligated to provide
certain updated financial information and operating data, and timely notice of certain specified events, to the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board as further described in the Official Action attached hereto as Appendix B.

Compliance with Prior Undertakings

During the last five years, the Issuer has complied in all material respects with its continuing disclosure
agreements entered into in accordance with the Rule.

MISCELLANEOUS

Any statements made in this Private Placement Memorandum involving matters of opinion or of estimates,
whether or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no representation is
made that any of the estimates will be realized. Neither this Private Placement Memorandum nor any statement that
may have been made verbally or in writing is to be construed as a contract with the owners of the Obligations.

The information contained above is neither guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness nor to be construed
as a representation by the Issuer. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without
notice and neither the delivery of this Private Placement Memorandum nor any sale made hereunder is to create,
under any circumstances, any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer from the date
hereof.

The Private Placement Memorandum is submitted in connection with the sale of the Obligations referred to
herein and may not be reproduced or used, as a whole or in part, for any other purpose.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Private Placement Memorandum speaks only as of its date and the information contained herein is
subject to change. Descriptions of the Obligations and the Official Action and any other agreements and documents
contained herein constitute summaries of certain provisions thereof and do not purport to be complete.
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APPENDIX A

MATURITY SCHEDULE CUSIP Prefix (1): 482178

Principal Maturity Interest CUSIP Principal Maturity Interest CUSIP

Amount 15-Aug Rate Yield Suffix (1) Amount 15-Aug Rate Yield Suffix (1)

110,000$ 2018 120,000$ 2028

110,000 2019 120,000 2029

110,000 2020 120,000 2030

110,000 2021 125,000 2031

110,000 2022 125,000 2032

110,000 2023 130,000 2033

115,000 2024 130,000 2034

115,000 2025 135,000 2035

115,000 2026 135,000 2036

115,000 2027 140,000 2037

(1) CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data is provided by CUSIP
Global Services, managed by S&P Capital IQ on behalf of the American Bankers Association. This data is not
intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP services. Neither the
Issuer nor the Financial Advisor take any responsibility for the accuracy of CUSIP numbers.
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APPENDIX B

FORM OF OFFICIAL ACTION



APPENDIX C

FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL



Project Location
   

County: Denton

Primary: Y

   

Can you locate your project to a specific address?: N

   

Project Latitude: 33.088699

Project Longitude: -97.303615



 











Project Schedule
   

a) Requested loan closing date: 01-02-2018

b) Estimated date to submit environmental planning documents.: 06-01-2018

c) Estimated date to submit engineering planning documents.: 04-28-2017

d) Estimated date for completion of design.: 03-02-2026

e) Estimated Construction start date for first contract.: 09-24-2018

f) Estimated Construction end date for last contract: 08-30-2027



Table 5D.104

2016 Region C Water Plan, Page 5D.104

2020 2030 2040 2050 2060 2070

Projected Population 3640* 8,325          12,000          12,000          10,000          12,000          

Demand 695 1212 1733 1729 1728 1727

*Per City's Estimate

 



Cost Estimates
   



Uses

TWDB Funds Series 
1

TWDB Funds Series 
2

TWDB Funds Series 
3

TWDB Funds Series 
4

Construct
ion
Constructi
on $1,910,000 $1,910,000 $1,910,000 $1,910,000
Subtotal 
Construct
ion $1,910,000 $1,910,000 $1,910,000 $1,910,000
Basic 
Engineeri
ng Fees

Planning + $0 $0 $0 $0
Design $152,400 $152,400 $152,400 $152,400
Constructi
on 
Engineerin
g $18,000 $18,000 $18,000 $18,000

Basic 
Engineeri
ng Other 
**_______
________
_ $0 $0
Subtotal 
Basic 
Engineeri
ng Fees $170,400 $170,400 $170,400 $170,400
Special 
Services
Applicatio
n $0 $0 $0 $0
Environme
ntal $0 $0 $0 $0
Water 
Conservati
on Plan $0 $0 $0 $0

I/I 
Studies/Se
wer 
Evaluation $0 $0 $0 $0
Surveying $36,000 $36,000 $36,000 $36,000
Geotechni
cal $5,600 $5,600 $5,600 $5,600
Testing $0 $0 $0 $0
Permits $0 $0 $0 $0

Inspection $0 $0 $0 $0

PROJECT BUDGET - City of Justin Water SWIFT Water System Improvements

 



O&M 
Manual $0 $0 $0 $0
Project 
Managem
ent (by 
engineer) $36,000 $36,000 $36,000 $36,000
Pilot 
Testing $0 $0 $0 $0
Water 
Distributio
n 
Modeling $0 $0 $0 $0
Special 
Services 
Other 
**SUE $22,000 $22,000 $22,000 $22,000
Subtotal 
Special 
Services $99,600 $99,600 $99,600 $99,600
Other
Administra
tion $0 $0 $0 $0

Land/Ease
ments 
Acquisition $0 $0 $0 $0
Water 
Rights 
Purchase 
(If 
Applicable
) $0 $0 $0 $0
Capacity 
Buy-In (If 
Applicable
) $0 $0 $0 $0

Project 
Legal 
Expenses $0 $0 $0 $0
Other ** 
________
________
__ $0 $0 $0 $0
Subtotal 
Other 
Services $0 $0 $0 $0
Fiscal 
Services
Financial 
Advisor $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000
Bond 
Counsel $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $10,000



Issuance 
Cost $40,000 $40,000 $40,000 $40,000
Bond 
Insurance/
Surety $0 $0 $0 $0
Fiscal/Leg
al $0 $0 $0 $0
Capitalize
d Interest $0 $0 $0 $0
Bond 
Reserve 
Fund $0 $0 $0 $0
Loan 
Origination 
Fee $0 $0 $0 $0
Other ** 
________
________
__ $0 $0 $0 $0
Subtotal 
Fiscal 
Services $70,000 $70,000 $70,000 $70,000
Continge
ncy
Contingen
cy $150,000 $150,000 $150,000 $150,000
Subtotal 
Continge
ncy $150,000 $150,000 $150,000 $150,000
TOTAL 
COSTS $2,400,000 $2,400,000 $2,400,000 $2,400,000

Other ** description must be entered

+ For Planning applications under the EDAP Program, please break down Planning costs as follows:

Total Planning Costs

Category A
Category B
Category C
Category D



TWDB Funds Series 
5 Total TWDB Cost Other Funds Total Cost

$1,910,000 $9,550,000 $0 $9,550,000

$1,910,000 $9,550,000 $0 $9,550,000

$0 $0 $0 $0
$152,400 $762,000 $0 $762,000

$18,000 $90,000 $0 $90,000

$0 $0 $0 $0

$170,400 $852,000 $0 $852,000

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0
$36,000 $180,000 $0 $180,000

$5,600 $28,000 $0 $28,000
$0 $0 $0 $0
$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

PROJECT BUDGET - City of Justin Water SWIFT Water System Improvements



$0 $0 $0 $0

$36,000 $180,000 $0 $180,000

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$22,000 $110,000 $0 $110,000

$99,600 $498,000 $0 $498,000

$0 $0 $100,000 $100,000

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $100,000 $100,000

$20,000 $100,000 $0 $100,000

$10,000 $50,000 $0 $50,000



$40,000 $200,000 $0 $200,000

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$70,000 $350,000 $0 $350,000

$150,000 $750,000 $0 $750,000

$150,000 $750,000 $0 $750,000

$2,400,000 $12,000,000 $100,000 $12,100,000

0
0
0
0

0 0 0Total Planning Costs

Category A
Category B
Category C
Category D















WRD-253d 
03/16/2016 

Texas Water Development Board 
Water Project Information 

A. Project Name B. Project No. C. County D. Regional 
Planning 
Group (A-P) 

E. Program(s) F. Loan ☐ : $_________________________ 

      Principal Forgiveness ☐: $_____________ 

    Grant ☐ : $_________________________ 

G. Loan Term: 

H. Water Project Description: (Multiphase project, new or expansion; plant, well, storage, pump station, distribution system, etc) 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attach map of service area affected by Project or other documentation. 

I. Is an Inter Basin Transfer potentially involved? 
 Yes ☐ No ☐ 

J. Is project located in a Groundwater District (If yes, identify District by name)? 
Yes ☐       No ☐ 

K. Service Area Projected 
Population for at least a 20 year 
period: 
(if different from Planning Area, 
discuss in separate attachment) 
 

    Current Population Projected Population 

Year:      20           2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Population:       

Project Design Year: 
(Year for which project will be sized)              20   Design Population: 

(Population served by project on the design year)  

L. Is the proposed project included in a current Regional Water Plan? Yes ☐ No ☐ Don’t Know ☐ 
             (If Yes, please specify on what page in the Regional Water Plan - Regional Water Plan Page Number:      

M. What type of water source is associated directly with the proposed project?  Surface Water ☐ Groundwater ☐ Reuse ☐ 

N. Will the project increase the volume of water supply? Yes ☐ No ☐ 

O. What volume of water is the project anticipated to deliver/ treat per year?    Acre-Feet/Year 

P. Current Water Supply Information 
Surface Water Supply Source / Provider Names Certificate No. Source County Annual Volume and Unit 

Groundwater Source Aquifer Well Field location Source County Annual Volume and Unit 

Q. Proposed Water Supply Associated Directly with the Proposed Project 
Surface Water Supply Source / Provider Names Certificate No. Source County Annual Volume and Unit 

Groundwater Source Aquifer Well Field location: Source County Annual Volume and Unit 

R. Consulting Engineer Name Telephone No. E-mail address 

S. Applicant Contact Name, Title Telephone No. E-mail address 

 

40

6488

The project would consist of replacing excessively leaking pipes within the City’s Old Town area.  
The water lines would be replaced with a minimum 6” water main, which is the City’s current 
minimum pipe size for residential areas and an 8” water main, the minimum pipe size for 
commercial areas. The Old Town portion of Justin is located in the center of town, and the City’s 
primary water source, surface water from Upper Trinity Regional Water District, is delivered directly 
to an elevated tank in Old Town.  As this elevated tank supplies the other parts of the City, it is a 
critical portion of the Justin’s water infrastructure.  This critical part of the system is significantly 
hindered from working properly due to the leaking water mains surrounding the elevated tank.  
Additionally, many times when leaks occur in Old Town the elevated tank has to be valved off in 
order to work on the water mains as sufficient valves are not present either.  This project is 
proposed to replace these mains with modern and appropriate water pipe to help the City of Justin 
conserve water and operate a more efficient water system. 

Upper Trinity Regional Water District

35

SWIFT

■

Justin

20 years

Justin

Pacheco Koch

Denton

4650

Denton

Denton

5D.105

Denton

310,250,000 Gal/Year

12,000,000

Denton

CN600639272

CN600639272

City of Justin

■

C

citymanager@cityofjustin.com

10163

■

Trinity Basin/Other Aquifer

Trinity Basin/Other Aquifer

Cori Reaume

8325 12000

157,680,000 Gal/Year

817-412-7155

310,250,000 Gal/Year

12,000

310,250,000 Gal/Year

CCha@p-kce.com

3640

■

940-648-2541

Upper Trinity Regional Water District

■

 



Property Rights
   

a) Does the applicant currently own all the property rights, groundwater permits and surface water

rights needed for this project?: Y

   

b) If all property rights, groundwater permits, and surface water rights, needed for this project have

not yet been acquired, identify the rights and/or permits that will need to be acquired and provide

the anticipated date by which the applicant expects to have acquired such rights and/or permits.

   
Type of Permit

Water Right
Entity from which
the right must be

acquired

Acquired by lease
or full ownership

Expected
acquisition date

Permit / Water
Right ID No.



 





 







Permits & Easements
   

Are any major permits necessary for completion of the project?: N

   

Has the applicant obtained all necessary land and easements for the project?: Y

   



 







Environmental Determination
   

Has a Categorical Exclusion (CE), Determination of No Effect, Finding of No Significant Impact

(FONSI), Record of Decision (ROD), or any other environmental determination been issued for

this project?: Y



Texas Water
Development Board

P.O. Box 13231, 1700 N. Congress Ave.
Austin, TX 78711-3231 www.twdb.texas.gov
Phone (512) 463-7847, Fax (512) 475-2053

June 15, 2017

TO ALL POTENTIALLY INTERESTED PARTIES:

RE: City ofJustin [SWIFT Project No. 51045) — Water Line Replacement Project

The attached document is being provided for your information. This is not a permit
application. No action is required from your agency. This project does not involve federal
funds.

The attached document is an environmental determination issued by the Texas Water
Development Board [TWDB] for a proposed project to be funded through the TWDB.
Pursuant to the environmental assessment requirements of 31 Texas Administrative Code
§ 363.14, the Executive Administrator of the TWDB has determined that the proposed
action described in the attached document may be exempted from formal environmental
review requirements. A review by TWDB staff included a consideration of potential
environmental impacts and permitting requirements. If there were any concerns about
particular regulations or permits, the appropriate regulatory agency would have been
contacted for clarification, and this would be described in the attached environmental
determination.

Comments regarding this determination may be submitted to the Director of Regional
Water Project Development, Texas Water Development Board, P.O. Box 13231, Austin,
Texas 78711-3231.

Our Mission Board Members
To provide leadership, information, education, and Bech Bruun, Chairman Kathleen Jackson, Board Member Peter Lake, Board Member

support for planning, financial assistance, and
outreach for the conservation and responsible

development of water for Texas Jeff Walker, Executive Administrator

 



Texas Water
Development Board

P.O. Box 13231, 1700 N. Congress Ave.
Austin, TX 78711-3231 www.twdb.texas.gov
Phone (512) 463-7847, Fax (512) 475-2053

June 15, 2017

DETERMINATION OF NO EFFECT

TO ALL POTENTIALLY INTERESTED AGENCIES:

Pursuant to the environmental assessment requirements of 31 Texas Administrative Code
(TAC] § 363.14, the Executive Administrator of the Texas Water Development Board
(TWDB] has determined that the proposed action identified below may be exempted from
formal environmental review requirements:

City ofJustin, Denton County, Texas
Water Line Replacement Project
SWIFT Project No. 51045
Total Anticipated Project Cost: $12,100,000

The City of]ustin (City] is proposing to use funding from a $12,000,000 State Water
Implementation Fund for Texas loan to replace excessively leaking pipes within the City’s
Old Town area. The Old Town portion of the City is located in the center of town, and the
City’s primary water source, surface water from Upper Trinity Regional Water District, is
delivered directly to an elevated tank in Old Town. As this elevated tank supplies the other
parts of the City, it is a critical portion of the City’s water infrastructure. This critical part of
the system is significantly hindered from working properly due to the leaking water mains
surrounding the elevated tank. Additionally, many times when leaks occur in Old Town,
the elevated tank has to be taken out of service in order to work on the water mains, as
sufficient valves are not present either. This project is proposed to replace the existing
mains with modern and appropriate water pipe to help the City conserve water and
operate a more efficient water system.

To address these deficiencies, the City proposes to replace approximately 37,550 linear feet
of 6- and 8-inch water mains composed of asbestos cement, thin wall polyvinyl chloride
(PVC], and cast iron with DR-18 PVC pipe. All construction will occur within the public
rights-of-way (ROW]. The pipeline will be installed by open cut trenching, except at creek
crossings, which will be constructed using horizontal directional drilling or boring
techniques to avoid impacts to creeks. The existing pipeline will be abandoned in place.

Thet-e are no significant or potentially significant sites within or adjacent to the project
footprint, according to Texas Historical Commission’s Archeological Sites Atlas, nor is it
within the protected area surrounding a historic cemetery, structure, or district.

Our Mission Board Members

To provide leadership, information, education, and : Bech Bruun, Chairman Kathleen Jackson, Board Member Peter Lake, Board Member
support for planning, financial assistance, and
outreach for the conservation and responsible

development of water for Texas : Jeff Walker, Executive Administrator



City of Justin, Denton County, Texas
June 15, 2017
Page 2

The proposed project crosses an unnamed tributary of Trail Creek and the associated 100-
year floodplain. To avoid impacts to the creek and the floodplain, boring techniques will be
used. In addition, construction within existing ROW is not expected to impact threatened or
endangered species or habitat.

This decision is allowed because the specified project elements should not cause significant
adverse impacts to the quality of the human environment. Documentation supporting this
determination is on file at the TWDB.

This determination shall be revoked if it is found that:
(1] the project no longer meets the requirements for a categorical exclusion from a full

environmental review as a result of changes in the project;
(2] the project involves extraordinary circumstances as described in 31 TAC § 363.14;

or
(3] the project may violate or has violated federal, state, local, or tribal laws.

The project also must comply with the following conditions:

• Standard emergency condition for the discovery of cultural resources; and
• Standard emergency condition for the discovery of threatened and endangered

species.

Comments regarding this determination may be submitted to the Director of Regional
Water Project Development, Texas Water Development Board, P.O. Box 13231, Austin,
Texas 78711-323 1.

Sincerely,

T. Clay Schultz, Ph.D., Director
Regional Water Project Development

CS/LD dur

Attachment





CE/DNE
   

Is the project potentially eligible for a CE/ Determination of No Effect (DNE) because it involves

only minor rehabilitation or the functional replacement of existing equipment?: Y

Adverse Environmental/Social Impacts
   

Are there potentially adverse environmental or social impacts that may require mitigation or

extensive regulatory agency or public coordination (e.g. known impacts to properties eligible for

listing on the National Register of Historic Places; potentially significant public controversy; need

for an individual permit from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers)?: N

Associated PIF(s)
   

PIF number(s):

   

PIF ID #12199

Associated PIF PDF
   

The following document is for associated PIF #12199

   



   

TABLE OF CONTENTS
   

General Information

Contact Information

Service Area

Project Description

         Document - WaterSystemList

Readiness to Proceed to Construction

Estimated Costs

         Document - AnticipatedCommitments

Submittal

OLA ID 623354
PIF No. 12199
Entity Name: Justin
Project Name: Justin Enhanced Water Loss

Control and Conservation
Program

 



General Information
   

Project Information   

 

Funding Type: SWIFT 

Contact Information
   

County: Denton

   

Service Area
   

Population Served: 4,650

Project Description
   

Project Name: Justin Enhanced Water Loss Control and Conservation Program

   

Where can Project be found in the most recent Regional Water Plan?

Project listed on page: : 5D.104

Capital costs on page: : 5D.123

Entity Contact Information Engineering Firm Contact Information
Name of Entity: Justin Name of New Entity:
Prefix: Ms. Prefix:
First Name: Cori First Name:
Last Name: Reaume Last Name:
Addr 1: 415 N College Avenue Addr 1:
Addr 2: Addr 2:
City: Justin City:
State: TX State:
Zip: 76247-9429 Zip:
Phone: (940) 648-2541 Phone:
Fax: (940) 648-0091 Fax:
Suffix: Suffix:
OrgName: OrgName:
DeptName: DeptName:
Title: Interim City Manager Title:
Email: citymanager@cityofjustin.com Email:

Firm Name:
Make Changes: Y Make Changes: Y
No Entity TxWISE Id No Engineering TxWISE Id



   

Region: C - REGION C

   

Phase(s) Applied For

Planning: Y

Acquisition: Y

Design: Y

Construction: Y

   

Emergency

Applicant/entity's water supply will last less than 180 days.: N

Water Supply need occurs earlier than anticipated in the State Water Plan: N

Applicant has received or applied for Federal emergency funding.: N

None of the above.: Y

   

Agricultural Efficiency Project?: N

   

Estimated average annual residential water bill: $1,950

Annual Median Household Income: $73,000

   

Project will produce water: N

Project will conserve water: Y

Please provide the volume of water anticipated to be produced or conserved by the project per

decade:

   

Project will address water loss: N

   

Project Long Desc: The project would consist of replacing excessively leaking pipes within the

City’s Old Town area. The water lines would be replaced with a minimum 6” water main, which is

the City’s current minimum pipe size for residential areas and an 8” water main, the minimum pipe

size for commercial areas.

 

The Old Town portion of Justin is located in the center of town, and the City’s primary water

source, surface water from Upper Trinity Regional Water District, is delivered directly to an

elevated tank in Old Town. As this elevated tank supplies the other parts of the City, it is a critical

portion of the Justin’s water infrastructure. This critical part of the system is significantly hindered

from working properly due to the leaking water mains surrounding the elevated tank. Additionally,

many times when leaks occur

in Old Town the elevated tank has to be valved off in order to work on the water mains as

sufficient valves are not present either. This project is proposed to replace these mains with

2020 2030 2040 2050 2060 2070
35 0 0 0 0 0



modern and appropriate water pipe to help the City of Justin conserve water and operate a more

efficient water system.

 

We estimate the total cost of these improvements at approximately $12,000,000.00



 

 



Readiness to Proceed to Construction
   

   

Preliminary planning or design work (30% of total project) has been completed or is not required.:

Y

   

Applicant is prepared to begin implementation or construction within 18 months of application

deadline.: Y

   

Applicant has acquired all water rights associated with the proposed project, or none will be

required.: Y



Estimated Costs
   

TWDB Requested Amount

   

Low-Interest Loan Amount: $12000000.00

   

Deferred Loan Amount: 

   

Board Participation Amount: 

   

Local Contribution Amount: $500000.00

   

Other Amount: 

Other Desc: 

   

Total Estimated Project Costs: $12500000.00



 

 



Submittal
   

I, NO SUBMITTED NAME ENTERED, as the designated authorized representative of the Justin,

hereby approve and authorize the submission of this project information form to the Texas Water

Development Board.   I certify that all information contained herein is true and correct to the best

of my knowledge.  I understand the failure to submit a complete project information form by the

stated deadlines may result in the withdrawal of the form without review.

   

Submitted by: NO SUBMITTED NAME ENTERED

Telephone Number: NO SUBMIT PHONE NUMBER ENTERED

Submitted date: NO SUBMIT DATE ENTERED
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